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Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited, the earliest brewery in
China, can trace its root back to 1903 when its predecessor,
Tsingtao Brewery Factory, was established. The Company was
registered on 16 June 1993, and then issued H-Shares in Hong
Kong which were listed on The Stock of Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 15 July 1993. It was the first enterprise in Mainland
China listed on an overseas stock exchange. In July 1993, the
Company issued A-Shares in PRC, which were listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange on 27 August 1993.

The business scope of the Company is the brewery and sales
of beer, and other related business. The Company occupies
leading position in production scale and market share with 53
breweries and 1 malting plant in 18 provinces, cities and regions
all over China. Its product Tsingtao Beer has become one of the
most well-known Chinese brands in the international market
and has been distributed to more than 60 countries and regions
throughout the world.

The Company was the Official Sponsor of Beijing 2008 Olympic
Games.

4 o

\

TR E A R )
ANNUAL REPORT 2008

| 3



— . TR B s v ) A

1.

Prepared in accordance with HKFRS

(Bfr 2 A\ RETIT) (UNIT: RMB'000)
M
Group
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
kiRl Turnover 15,781,382 13,529,892 11,677,160 10,019,857 8,620,687
K B 1T 7 ) Profit before income tax 1,108,089 992,580 627,820 531,662 490,465
Fi At Income tax expense (374,317) (413,812) (179,063) (188,356) (186,391)
AW B R LA Profit attributable to (34,218) (39,857) (890) (36,717) (18,911)
minority interests
TR HEAY 2R Profit attributable to 699,554 538,911 447 867 306,589 285,163
shareholders of the
Company
MEE Total assets 12,532,231 11,545,235 9,577,983 9,575,458 9,820,533
A E=Eiy Total liabilities (6,114,616)  (5,556,900)  (3,878,260)  (4,042,382)  (4,522,072)
AW B R RE 25 Minority interests (335,377) (479,150) (452,294) (576,686) (544,333)
B AR A E B RESE Equity attributable to the 6,082,238 5,509,185 5,247,429 4,956,390 4,754,128
Company’s shareholders
M
Group
2008 2007 2006
1. BREROGT) Earnings per share (RMB) 0.535 0.412 0.342
2. HE R (2 Return on net assets (fully diluted) 11.50% 9.78% 8.53%
3. #ERFEE(T) Net assets employed per share 4.65 4.21 4.01
(RMB)
4. JREARHERS Lo il Shareholders equity ratio 48.53% 47.72% 54.79%
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2. Prepared in accordance with PRC

GAAP

1. 2008 financial information of the Group

(UNIT : RMB'000)

=g b Operating profit 988,873
) 10 A 7 Total Profit 1,108,089
50 J 48 A ) B SR A Y R Net profit attributable to shareholders of the

Company 699,554
S Je B oy BB R A 0 BR IR AR N B A AR M A Net profit attributable to shareholders of the

Company after deduction of extraordinary profit

and loss 597,510
F8 5 Y A 2R Y B4 Y i Net cash flows from operating activities 1,509,486
FE o IR MR AR I H RS - Note: Extraordinary items include:
Feit B R AR A Gains on disposal of non-current assets (11,121)
FEAE 8 25 P BOR A Government subsidies included in the profit and

loss of the period 137,936
RO MERE E A RNEES - EERR Fair value gain and realised losses on derivative

financial assets — net (1,217)
Tk bkt 25 T =2 A i Al SE A S R Other non-operational income and expenses

excluding the above items — net (7,600)
2 W e R 25 B B Minority interests effects (3,015)
AR HR AR A5 1 PSR 5 B Income tax effects on extraordinary gain and

losses (12,939)
Gy Total 102,044
A AR W AR A W T 5 38 5 BT A PR A R BT H B BT B 2. The financial statements of the Group are prepared under

7 1A Bl R R R W A O R A AR
Foh 85 S < o S B v o A 3 o AR B 2 B T R
RGBT

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRS") for
disclosure purposes of its H Shares listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The financial effects of
the differences between the generally accepted accounting
principles in China (“PRC GAAP”) and HKFRS are

summarized as below:

TR E AR AR
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(UNIT: RMB’000)

B 085 % 8 2 W) 0 I
Net Profit attributable
to the Company’s
shareholders

B e B 2 ) 5 2

Net Assets

attributable

to the Company’s
shareholders

U k¥ RVIE WA
Current Last Opening Closing
MH Item period period balance balance
e R A 25 gy st e R Under PRC GAAP 699,554 558,142 5,509,185 6,082,238
T A v B s Y B R Separation and aggregation
S8 KA under HKFRS:
HA% e s B %AW Additional provision for
BV 2 i 1 A B S Y A 1 depreciation charges
AR W& 5t Ry 26 required due to difference
ZRMPTEE X between the accounting for
assets valuation under PRC
GAAP and HKFRS — (18,434) — —
HoAth Others — (797) — —
TR 2 R T M R Under HKFRS 699,554 538,911 5,509,185 6,082,238
3. B S0 € Y A pl Tl 3. Principal financial data and financial indicators
(B 2 N RWEFIL) (UNIT: RMB’000)
2008 2007 2006
(FE ) kg 2
TEEEHER Major accounting information (Restated) After Before
adjustment  adjustment
BREUA Operating income 16,023,442 13,709,220 11,832,850 11,832,850
) 8 4 Total profit 1,108,089 1,004,123 616,247 614,812
0 J A B8 ] SR ) T Net profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders 699,554 558,142 436,958 434,897
i g A B ] IE A B B Net profit attributable to the
AR H Pk AH A5 1 R T Company’s shareholders
after deduction of
extraordinary profit and loss 597,510 426,308 354,115 352,192
B AR B st Basic profit per share 0.5347 0.4266 0.3340 0.3324
i B4 R WA i Diluted profit per share 0.5347 0.4266 0.3340 0.3324
BRI BRI Basic profit per share after
b Y N3 & deduction of extraordinary
profit and loss 0.4567 0.3259 0.2707 0.2692
ST MR A AR R (%) Fully diluted return on net
assets (%) 11.5 10.13 8.36 8.33
TR - 35 ¥ B W2 2 (%) Weighted average return on net
assets (%) 11.85 10.41 8.64 8.60
MBI R IR % 2 m#EH  Fully diluted return on net
A (%) assets after deduction of
extraordinary profit and loss
(%) 9.82 7.74 6.77 6.74
BRI LH PRI AR AR Y Weighted average return on
TR -3 5 A AR R (%) net assets after deduction of
extraordinary profit and loss
(%) 10.12 7.95 7.06 6.97
mESEE EAENIRAR B ES  Net cash flow from operating
activities 1,509,486 1,094,094 1,127,832 1,127,832
RS A Net cash flow from operating
& E g activities per share 1.15 0.84 0.86 0.86
FuNagy Total assets 12,532,231 11,545,235 9,560,722 9,589,433
BB 1 2 ] A R SRR 2% Equity (or shareholders
equity) attributable to the
Company’s shareholders 6,082,238 5,509,185 5,228,197 5,223,722
55 Jogg B 2 ] B SR A B Net assets per share
G E attributable to the
Company’s shareholders 4.65 421 4.00 3.99
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Change in shareholders’ equity in the reporting period

(UNIT: RMB'000)

SR A R M
Equity attributable to the Company’s shareholders
T
S YRR it
JieAk WA B RN iR i Total
Share Capital Surplus  Unappropriated Translation Minority ~ shareholders

HH Items capital reserve reserve profits difference interests equity

g Opening balance 1,308,219 2,864,565 495219 835,546 5,635 479,151 5,988,335

At Increase in the period - 283,939 40,889 699,554 157 40,873 1,065,412

HED Decrease in the period - (122,788) - (328,697) - (184,647) (636,132)

LIPR Closing balance 1,308,219 3,025,716 536,108 1,206,403 5,192 335,311 6,417,615

(1) BEARAR : AR5 AT o HE AR 5 W LA (1) Capital reserve: Increase in the year represents
RERSHR 4y 5 AR S A 3B R WO T A 7 A 8 the equity component of convertible bonds, while
JBe SO 2i 5 B8 DA B RT3 M B 4 o A A Ao decrease in the year represents effects on acquisition
R 5 of minority interests of subsidiaries and fair value

loss on available-for-sale financial assets.

(2) BERAFL ¢ AN I AR AR SR BLAR A (2)  Surplus reserve: Increase in the year represents the
s surplus reserve appropriated in the year;

(3)  ARAFEAN « A MY Ky A4 E B B i (3) Unappropriated profits: Increase in the year
BEA R FRNE > ARG B AR IR AR represents the net profit attributable to the parent
ARERSTEIREA] 5 realised this year. Decrease in the year represents

the appropriation of surplus reserve and distribution
of dividends;

(4)  HMEHRFEITIZERE ¢ AAE B R R 2\ Ab (4) Translation differences: Increase in the year
MR E AR represents the recognition of translation differences

of subsidiaries;

(5)  AUWURRRER ¢ A B 32 22 % A OB R A (5) Minority interests: Increase in the period represents

FUDA B e A N > A3 A 2 WO - 2
A A YU SRR 2 5 B8 DA B 43 L TR o

profit attributable to minority shareholders and
contribution from minority shareholders, while
decrease in the period represents effects on
acquisition of minority interests of subsidiaries and
distribution of dividends.

TR F N R
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E o i A
Mr. JIN Zhi Guo

Dear shareholders,

| hereby present the Business Report and audited Financial
Statements of Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited for the
accounting year ended on 31 December 2008 for your kind
review.

1. Analysis to the Domestic Market

The year of 2008 is a severe year for the Company, when the
great price hike of raw materials, energy, transportation and
labors occurred at the year beginning brought huge pressure on
cost to the breweries; while the negative effects were brought to
the full-year beer consumption needs due to the snow disaster in
South China and the severe May 12th earthquake happened in
the first half year, and the financial crisis in USA in the second
half. As a result, the national total output volume in 2008 only
reached 410.3 million hl with the growth rate of 5.4%, which
was the lowest growth rate in the recent 3 years. The conflict
between the sales and supplies became more and more serious
due to the continuous growth of output capacity in recent years,
therefore, the competition in the market is still severe.

But on an overall basis, we still believe that the impact of the
financial crisis is comparatively less serious to China’s beer
market. As the market with largest sales volume and greatest
growth rate in the world, and with the promotional effect of the
policy of increasing domestic demand to stimulate economic
growth and the progress of integration of the industry, there will
be more developing room for the large breweries with qualified
brands, size and sales networks, thus resulting in a more
concentrative industry.

= E R
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2008 4524 w) # S 1 A0 FH g A A 288 B T IR T T R Y
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6.6% > o rp o Ak MLGY R 240 B T T > W EB 3G 25.4% 5
WSS RE NG BEBHEERAARY
157.814% 7T » [ Fb W= 16.6% 5 BT B I o EAG 2 A A\ R
We 745 5T > I L 34 R 29.80% 5 2 B A 1Y B R &Y 6
WA R > S8 AR R KN SR8 R 0 BT 5% R
B oo T F R IR EE 2008 4R JE AW B B R 0.22
JCCETBE) > o Il S 3 R SRS 5 I L 14 R 2 R S
A AT BLA I AL o BEIRES AR B R
¥ 0.03 7L (& M) » AT RIREB &K B AR 0.2570
(BB -

ol e A L

20074E R A Rl BAGR AT 7 N FR AL AR B M 58 o » T 3
A4S BB J RIS Y~ SR BB A BT #
O~ SEE AL R AT BLRAR » AR EUKF F A B
BORARBRTE » BBOE 5 B o A5 R0h il B AR ) 2L gt
Lo AFEMBYRFETERGNE > BA TN ER
B B R I) S S0 PO O TR O i A i 4 A R
P A7 36 E A o AR BEHE Y RS 0 G R R R SR
W > BEALRISEFE T — R B4 M > SRk T BT
B R PR S o FIIE > AW % 2008 4Fb ¢ B
GBI > BRESRESS » Ml T DA
B BB — RS TG B FERT Y S
R B AN AL R o B BT T S HERE 0 A
E B AR A SR TR B AL B R 5 [14+3 S J(BPRL S
WL Ky S > DALiK ~ BEINT - Wil % 5B A M) B B
O AR SR 94% » LR & 18T 40 B -
EE TN TS 4 B i A SR AR AR o A A A A ) I WS O 3
WARRE T 9% o

Il. Principal Operational Results

In 2008, the Company achieved excellent results by
overwhelming the difficulties and putting into great efforts by
all staff under the leadership of the Board of Directors and the
management. In the year, the Company realized its sales volume
of 53.8 million hl, representing an increase of 6.6% from 2007,
in which that of Tsingtao reached 24 million hl, representing an
increase of 25.4% from the previous year; according to HKFRS,
the sales income reached approximately RMB15,781 million,
representing an increase of 16.6% from the previous year; profit
attributable to shareholders was RMB700 million, representing
an increase of 29.8% from the previous year; which continued
to show a good developing trend in which the growth in net
profit was greater than the increase in sales income, which was
in turn greater than the increase in sales volume. The Board of
Directors proposed a final dividend of RMB0.22 (with tax) per
share for the year of 2008, and proposed a special final dividend
of RMBO0.03 (with tax) per share for the affection and supports
from the shareholders to Tsingtao and subject to the Company’s
sufficient cash-flow, thus the cash dividend was amounted to
RMBO0.25 (with tax) per share.

Restructuring and Olympic Marketing

At the end of 2007, the Company launched its organizational
reform by setting up marketing center and manufacturing center
under the principle of professional management. It obtained great
achievements with continuous improvements in its managing
skills and managing efficiency through establishing and
improving its organizational system and managing procedures.
The Company maintained good quality of its products and
obtained common acknowledgement from the consumers on the
basis of efficient cost control. In the reporting period, the brand
value of Tsingtao went on to be No. 1 in the national brewery
industry. The Company successfully implemented its marketing
strategies and brand strategies, established and improved its
provincial marketing branches, which helped to strengthen its
ability in operating and controlling the market. At the same
time, as the official sponsor of the Beijing 2008 Olympic Games,
it firmly focused on the Olympic marketing by launching a
series of Olympic marketing activities in the theme of “Releasing
the passion”, which helped to further increase the brand impact
and market share of Tsingtao. The Company also achieved a
lot in improving the product mix and optimization through the
successful market promotional activities, in which the sales
volume of “brand 1+3” (that is, the principal brand Tsingtao, and
the secondary brands Shanshui, Hans and Laoshan) has been
accounted for 94% of the total sales volume, representing an
increase of 18 percentage points from the previous year, which
helped to increase 9% of its average income of per ton beer in
addition to the price adjusting towards some products at the year
beginning.

10
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Expansion of Output Capacity

To keep on its sustainable development, and based on its needs
of further improving its national network, the Company put into
the investments in the key areas throughout the country with
the proceeds from the issuance of RMBL.5 billion of bond with
warrants in 2008. Upon receiving the proceeds in April, the
Company immediately put it into the relevant projects, which
pushed the historical expansion of its production size. By the end
of 2008, the new constructions and expansion projects in Jinan,
Chengdu, Xuzhou, and etc. have been completed and put into
production, which helped to increase nearly 10 million hl of the
Company’s output capacity to totally 77 million hl, thus to build
a sound basis for the sustainable development of the Company.

I11. Outlook for 2009

For the year of 2009, we have to face the unprecedented
challenges as the international financial crisis has affected the
China market and has had negative impacts to the real economy.
Therefore, the Company has worked out its working guidelines
as: “To explore the market with full efforts, to decrease the costs
with full efforts, and to prevent from the financial risks with
full efforts”. The Company will further focus on improving its
competitive ability in the value chain and rely on its advantages
in brands, management and technologies to deepen its
organizational reform, improve the sales and marketing system,
and continuously improve its competitive ability and the ability
of sustainable development, thus to promote the continuous
growth of the sales volume and income to step forward the target
of becoming an international great company.

TR R AR R
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We will strengthen our confidence and put into our efforts to
carry out the positive strategy for market growth, and strive
to realize the target that the Company’s full-year growth rate
of sales volumes is 2 percentage points higher than that of the
national beer industry.

1.

Further Improving the Brand Integration

The Company will further implement its brand strategy of
“1+3” and continuously optimize its brand and products
mix to realize that the sales volume of “1+3” may reach
98% of the total sales volume in 2009, and to increase the
sales volume of products with high margin to increase
the income of per ton beer. In addition, the Company
will further integrate its marketing strategies in 2009,
especially focusing on the integration of brand promotion
led by the NBA games as its spreading principles and the
sports marketing, and launch the marketing mode of “VIP
+ micro operations” to improve its operational efficiency
in marketing.

Strengthening the Management in Production for a
Lower Cost

The Company will go on to optimize its manufacturing
techniques in way of technical reconstruction to decrease
its consumption, improve its production efficiency and
lower the costs. It will also encourage the utilization of
advanced managing tools and skills, set up professional

12

HOR WO B A R AR
TSINGTAO BREWERY CO,, LTD.



Ao BRI B AR o BB E R IR %
& o

3. RmEEMEMNBeR

Ry UL TG 4 P AT B > I K PR R b 9 4
J B > A TIBEE I > AL - R by S EE A
B AT RS TATERRE DA > s £
PO > DREE A R B A B A ROR -

AL > AN H 2008476 7 Y FE# F R Dok » FR
JBe A 2 5 b A > A6 A E R A R S 55
T s WG T A R SRR AUE R BT - AEE - W
A0 T S 0 4 B R AR B0 R ! AT ML o
VARG T A4 v R ) S A S B 5 i A% o
R EBEMEBAH - AR 2B TR OB !

TEBL TS J5 L8 A6 T P — A A SR L R A

HFR

Eory |

g NRIAE] « 5
ZEZNAEMANA

teams to further promote the implementation of the key
plants and key promotional projects to lower its costs.
Meanwhile, the Company will further promote the mode
of sizable purchasing and choose the best partner to
minimize its purchasing costs.

3. Improving the Efficiency of Funds Utilization

To realize the centralized fund management to prevent
from the financial risks at maximized level, the Company
may realize its remote centralized fund management in
some provincial branches of Sichuan, Northeast China,
East China, North China, and etc. to accelerate the circular
of funds to keep the best efficiency of the utilization of
the funds flow.

Dear shareholders, since | took the position as Chairman of the
Company in June 2008, we have achieved the great results that
the operational results of the Company kept its growth trend in
the principle that the interests of our shareholders are the most
important and with the joint efforts of the Board members and
the management. Therefore, hereby | would like to express my
sincere gratitude to all Directors and the management. And
furthermore, | would also express my sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, business partners and staff for your great supports
and efforts in the past.

May Tsingtao Brewery more prosperous in the coming year!

Chairman

JIN Zhi Guo

Qingdao, the People’s Republic of China
8 April 2009
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FEiseE
Mr. WANG Fan

— . AR E DL I. Operations of the Company

AT RS s e S B o R A E R The Company is mainly engaged in the brewing and sales of

O] RIS A B SN B S -

beer, while its subsidiaries and associated companies are mainly

engaged in the production, sales and domestic trade of beer.

AR AT A v B R R A A R R B T — o The Company is one of the largest beer producers and

distributors in China.

A 4 ) SRR M B R A 58 4 ol A A T A RS L T Nearly all turnover and profit of the Group are generated from

Ao the production and sales of beer.

1. BEBBIBOA S B D (35 b B 38 vt o 1.  The Company’s Revenues from Principal Business by

HI55%) Geographical Markets (calculated in accordance with
PRC GAAP)

Hpr : ARETIT

Unit: RMB’000
BB XBBA e LAER B
Revenues (%)
b & from Principal Increase/
Region Business Decrease (%)
B Qingdao 7,273,085 271
W (AEHE) Shandong Province (excluding Qingdao) 2,430,077 15.1
b North China 2,930,592 13.6
i) South China 5,391,681 24.9
g e Exports 361,306 4.4
ki Sub-total 18,386,741 22.0
T 2 4% M I 43 R T K B 4 A Less: Intra-group set-offs 2,605,359 68.4
g Total 15,781,382 16.6

ZEE AE R R
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it HEHIHAY)

HRRA NG BT =2 T 8 il B3

WL 44 Al

Name of Subsidiary

2. Operations and Results of Main Controlling
Subsidiaries (calculated in accordance with PRC
GAAP)

Information of Top 3 Subsidiaries with Largest Profit

Hpr 2 AT
Unit: RMB’000

g

B ) JBOR

1 43+ 1
Profit
attributable to
the Company’s
Shareholders

by g
Total Assets

VRN 75 5 VL 375 3 1 8 G A B )
T I WL G 2 A AR A R A
TRINTE B 8] H A PR A A

3. BHMIAEEAREANE PNV

(1) A 1 HG T B R AR BRI A A
T AR BEIR I R 8.7% ©

(2 AAFMBE ALK FHEHEATHMEA RS
KR T7.7% ©

WEHN > AAFKES - BF KR AT
5 A W) JBAR 25 178 5% 2 SRR I M Hiefy Bkt
BE A e T 8 B T AL AT 2

& e P il

ERFERRRE_RZNETZH =+ H R4 KR
BRI S I N R 0.22 78 (0 BE) > Ay Il 3R 3 KM R
B B R B E MR - WRRAFABERER >
YREE AR 1 e B A JBE N R 0.03 08 (& BE) » At IR#E
AT B BN R 0.25 78 (B B) o LBk AR 43 LA 45
PR AR o B4 ML R A A W] R R\
WAEE AL -

Shenzhen Tsingtao Brewery South China
Sales Company Limited

Tsingtao Brewery Xi’an Hans Group
Company Limited

Shenzhen Tsingtao-Asahi Company
Limited

1,009,489 169,899
987,483 115,365
735,955 60,664

3. Main Suppliers and Clients

(1) The total amount of the Company’s purchasing from
its top 5 suppliers is accounted for 8.7% of its full-
year purchasing amount.

(2)  The total amount of the Company’s sales to its top 5
clients is accounted for 7.7% of its sales amount in
aggregate.

In the reporting period, there were no Directors, Supervisors or
their associates or any shareholders whose stake in the Company
exceeding 5% ever possessing any interests in the aforesaid
suppliers and distributors.

I1. Profit Distribution

The Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of RMB0.22
per share (with tax) for the year ended on 31 December 2008,
and proposed a special dividend of RMBO0.03 (with tax) for the
affection and supports to Tsingtao from the shareholders and
subject to the Company’s sufficient cash-flow, thus the cash
dividend to be distributed for each share is RMBO0.25 (with
tax). It will carry forward the remaining distributable profits to
the next year. The aforesaid distribution preliminary scheme is
subject to the approval by the 2008 Annual General Meeting of
the Company.
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I11. Reserves

Details of changes of reserves of the Company and the Group
in the reporting period are disclosed in No. 20 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (prepared in accordance with
HKFRS).

IV. Changes of Share Capital and
Information of Shareholders

1. There were no changes of share capital in the reporting
period.

Based on the public information which is known on
the last actual practical date before the annual report is
published, which is also known by the Directors of the
Company, the number of the Company’s shares held by
the public has been satisfied with the requirements in the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The structure of share
capital by the end of the reporting period is as follows:

HAr R
Unit: share
PR
End of
Reporting
Period
—. ARWEHERAR) I.  RMB-denominated Ordinary Shares (A-share)
1~ 45 R M i By 1. Listed Shares with Sales Restriction 417,394,505
2 ~ JE R R A e 1 2. Listed Shares without Sales Restriction 235,755,495
=, BEAM B RANE R (H ) Il.  Overseas Listed Shares (H-share) 655,069,178
Jie Ay 48 8 Total Shares 1,308,219,178

TR E A R )
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2. WM 2. Shareholders
(1) HAHEBIR AR R A8 % 38,862 F > Hd A (1) As at the end of the reporting period, the total
S 38,474 5 > H BB 388 7 o number of shareholders of the Company was 38,862,
in which 38,474 were holders of A-share, and 388 of
H-share.
BN A TR R AR ik Bk A i In the reporting period, shareholders of the
RN FSN RS 2 R Company did not or did not agree to give up
arrangements of any dividends.
(2)  HE IR AR A TR 4 B B O (2) The shareholdings of top 10 shareholders of the
Company as at the end of the reporting period
Hpr B
Unit: Share
REMARR
e IAEE Shares F g%
Increase/ Held at the Fele L pil ity St
Decrease End of the Holding Guaranteed JBeb 5O
JBes A within Reporting Percentage or Frozen Class of
Shareholder’s Name the Year Period (%) Shares Shareholder
HRMEEMARAA (Hit1) +4,212250 404,092,250 30.89 L3 ARERM AR
Tsingtao Brewery Group Company Limited (Note 1) Nil A-share with
sales restriction
Tl A (RE ) HIRAT (Wit 2) -1,138,000 297,118,072 21 3 HI
HKSCC Nominees Limited (Note 2) Unknown H-share
A-B Jade Hong Kong Holding Co, Ltd. (“A-B Hong Kong™) (Note 3) 0 261,643,836 20 Sl HIk
Unknown H-share
Law Dehenture Trust (Asia) Limited (the “Trustee”) 0 91,575,342 7.0 Sl H%
Unknown H-share
PERERBE A RIEAT 17,574,505 135 3 ARG AR
China Jianyin Investment Company Ltd. Unknown A-share with
sales restriction
2RRRES-Z AR 13,000,000 0.99 KA Al
National Social Security Fund 108 Unknown A-share
REEBR AR BRI S 12,085,524 0.94 A AR
Industrial Trend Investment Mixed Securities Unknown A-share
Investment Fund
2ELREL-FMA 10,000,000 0.76 A Al
National Social Security Fund 102 Unknown A-share
FUER IR B R 9,767,624 0.75 3 AR
Industrial Global Vision Stock Securities Investment Fund Unknown A-share
N1 E i Sipid e o 8,107,570 0.62 A AR
Dacheng Blue Chip Steady Securities Investment Fund Unknown A-share

HOR WO B A R AR
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Shareholder’s Name

(3) The shareholdings of top 10 shareholders of listed
shares without sales restriction of the Company as at
the end of the reporting period

P YA (BN FIRAF]
HKSCC Nominees Limited
A-B Jade Hong Kong Holding Co, Ltd.

Law Debenture Trust (Asia) Limited

R AR S —F N\AG

National Social Security Fund 108
BB RER B HRBRESS
Industrial Trend Investment Mixed Securities Investment Fund
LGRS —FHE

National Social Security Fund 102
Bl 2 TR BT IR SR T R A A 4

Industrial Global Vision Stock Securities Investment Fund

KB B R S B e

Dacheng Blue Chip Steady Securities Investment Fund

AR B AR I B A

Huafu Growth Trend Stock Securities Investment Fund

SR O B 088 P S A S T B R A

Yinhua Core Value Selected Stock Securities Investment Fund

Wk

1.

R TR A 2 ] $ Bk P R T O L A L PR A
(7 W45 ) 8 % > % 1k 20084F 12 A
31H > HUEEER LR S ER
R 5 FBFE T A F A BB 3,260,250
JBe > 3 308 I 4 e B DR 4 ) A A v T 45 G 4
T A H BB 1,012,000 B o A% >
T WA R AR B 4 404,092,250 B
R4l A2y W] OB AT R B4 199 30.89 % o M
LB H Y 4 HBOEB — BT A B
I A S R AR A R Ry 0 RE I FE
Lo A i AR A R DB AT B I 2% (&
TR Ry ) o MR IR > TR
B S [ % % T PR 9 R R R
AR 5] ety o

Notes:

Hr R

Unit Share
oA I LAY 1 By S ik JBe 453 i 20
Listed Shares Held Class of Shares
297,118,072 HIK
H-share
261,643,836 H %
H-share
91,575,342 H B
H-share
13,000,000 Al
A-share
12,285,524 Al
A-share
10,000,000 Al
A-share
9,767,624 Al
A-share
8,107,570 Al
A-share
6,360,000 At
A-share
5,816,161 AR
A-share

According to the notice from Tsingtao Brewery
Group Company Limited (“TB Group”), the
controlling shareholder of the Company, that, by 31
December 2008, TB Group had acquired 3,260,250
shares of A-share in the Company through the
transaction system of Shanghai Stock Exchange,
and acquired 1,012,000 shares of H-share in the
Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary in
Hong Kong. After the share acquisition, TB Group
had held 404,092,250 shares in the Company,
which was accounted for about 30.89% of the total
issued shares of the Company. TB Group may
further acquire shares in the Company through
secondary market in its name or through parties
acting in concert, and the accumulated percentage
of increased shares would not exceed 2% (including
the increased shares) of the total issued shares of
the Company. TB Group promised that, it would
not sell out the shares in the Company during the
implementation of share acquisition scheme and
during the statutory period.

TR F N R
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2. HKSCC Nominees Limited (75 i g 45 45
(RELN) B BRAT) FH I H BT IREZ M
BRI -

3. Anheuser-Busch Companies, Inc. ([A-B2A
A ) InBev SA ([ DWEAFNE
FFF 7 7% 2008 4F 11 19 H 58 B » 21 (B
%5 %[ Anheuser-Busch InBev S.A., ABIJ)
MR A-BAF (BB 2 EME AR A-B
k) IR B A W) 27% e W B A RE o

A-BA F BB AR HEA MK E A
A-B Jade HongKong Holding Co., Ltd.
(TA-BF ¥ 1) ¢ 261,643,836 B H BB 1
Law DebentureTrust (Asia) Limited ([ %23EA 1)
W B IR U Z PR A 91,575,342 B H B
By > S 3 T WA Y T R AT B A R
B U RE o i B R R By AR R £ -
I ~ 2 IR BT R A-B A H
R o BB ERAGAB IR E L
S L A TR BT e 5 R O 4% A 4
BULE 2 BROAE 42 78 IR B W) T A8 B AR 4
FENh °

B LRt » A 2 WA g T - A4 ROR 2
)~ I 4 B A6 3 2 A R <
B CRB R —BATHA -

2. Shares are held by HKSCC Nominees Limited on
behalf of different clients.

3. Anheuser-Busch Companies, Inc. completed its
merger with InBev S.A on 11 November 2008 and
renamed as “Anheuser-Busch InBev S.A”, which
therefore obtained the ownership of 27% interests
in the Company held by A-B Company (through its
wholly-owned subsidiary A-B Hong Kong).

A-B Company holds 261,643,836 shares of H-share
through its wholly-owned subsidiary A-B Jade
Hong Kong Holding Co., Ltd. (“A-B Hong Kong”).
Law Debenture Trust Asia Limited (“the Trustee”)
is arranged under the entrusted voting to hold
91,575,342 shares of H-share, and undertake such
voting right under the written instruction of TB
Group, while the financial interests including the
dividends, profit distribution and payments delivery
of these shares are processed under instructions
of A-B Company. Industrial Trend Investment
Mixed Securities Investment Fund and Industrial
Global Vision Stock Securities Investment Fund
are the products operated by Aegon-Industrial Fund
Management Co., Ltd.,

Save as disclosed above, the Company is unaware
if there are any other associations among these top
10 shareholders of listed shares or they are of the
parties acting in concert.
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H B 32 BB R

20084512 H 31 H » B Rt AL > A2
AW EFEARMBEEMAARNES - B
F o AT BON B S B AT 0 A DA A
+ > AEA T e B A BRI B B 2R
SRVR AT o T % S 2R BR A AR IRCGE % X
BB (B Es713) (GBI K
) 1) 58 336 1% i H 77 1) 8% 5 1 T oK 8%

*:

#f

Name

HEWEEZE
SASACQ

ABAH
A-B Company

JPMorgan
Chase & Co.

Marathon Asset
Management

iads

Nature

R

Long Position

iyl

Long Position

LS

Long Position

iyl

Long Position

iyl

Long Position

iv:)

Long Position

kA
e e it 25
Interest in a
lending pool

wa

Short Position

iy )

Long Position

Jseb i
Class of Shares

Al
A-Share

Hk
H-Share

HI
H-Share

H
H Share

Al
A-Share

Hi
H-Share

H
H-Share

H%
H-Share

Hik
H-Share

@

$50 5B
Capacity

byl o

Corporate

5 307 Btk
Section 317 Agreement

S A
Interest of controlled
corporation

ML / Rt AN
Corporate/Beneficiary
of a trust

5 307 B ik
Section 317 Agreement

SHeh AL /
EREAA/
R /RN
Interest of controlled
corporations/ Beneficial
Owner/Investment
Manager/ Custodian

£ N

Beneficial Owner

fE A

Investment Manager

Substantial Shareholders of H-shares

Save as disclosed below, the Directors of the
Company are not aware of any persons other than
a Director or Supervisor or chief executive of the
Company or his/her respective associate(s) who,
as at 31 December 2008, had an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which was recorded in the register to be
kept under Section 336 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (the
"SFO"):

Beft /MW W2BCHE HARHERZ

BBHEE  BARZAESR Bl
Number of Asa Asa
shares/ percentage of percentage
iz underlying the entire of all
Note shares  issued capital H Shares
1 399,820,000 30.56% A
Ak N/A
A-Shares
1,2 353,219,178 27.00% 53.92%
H i
H-Shares
3 1,012,000 0.08% 0.15%
HMi
H-Shares
1,2 353,219,178 27.00% 53.92%
H%
H-Shares
1 399,820,000 30.56% TR
AR} N/A
A-Shares
4 59,014,637 451% 9.01%
Hi
H-Shares
28,410,317 2.17% 4.34%
H %
H-Shares
902,150 0.02% 0.14%
Hit
H-Shares
32,755,000 2.50% 5.00%
HIk
H-Shares

TR E AR AR
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3. BESGaRIBLHE

TS 2 B A-B /A ) Y 20024E 10 A 21
H 35T 0 7k o ol (R g ) > MG
e K I B A5 ) ) IE T AR 317 MR T R W B o e
W EEEATT T > 45 317 HR9E F A AT AT 197 3k
W8 —J5 » ¥y 78 8 % B A AT o Jo At — 5 78
i 1 ok Z S HEE WA AT A B 25 o MRS
BTG Z  A-B A F) K 5 4R A R
22 7] Y 2007 4E 4 A 19 H % 57 #9<BA R 2002
4E10 H 21 H T 2 Ak ik 2 A R 5 1
) HENEE B AR ERIE T ZH
R R BB M 2E T AF — B4
A BRAF B - HFETTHEEZRGM L
7 A B SBAR TR 2007 45 4 F 4 H B WP 5 &
L 4 AT PR ) o AT I B Y
il AR 2007452 6 H ~ 3 27 HAN
47 11 HAEEB N KRBT Z A% -

B A5 %5 A-B A W) 52 RE £ 19 353,219,178
BEHB RS RIB R 2 GG ARRE -
F H91,575,342 B H I 4432 56 3 Y b )
fiL B TR UZFEA ©

B BERTETHRHEREZAEREMN
1,012,000 B H B & 725 i & ks Wil 4
WA A% K E 2 RlHong Kong
Xinhaisheng Investment Limited F 4 ©

JPMorgan Chase & Co. i A=A HEZE M
JBeA R 43 BB 3 22 5K vh B P S A RIS o

Aw] FEBRPIER R EE T FE 2
BIEBR G RERHAERAR(HFBLZS
BT 1) 88 3 (www.hkex.com.hk) A BT 3 22 H
5 IR -

Ao T2 T TR ) ek v I kA S S A R S
REIBLAE > BA AR W b 0 Se R bl i) BLA M
FCEEEHT Ay > AR > A4 ) AR LI
T B S R IR AR P L2

Notes:

@

@

®

@

®)

An undertaking agreement ("Undertaking Agreement")
between SASACQ and A-B Company dated 21 October
2002 constitutes an agreement under section 317 of the
SFO. For the purposes of the duty of disclosure, in the
case of an agreement to which section 317 applies, each
party to the agreement is deemed to be interested in any
shares comprised in the relevant share capital in which
any other party to the agreement is interested apart from
the agreement. According to the Novation Agreement in
respect of an Undertaking Agreement dated 21 October
2002 signed between SASACQ, A-B Company and the
Tsingtao Brewery Group Company Limited on 19 April
2007, all rights and obligations of SASACQ under the
Undertaking Agreement have been novated to its wholly-
owned subsidiary, the Tsingtao Brewery Group Company
Limited. All of the aforesaid A-shares held by SASACQ
were also transferred to the Tsingtao Brewery Group
Company Limited on 4 April 2007. For the details of the
transfer of shares, please refer to the announcements
published in the PRC and Hong Kong on 6 February, 27
March and 11 April 2007.

The 353,219,178 H-shares which were deemed to be
interested by A-B Company were held by its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. Of which, 91,575,342 H-shares were allotted
to a voting trustee pursuant to the Voting Trust Agreement.

The 1,012,000 H-shares which were deemed to be
interested by SASACQ were held by Xinhaisheng
Investment Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tsingtao
Brewery Group Company Limited.

The Shares in which JPMorgan Chase & Co. was deemed
to be interested were held through various intermediate
holding companies.

For the latest disclosure of interests filings for the
Company's substantial shareholders, please refer to the
"Disclosure of Interests' section on the website of Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited ("HKEX") (www.
hkex.com.hk).

Pre-emptive Right

There are no provisions concerning pre-emptive rights
in the Company’s Articles of Association or any of laws
in China, therefore, the Company must firstly offer new
shares on pro-rate basis to its existing shareholders.
However, the Company has to abide by the rules
concerning pre-emptive right in the Listing Rules.
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h o #EHE - EF - mREEAEBME V.

Directors, Supervisors, Senior

R Management and Staff
W ERARESEBA BRI 1. The Shareholding of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management
B R
Unit: Share
BRI
Shares Held
bk s at the End JBe 4y FE 251
Name Position of the Period Class of Share
BRI BATHE S - R 1,840 Al
SUN Ming Bo Executive Director, President A-share
BIEs PATHE S 5,894 A
LIU Ying Di Executive Director A-share
Bk AR O AR 3,476 AR
FAN Wei Vice President & President of Manufacturing A-share
AL EENELE Al R 7,100 Al
HUANG Zu Jiang Supervisor as Staff Representative of the 5th Board A-share
of Supervisors
REEEE HRIWE 1,179 AR
ZHANG Xue Ju Board Secretary A-share
1R W TE: 2,358 AR
CAO Xiang Dong Supervisor as Staff Representative A-share
T AT I 92 Al
DONG Jian Jun Chief Brewer A-share

BEZZZNFET A= —HIE BEEAR
FEEAh - RAT M ES - BFE M m AR AR
JHE A AR 2 ) R A W 3k T R 8 Sl 2 9 4
BU)EE XV 6 B i AR WG 2 T ) 4 By ~ R B B
AEOHE R A T T AR 2 M AT o T % S R A IR
AR MR R 25 B B 491 ) 58 352 MR T i A7 1Y
% AL I T R S 1 s AR L v R R ) - P iR
(T B AT N e AT 8 25 28 B Ay R e s D) (T (R
HESp ) 1) TRA A T e AR S T o

As at 31 December 2008, save as disclosed above, none
of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management of
the Company have any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporations (as defined in Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)),
which was recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”)
included in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

TR F N R
ANNUAL REPORT 2008

23



Ay ) ) PACHR MR Sy J ) DA B A 8 vl T #RC 4 ) E
o B R BN BT R A W Ry B L A
) 1 A B DA 8 B AT R SR AR B AT e R
AL o A B O 1 B A 3 g e B A A A
Al > AP S I T R R ST R B A R > 3
A R S B ) e AT 2 < B A 5 7 L S A TR
PRS2 ) AR o

2. P BOU - RPN EUAR N R O

O A B A R AR B A R B ROK 7
A0 1 B R R A R O R
5 o I i 200 DA % 2 ) G AR SR AR IR L e A S
T > 2 i) T A BN L S T i 9 O 1 A
BEFH TR > SN B A G B &
BT AR R A AR SR AR RN T AR AT Y AR
HEAT SRS LB T -

The Company has adopted the Model Code and the
Administration Regulations of the Company’s Shares held
by Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management of the
Company and its Changes formulated by the Company as
its codes of conduct and standards in respect of securities
transactions by the Directors. Specific enquiries were
made with all Directors who had confirmed that they had
complied with the Model Code and its codes of conduct
and standards regarding Director’s securities transactions
at all applicable time during the reporting period.

Annual Remuneration of Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management

The remuneration of the Directors and Supervisors of the
Company is determined in accordance with the annual
remuneration schemes of members of Board of Directors
and Board of Supervisors considered and approved by
the Company’s General Meeting, Service Contract of
Director, Service Contract of Supervisor, and subject to
the operational results of the Company. The remuneration
of senior management is determined in accordance with
the operator’s remuneration scheme approved by the Board
of Directors, and implemented after the performance
appraisal conducted by the Corporate Governance and
Remuneration Committee under the Board of Directors
according to the Company’s operational results and the
work duty taken by each of them.

Hpr 2 ARWET T
Unit: RMB’000

9519 P 4 2 i Ly
T8k 190 48 791 (BL i)

Total Remuneration

44 BB Withdrawn from the Company

Name Position in the Reporting Period (Pre-tax)

Eo HHR 1,138.1

JIN Zhi Guo Chairman of Board of Directors

B! R3S & C 5 il 420.4

WANG Fan Vice Chairman & Secretary to the Party

Stephen J. BURROWS RHFEER - T ES 30
Vice Chairman, Non-executive Director

BRI AT - JEK 793.7

SUN Ming Bo Executive Director, President

LB WATHEF 565.1

LIU Ying Di Executive Director

BEHR PATHE S - AR 575.1

SUN Yu Guo Executive Director, Vice President

Mark F.SCHUMM FEATHE R 30

Non-executive Director

HOR WO B A R AR
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Unit: RMB’000

519 P 2 v B
Thi 190 48 781 (BL By )

Total Remuneration

4 kB Withdrawn from the Company
Name Position in the Reporting Period (Pre-tax)
(hRES LR 80
FU Yang Independent Director

2 LA 80
LI Yan Independent Director

Laee| LA e A 80
POON Chiu Kwok Independent Director

A WL E 80
WANG Shu Wen Independent Director

FLH 5 L S e 80
DU Chang Gong Chairman of Board of Supervisors

1% 5h T 111
TENG An Gong Supervisor as Staff Representative

1 R 222.3
CAO Xiang Dong Supervisor as Staff Representative

B W T B 75.4
XUE Chao Shan Supervisor as Staff Representative

TR e & w3 30
Frances ZHENG Supervisor as Shareholders Representative

Bl AR B 40
LIU Qing Yuan External Supervisor

S 1l AR B 40
ZHONG Ming Shan External Supervisor

e 8 i) A e 4 0 AR R 982
YAN Xu Vice President & President of Marketing Center

B fst A8 B B T O AR 655.3
FAN Wei Vice President, President of Manufacturing Center

ER A8 629.1
JIANG Hong Vice President

IRE L fellf ey 232.1
ZHANG An Wen Vice President

T AL IR 274.7
DONG Jian Jun Chief Brewer

THF B3k 0 W AR R 274.7
YU Jia Ping Vice-President of Manufacturing Center

RN B O W AR 572.4
YANG Hua Jiang Vice President of Marketing Center

RELEE HRYRH 385.1
ZHANG Xue Ju Secretary to the Board of Directors

e S BHEERFERR 604.2
LI Gui Rong Chairman of the 5th Board of Directors

R SR T B 80
SUN Jia Yao Chairman of the 5th Board of Supervisors

TR E AR AR
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e : ARETFT
Unit: RMB’000

519 P 2 v B

Thi 190 48 781 (BL By )

Total Remuneration

b4 BB Withdrawn from the Company
Name Position in the Reporting Period (Pre-tax)
F 4 Al IR g 80
CHU Zheng Gang Independent Director of the 5th Board of Directors
AL SF T B I T 89.9
HUANG Zu Jiang Supervisor as Staff Representative of the 5th Board of

Supervisors
38 3 CENEL R AN 63.3
REN Zeng Gui Supervisor as Staff Representative of the 5th Board of

Supervisors
s ST JE A Ah A 113.6
YUAN Lu Secretary to the 5th Board of Directors
W SC 4 JEAE S 6 R A 77.8
LU Wen Jin Former Vice President of Marketing Division
a3t 9,585.3
Total
HTAHB 3. Staff

BERELR  AAFT(BFETETAT)ERE
T.3k51 35,763 A > BRI T 254,321 N - H T

ERRMT

SRR U

Professional Class

As of the end of the reporting period, the Company
(including its subsidiaries) totally had 35,763 of staff,

and 4,321 of retired staff. The composition of staff is as

follows:

A¥

Number of Persons

THREIAE
ip7 YN =
TR
i YN =
HERBEANE

ABIBERT > REH T AEMER » HHEX
A7 B BUAE T 72 B B Y A% PR B - A B
PREE - JEfRBR - THERORBR A A AR B 55 45 AL
TORBE MR B S BB B o IR > g or
TR A A AR A A B TSR A S I R A ) o
BT = AE R > B THROAOKF G Bl
R RER AR -

Administrative personnel

Financial Personnel

Technical and Engineering Personnel
Sales Personnel

Production and Services Personnel

5,814
605
1,653
10,529
17,162

The Company cares about its staff and secure their legal
rights. It provides the working staff with social insurances
including pension, basic medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, work-related injury insurance, and maternity
insurance, and pays fees for these insurances with full
amount. Meanwhile, the Company sets up an remuneration

incentive mechanism subject to the staff’s position value
and personal development to have its staff share the
operational results, which makes the remuneration of its
staff may obtain continuous growth with its development.

26

HOR WO B A R AR
TSINGTAO BREWERY CO,, LTD.



ARIEME THEEN > MRBE SIS RN
I CROLE R AT RS B B TR T —
&y L35 HENTE > MBAFTFERE
B PR BB - A~ TR IIENE o B
WA LEAFHRIE A BEFAEHKFE > 25
BT EERAE > DR A B M BE K
B o 2008 4% Rt EHti 3% 152,652 FF » 2
BRI\ B0 18,090 AKX -

ON . T N B O A Z RE A

Wi SO 38 A > A O v R o A A ) R 7 4
DA i I [ 22 BRAE ) 24k > DABOAR A W) 2 3 = e JE o vl
I A 2 ] S (8 I ey s 5 5 1T M 2 o

. SRRSO

1. AHEA 20084 @M AT R S B E A E S
15T AN RWE > CRFHMEM 115650 » MR
35MEIC o MARMH ML ELSFRRAFISHEE
SR ERATERIRS -

2. JRWEEH RO

(1) H S (FRM) 5200 B2 BT E 4 A 20
BT TH w3 A B R b OF H 1 A 24,000 #
JC > BRI 24,000 # 5T » O -

(2 HEMIECEM)ARA R EEE0E T
T w7 A A 5 JE H BE4% A 36,000 # G 0 B
B 36,000 0 > CUREE

B) HEUVWAE=FMWARMEFEIETI
ngL g A 3k M JE H BRI 22,000 #8500 0 BB
A 22,000 #0 » T -

VI.

The Company takes seriously about its staff’s education
and trainings by strengthening its establishment of
education and training system. It has set up Tsingtao
Brewery Administration Institute as a platform for its
staff’s study, sharing and practice. It carries out the
practical, applicable and effective training programs with
pertinence based on the Company’s needs. The contents of
training includes: promoting the comprehensive managing
level of management team, improving staff’s professional
skills for their own position, and the continuing education
of professional technicians. In 2008, the number of
training hours reached 152,652 hours, and the persons who
attended the trainings reached 18,090 person-time.

Directors’ and Supervisors’ Right of
Purchasing Shares

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries participated in any arrangements in any time of
the year which enabled its Directors and Supervisors to obtain
interests from purchasing shares or bonds of the Company or
that of any other organizations.

VII.

1.

Use of Proceeds

The Company collected RMBL.5 billion from the issuance
of bond with warrants in 2008, in which RMBL1.15 billion
had been used, and the remaining RMBO0.35 billion was
deposited in the savings account of the bank appointed by
the Company for its offering proceeds.

Utilization of the committed projects

(1) The proposed new construction of brewing base of
annual output volume of 2 million hl in Tsingtao
Brewery (Xuzhou) Pengcheng Company Limited had
been put into production. It was expected to invest
in RMB240 million, and the actual investment was
RMB240 million.

(2) The proposed new construction of brewing base of
annual output volume of 3 million hl in Tsingtao
Brewery (Jinan) Company Limited had been put into
production. It was expected to invest in RMB360
million, and the actual investment was RMB360
million.

(3) The proposed new construction of brewing base of
annual output volume of 3 million hl in Tsingtao
Brewery No. 3 Company Limited had been put into
production. It was expected to invest in RMB220
million, and the actual investment was RMB220
million.
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(4)  The proposed new construction of brewing base of
annual output volume of 2 million hl in Tsingtao
Brewery (Rizhao) Company Limited was still under
construction. It was expected to invest in RMB280
million, and the actual investment was RMB280
million.

(5) The proposed new construction of brewing base of
annual output volume of 1 million hl in Tsingtao
Brewery (Chengdu) Company Limited had been put
into production. It was expected to invest in RMB50
million, and the actual investment was RMB50
million.

(6) It was planned to invest in RMB350 million for the
proposed expansion for output volume of 1 million
hl in Tsingtao Brewery Malting Company Limited,
but the fund had not been put into as the government
was adjusting its developing plan for the region in
which the Malting Company was located.

VIll. Contracted Rights of Director or
Supervisor and Director Service
Contract

All Directors and Supervisors appointed by the Company have
entered into service contract with the Company, and do not enter
any service contract with the Company that the Company and its
subsidiaries should make compensation to the Directors when it
terminates the contract within 1 year after the contract is signed
by both parts (excluding statutory compensation). Besides that,
neither Directors nor Supervisors obtained material interests
from any contracts entered into with the Company and its
subsidiaries within the year.

IX. Confirmation of Independence of
Independent Director

The Company has received annual confirmation letter from each
existing Independent Director on their independence pursuant
to Rule 13.3 of the Listing Rules, and still believes that, the
aforesaid Independent Directors are persons of independence.

X. Buy-back, Sales and Redemption of
Shares

In the reporting period, the Company or any of its subsidiaries
did not purchase, sell or redeem any of its listed securities.

In the reporting period, the Company or any of its subsidiaries
did not issue or provide any options or any other similar rights,
nor exercise any rights of conversion or subscription.
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X1. Principal Subsidiaries and Associated
Companies

The details of the subsidiaries and associated companies of the
Company are set out in the attached “Notes to the Financial
Statements”.

XIl. Fixed Assets

Any changes of fixed assets in the year are set out in the
attached “Notes to the Financial Statements”.

XIll. Bank Loans

The details of bank loans as of 31 December 2008 are set out in
the attached Notes to the Financial Statements.

XIV. Other Issues for Reporting

The summary of the Company’s 2008 Annual Report and
the results announcement were published on 9 April 2009 in
Shanghai Securities News, China Securities Journal, and at
website of Shanghai Stock Exchange (www.sse.com.cn), website
of HKEx (www.hkexnews.com.hk) and website of the Company
(www.tsingtao.com.cn). The Annual Report is prepared both
in Chinese and English, in case of any discrepancies existing
between the Chinese and English context, the Chinese version
shall prevail.

XV. Auditor

In the reporting period and in the past 7 years,
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian Certified Public
Accountants Limited Company and PricewaterhouseCoopers
had being appointed respectively as domestic and international
auditor of the Company, and have audited the attached Financial
Statements.

JIN Zhi Guo
Chairman

Qingdao, the People’s Republic of China
8 April 2009
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FH ThieE
Mr. DU Chang Gong

Dear shareholders,

| hereby present the 2008 Report of the Supervisors of Tsingtao
Brewery Company Limited for your kind review.

In the reporting period, all members of the Board of Supervisors
actively maintained the interests of the Company and its
shareholders by seriously undertaking their responsibilities
as Supervisor through considering the Company’s significant
events at the Supervisory meetings, visiting the relevant
enterprises with the questions concerned by the Supervisors,
sitting in the Board meetings and management meetings, and
abiding by the rules set out in the Company Law, and Articles of
Association.

I. Significant Events Considered

In the reporting period, the Board of Supervisors totally held 8
meetings to mainly consider the following issues:

1. Financial reports: the Company’s 2007 Financial Report;
2008 First Quarter Report; 2008 Interim Report; 2008
Third Quarter Report.

2. Connected transactions: the feasibility scheme for the
connected transaction of the Company’s acquiring 5%
interests in Tsingtao Rizhao held by Tsingtao Brewery
Group Company Limited; the feasibility scheme for the
connected transaction of the Company’s acquiring 10%
interests in Tsingtao Pengcheng held by Tsingtao Brewery
Group Company Limited; the feasibility scheme for
the connected transaction of the Company’s acquiring
minority interests in 22 subsidiaries including Tsingtao
South China Sales held by Tsingtao Brewery Group
Company Limited; the feasibility scheme for the connected
transaction of Tsingtao South China Investing Company
(the Company’s subsidiary) acquiring 21.35% interests in
Tsingtao Zhuhai held by Zhuhai Loyal Sister Company;
the scheme for the connected transaction of the Company’s
acquiring 100% interests respectively in Tsingtao Cultural
Company and Tsingtao Construction Company held by
Tsingtao Brewery Group Company Limited.
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Other issues: 2008 operational budget scheme; case
for providing guarantees for the Company’s controlling
subsidiaries in 2008; case for providing the credit line
of RMB3 billion of entrusted loans for the Company’s
controlling subsidiaries; case of providing guarantees
for US$15 million borrowings by the Company’s wholly-
owned subsidiary Tsingtao Brewery (Hong Kong) Trading
Company; case of writing-off the financial losses in 2007;
the feasibility report for acquiring 39% interests in Yantali
Brewery Asahi Co., Ltd.; the feasibility report for the
expansion of Tsingtao Shenzhen; and the feasibility report
for the expansion of Tsingtao Songjiang.

Independent Comments to the
Concerned Issues

Compliant Operation

It is of the view that, in the reporting period, the Company
operated and made decisions in legal procedures and
compliant manner; its Directors and all members of
senior management were honest and integrity, diligent
and responsible, and were not found to breach any laws,
regulations, articles of association or damage any interests
of the Company and its shareholders.

Review of the Financial Conditions

In the reporting period, the Board of Supervisors, after
reviewing the Company’s quarterly reports, interim
report and annual report, were of the view that the
Company’s financial statements were audited by external
firms as requested, which truly and fairly reflected
its financial conditions and operational results in all
significant aspects, the financial accounting and financial
management were in compliance with the requirements of
the relevant State laws and regulations.

Latest Use of Proceeds

In the reporting period, the Company received RMB1.5
billion of proceeds from the issuance of bond with
warrants, which was mainly put into the construction
of new plants. The Board of Supervisors is of the view
that, the use of the proceeds was compliant without any
problems being found.
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Assets Sales and Purchase

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that, the
acquisitions by the Company in the reporting period
were in line with the Company’s developing strategy;
the process of acquisitions was legal, the price was fair
and reasonable, and no behaviors of insider transaction
or damaging the interests of the Company and its
shareholders were found.

Connected Transactions

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that, the Company
carried out the auditing procedures for the connected
transactions occurred in the reporting period, the pricing
was fair and reasonable, and decreased the connected
transactions in future, which was for the interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

In 2009, the Board of Supervisors would carefully
undertake our duties and responsibilities pursuant to the
concerned laws and regulations, legally undertake our
authorities to maintain the interests of the Company,
its shareholders and staff. | hereby deliver my sincere
respects and thanks to all shareholders and our staff for
their care, support and assistance to our work in the past
year.

Chairman of Board of Supervisors: DU Chang Gong
8 April 2009
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Since the Company was listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited and Shanghai Stock Exchange in 1993,
it has been improving its corporate governance structure and
regulating the operations of the Company in accordance with
domestic and foreign listing rules and regulatory requirements.
The Company’s general meeting, Board of Directors and Board
of Supervisors undertake their duties separately and make
decisions independently, supervise each other and maintain the
balance of power among them. The Board of Directors sets up
3 professional committee, namely Audit & Finance Committee,
Strategy & Investment Committee and Corporate Governance
& Remuneration Committee, which are mainly comprise of
external Directors (including Independent Directors), playing
active role in improving efficiency of decision-making of the
Board of Directors, and promoting the effective operation of
corporate governance of the Company.

In the reporting period, the Company had abided by the
stipulations in Code on Corporate Governance Practice,
Appendix 14 of Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The measures taken by
the Company for corporate governance are as follows:

I. Board of Directors
1. Duties and Assignments

Under the leadership of its Chairman, the Board of
Directors undertakes its management decision-making
power concerning the Company’s development strategies,
management structure, investment and financing, financial
supervision and control, and human resources, and
dedicate to realize the maximization of its shareholders’
value. It has been stated in details in the Articles of
Association of the Company and its appendix Order of
Meeting for the Board of Directors its authorities in the
Company’s development strategies and management, and
that on supervision and inspection over the Company’s
development and operations.
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The division of duties between the Chairman and President
of the Company has been clearly defined and stated in
the Articles of Association and its appendix. Mr. JIN Zhi
Guo position of Chairman while Mr. SUN Ming Bo takes
the position of President. The Chairman is responsible for
deciding the agenda of each board meeting, contacting
other Directors before each meeting for any proposals
to be discussed at the meeting, and considering whether
to include such proposals into the agenda according to
the circumstance. Besides, the Chairman should also
be responsible for leading and determining the overall
development strategies of the Company, and supervising
the implementation of resolutions approved by the Board
of Directors.

The President is responsible for organizing the
implementation of resolutions, yearly budget and
investment scheme, and reporting to the Board of
Directors about the Company’s operations, signing and
implementation of significant contracts; undertakes the
right of use of funds and assets within the scale authorized
by the Board, and signing the contracts on behalf of
the Company. Meanwhile, the Company makes clearly
the specific duties and responsibilities of all members
of senior management, so as to ensure the undertaking
of obligations of integrity and fulfillment of their own
responsibilities.

Composition

It elected members of the 6th Board of Directors at the
AGM held by the Company on 10 June 2008, which
comprised of 11 Directors including Chairman, Vice-
Chairman, Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors
and Independent Directors, whose service term was 3
years from 10 June 2008.

Members of the Board have various professional
background and possess different professional knowledge,
among which 1 Independent Director has the qualification
on accounting or has appropriate strength in accounting
or related financial management required by regulatory
authorities. The profile of the Directors is enclosed in
the section “Profile of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in the Annual Report.
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There are 4 Independent Directors in the Company,
which is accounted for over 1/3 of the total number of the
Directors in the Board of Directors. These Independent
Directors have various professional backgrounds with rich
experience in law, accounting and financial investment.
Such structure is helpful in discussion and analysis
from different aspects at the board meetings, which is
benefit for the Board’s reasonable decision-making. The
Independent Directors has been submitting their annual
performance review to the AGM for consideration and
discussion by shareholders since 2005.

3. Board Meeting

In 2008, the Company totally held 6 site board meetings
and 11 meetings in the form written resolutions, to discuss
the Company’s operational and financial performance,
management structure, investment scheme, including:

—  To consider and approve the annual financial budget,
work report of the Board of Directors;

—  To consider and approve reports of annual, interim
and quarterly results;

— To consider and approve the acquisition scheme
for the target breweries, and capital investment
programs for the relocation and expansion of the
Company’s subsidiaries;

—  To approve to write-off the property losses.

—  To consider and approve to elect Chairman, Vice-
Chairman, and appoint President and other members
of senior management of the Company.

—  To consider and approve the remuneration incentive
scheme for the senior management.

—  To consider and approve the internal control system.

The meeting notices and materials of cases to be discussed are
sent to all Directors in the reasonable time, so as to ensure they
can have fruitful discussion, and make quick and prudential
decisions at the meetings. The details of attendance of board
meetings and relative professional committee meetings are as
follows:
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5 JE ¥ F & (20084FE 6 H 10 H#) The 5th Board of Directors (before 10 June 2008)

A v IR BILEL
I W B FHMERS el Bl
REZHG Corporate WiEER R
WE Strategy & Governance & Audit &
Board of Investment Remuneration Finance
Directors Committee Committee Committee
kB Total meetings held 3 1 1 2
WA Name:
Zfk 4% LI Gui Rong 3 AR NIA AR N/A AR N/IA
A JIN Zhi Guo 3 1 AR N/A AR NIA
UEED5SS Stephen J. BURROWS 1* 0 AR N/A AT N/A
TRk SUN Ming Bo 3 1 AR N/A AR NIA
I LIU Ying Di 2% R N/A AdER NIA AR NIA
HREH SUN Yu Guo 3 1 1 A N/A
B K Mark F. SCHUMM 3 1 1 2
F 4% ) CHU Zhen Gang 2# 1 1 1
+ FU Yang 3 AR NIA 1 2
N LI Yan 3 1 AR N/A 2
it POON Chiu Kwok 3 AR N/A 1 2
EANEESIE (200846 H 10 HR) The 6th Board of Directors (after 10 June 2008)
A v IR LB
i s B YMEE® el B
REZHSY Corporate W% E R
W E Strategy & Governance & Audit &
Board of Investment Remuneration Finance
Directors Committee Committee Committee
kB Times of Meeting 3 1 2 2
WA Name:
4k 1 JIN Zhi Guo 3 AR N/A AR NIA AR N/A
E Wang Fan 3 AR NIA AR NIA AR N/IA
R4 Stephen J. BURROWS 2% 1 AR NIA AR NIA
BB SUN Ming Bo 3 1 A N/A AHEA N/A
s LIU Ying Di 2# AWM N/IA AR NIA AR N/IA
HREH SUN Yu Guo 3 1 AR NIA AR NIA
B K Mark F. SCHUMM 3 1 2 2
% FU Yang 2% AR N/A 2 1
2 LI Yan 3 1 2 5
W& I POON Chiu Kwok 3 A N/A 2 2
ER WANG Shu Wen 3 AR N/A 2 2
#: HARGBEEAHBE > SRARICH WSS ELER #: Not attend for business reason, nor entrust other Directors to
attend and make comments on his/her behalf
*o AR A W » BRI AE S Rk *: Not attend for business reason, but entrust other Directors to

attend and make comments on his/her behalf
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The convening and holding of board meetings are strictly
subject to the rules in the Articles of Association and Order of
Meeting for the Board of Directors. The meetings are hosted by
the Chairman, and are held on time after delivery of meeting
notice. All proposals are discussed fully and completely at the
meetings and voted one by one. The notice of regular meeting
is dispatched 14 days before the meeting. Should any Directors
are unavailable for the meeting due to other business, they could
authorize other Directors in written form to attend and vote on
their behalf, and the Independent Directors could authorize other
Independent Directors to attend and vote on their behalf.

The management team of the Company is responsible for
providing the Board of Directors with all related materials and
information needed for considering the cases, and reporting their
related work at the Board meeting. The Independent Directors
undertake their duties pursuant to the stipulations in the Articles
of Association. They may appoint the independent professional
organizations to serve them when needed in undertaking their
duties or business, and the reasonable expenses occurred will be
borne by the Company.

Il. Directors
1. Information Support and Professional Development

The Company has delivered a set of overall materials
Director’s Manual in which includes business summary,
management structure, responsibility and other legal
requirements to the Director after he/she is appointed, and
will arrange him/her to attend the internal professional
trainings or those held by the supervisory authorities.
Within the year, totally 4 Executive Directors attended
the training programs for Directors organized by the
supervisory authorities, and 1 newly-elected Independent
Director attended the training programs and follow-up
programs organized by Shanghai Stock Exchange for the
profession qualification as Independent Director
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All Directors, especially those Non-executive Directors,
can be aware of the Company’s business development,
competition and supervisory environment, and obtain
other materials that may affect the Company and the
beer industry through providing them with the relative
materials (newsletters for the development in stock
market), work reports, and so on, so as to ensure the
Directors can understand their duties and responsibilities
to help them make correct decisions and provide efficient
supervision, and to ensure them to implement the
procedures of the Board of Directors and appropriately
abide by the proper laws and regulation.

Independence of Director

The Company has appointed sufficient Independent
Directors, and the Board of Directors has received from
all Independent Directors their confirmation letter on
their independence in written form pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

Securities Transactions by Director

The Company applies the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors by Listed Issuers (“Model
Code”) included in the Appendix 10 of Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), and works out
the Company’s Regulations on Holding of Shares
by Directors, Supervisors and Members of Senior
Management of the Company and Its Changes. The
Company confirms that, after having made specific
enquiries to all Directors, they have been in compliance
with the Model Code of the Listing Rules.

Financial Reporting and Responsibilities taken by
Directors on Financial Statements

The Board of Directors makes annual review over the
annual, interim and quarterly reports against sufficient
information provided by the management and approves
to disclose them. The Directors are reliable to organize
relevant departments and staff to prepare financial
statements in each fiscal year, and ensure to apply
appropriate accounting policies, and abide by the PRC
GAAP and HKFRS when preparing financial statements,
so as to truly and fairly report the financial situation and
operational results of the Company.
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I11. Professional Committees under Board

of Directors

The Board of Directors held meeting on 10 June 2008, at
which it approved to establish 3 specific committees under
it based on the adjustments in its members, approved
the new detailed work guideline of each committee,
and expressly stated their duty scope of supervising the
specific business areas in the Company

Audit & Finance Committee (“Audit Committee”)

The duty scope of the Audit Committee is determined
pursuant to the Code on Corporate Governance Practice
included in the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Guidelines
for Corporate Governance of Listed Companies in China
published by China Securities Regulatory Commission.
Its principal duties include: to review the completeness
and effectiveness of the Company’s internal supervisory
system and regulations, to review the Company’s annual,
interim and quarterly financial statements, to appoint the
Company’s external auditor, coordinate their work, and
review the efficiency and quality of their work, to review
and supervise the quality and procedures of the Company’s
financial reporting.

The Audit Committee is comprised of 4 Independent
Directors and 1 Non-executive Director including Ms.
LI Yan, (Chairwoman of the Committee), Non-executive
Director Mr. Mark F. SCHUMM, and Independent
Directors Mr. FU Yang, Mr. POON Chiu Kwok and Ms.
WANG Shu Wen, who are appointed by the Board of
Directors. Ms. LI Yan is of profession qualification as
CCPA with experience and capability in financial and
accounting business.

In 2008, the Audit Committee totally held 4 meetings.
To ensure the independence of reporting, the Committee
Chairperson arranged sole meetings between external
auditors and members of the Audit Committee. The
Committee made proposals to the Board of Directors for
important issues discussed after each of such meetings.
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Main work by the Committee in the year includes:

a. To review the Company’s annual, interim and
quarterly reports, and financial reports;

b. To make proposals to the Board of Directors on
renewed appointment of auditor;

C. To review the effectiveness of internal control
system and regulations of the Company.

Strategy & Investment Committee (“Strategy
Committee”)

Its main duties are: to supervise and review the Company’s
orientation of strategic development, to work out the
Company’s strategic plan, and to make proper adjustment
towards the Company’s strategic and governance structure.

The members of the Strategy Committee include:
Executive Director and President Mr. SUN Ming Bo
(Chairman of the Committee), Vice-Chairman Mr.
Stephen J. BURROWS, Executive Directors Mr. SUN Yu
Guo, Non-executive Director Mr. Mark F. SCHUMM and
Independent Director Ms. LI Yan.

The Strategy Committee held 2 meetings in 2008, at
which carefully considering and providing professional
comments to the Board of Directors for the issues
including the feasibility scheme of acquiring Tsingtao
Songjiang, minority interests in Tsingtao Zhuhai, and
minority interests held by TB Group in 22 subsidiaries,
expansion projects of Shenzhen Tsingtao-Asahi and
Tsingtao Songjiang, and the feasibility report of acquiring
39% interests in Yantai Asahi.

Corporate Governance & Remuneration Committee
(“Remuneration Committee”)

The Company sets up the Remuneration Committee. Its
main duties are: to study and consider the remuneration
policies and incentive system of the Directors and senior
management of the Company, to work out appraisal
standards, to study the schemes to improve the corporate
governance.

HOR WO B A R AR
TSINGTAO BREWERY CO,, LTD.



FHZEE o B W ERAE e (ZEHY
) ~ B~ FRIE R S A K E R S gk
BATH R B A -

3 2% B € 2008 4 B B AT T 3Rk 0 LA ]
R A ESE RN RPN i
THHE M ERGRMAEERA -

. B
BN

A Y 2008 4F 6 A 10 H A 58 L E » #7
—EEE (LN A 200846 H 10 H # 2% ] =4 -
BEGHATAHE > HhafBiNtEE4L - B
THEHE3IL - BUEERNMAGAER » WP A
EREERETES - BRSO EA BN -

B AR B S AT A ) BB PR A
HAE TG EMER A 2L - 20084F 1% » B
I ERAT 8 KBk (A B e R A Y k) - R
KA E AT MR EEMES AN BRI E
WA AR AT > WA T T S
BUG Sl A B R o A5 BH B 2 € i) ARG DLk
B AR S JBE 4 AT B o Tl 1o o

AT e e e A

A ) 2 R b i R 28 B P BA LR R R B
i bl 23 =) AR 4 51D > s B A R 5 B Bk
i g4 368 36 RS ) > B B 5 A P P
TR ERIM — AR GRT)) s URAAE
st 4 ) EL AR R R > T — R B R
HBE > A 4 ) A AR B B TR R A
o MR T A B IEAT -

Members of the Remuneration Committee include:
Independent Directors Mr. FU Yang (Chairman of the
Committee), Ms. LI Yan, Mr. POON Chiu Kwok and Ms.
WANG Shu Wen, and Non-executive Director Mr. Mark F.
SCHUMM.

The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings in 2008,
at which carefully considering and providing professional
comments to the Board of Directors for the issues
including remuneration scheme and newly-appointed
members of the senior management.

Supervisory Mechanism
Board of Supervisors

The 6th Board of Supervisors was successfully set up on
10 June 2008, whose duty term is 3 years since 10 June
2008. It currently has 7 members in which including
4 External Supervisors and 2 Supervisors as Staff
Representative. The profile of current Supervisors is set
out in the Profiles of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management in the Annual Report.

The Board of Supervisors legally takes the authority of
supervision to prevent the legal rights and interests of the
Company and its employees from being offended. The
Board of Supervisors totally held 8 meetings (including
site meetings and resolutions in written form) in 2008,
at which supervising on behalf of shareholders over the
finance, the validity and compliance of the Directors and
senior management on fulfilling their duties, and sat in all
site board meetings and general meetings. The details of
the work of the Board of Supervisors are set out in Report
of the Supervisors in the Annual Report.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The Company worked out a series of internal control
systems pursuant to the Guidelines on Internal Control
for Companies Listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
issued by Shanghai Stock Exchange, Code on Corporate
Governance Practice issued by The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, Internal Accounting Control
Criteria — Basic Criteria (Trial Implementation) issued by
Ministry of Finance and requirements of detailed internal
accounting control criteria, which played corresponding
roles in the production and operations of the Company and
improved its compliant operations.
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The Company has always place importances on the
institutionalization, routinization and standardization. To ensure
to realize its control target, the Company has worked out a
relatively more comprehensive control system and process in
areas of currency funds, sales and incomes, purchasing and
payments, cost and expenses, external investments, guarantees,
fund raising, construction projects, real assets, investments,
taxation, managements to subsidiaries, connected transactions,
HR, and is strictly abide by them. In recent years the Company
gradually established and improved over 200 internal
management systems, about 190 operational process, and all
departments has established corresponding control systems and
management procedures, therefore, the internal management
system has generally coverd all areas in the production and
operations.

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for establishing
and maintaining the internal control system so as to review the
effectiveness of the internal control system and protect the rights
of its shareholders and assets. The Audit Committee under the
Board of Directors regularly receives information regarding the
establishment of the Company’s internal control, and supervises
the further improvements of the internal control system, to
ensure the thorough implementation of its internal control
system.

The Company appointed professional consulting organization
on internal control, and systematically and extensively carried
out the risk acknowledgement and assessment, established base
of risk issues and risk classifying system, worked out the risk
statement, made clear the risk management responsibilities,
which helped to further improve the Company’s internal control
and risk management.

To ensure the effectiveness of operational management and
internal control system, the Company established Internal
Control Dept., which reported directly to the Board of Directors.
It regularly inspects, assesses and improves risks that may exist
among the production, operations and internal control activities,
and gives independent comments and suggestions regularly to
the Audit Committee.

42

HOR WO B A R AR
TSINGTAO BREWERY CO,, LTD.



A g it i B 1Y

AR AR it T MR B 2 B T R 0 AR 0 P I A 3
7 w3 U 7 9 B S A o R A > 3l 3 ) A%
2 5 38 P R G Rl R T (%5 2k b R ) BR
Fe il ok 3 & wh B g A (188 S sk 1) 5l - 3
2 7 HE PR B B I SRR K M T R A 4 ] A 4 0L
FHRE 74 0 20084F B > A2 F] HE 1R 3 2 k4
R il 2 T R 2R % Rk KB € s T S A
HAR B LM 42 AR 693 85T » T
R#E: F (BT A 2R B AOE AR %) T 368 -

Fent 25 B 6 OB 3 K08 R B B8 Sk i ) B
EFY - 2008 4F B # AT TAEM AT DLEAT Tt
AT EEAL o AR T RE MR R LR O e o R
FIREGRESGRE TS ERE R R A
W) [ P9 T AT R SRk R R A I R T
Fill B 3 o SIS H AR 2008 4 B B AT € B R A
KA

B R At ) 25 A B

JB AR

AT — BB I A A B IR Y ik AR o R
FOR WA A B i 3 A R R - OB
REdFRAUIHE - AFRBHRKREGHEFTH
o MERRIESHNM - BORKGHARATH
AR PR, - B PR AR Y B A S R
R~ B AR L B ~ 7 o8 Bt fi (B
HESN) LT > iR (R S
FPRER » IERTE K & YLk o 2 7 W e
BRI AR R AR A o

External Auditor and remuneration

The financial statements included in the 2008 Annual
Report are prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP
and HKFRS respectively, and have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian Certified Public
Accountants Limited Company (“PwC Zhong Tian”) and
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) respectively. PwC
Zhong Tian and PwC have provided auditing services for
7 years in consecution. For the year of 2008, the Company
should pay RMb6.93 million to PricewaterhouseCoopers
Zhong Tian Certified Public Accountants Limited
Company and PricewaterhouseCoopers for their full-year
auditing work, including expenses paid on their behalf (all
expenses for business travels and communication fees) and
business tax.

The Audit Committee has discussed and appraised the
professional qualities and the implementation of 2008
auditing work of PwC Zhong Tian and PwC, and provided
relative comments and suggestions for improvements.
The Committee suggested appoint PwC Zhong Tian
as the Company’s domestic auditor, while PwC as its
international auditor, and will submit it to the 2008 AGM
for shareholders’ final approval.

Shareholders and Other Interest-related
Parties

General Meeting

The Company has been devoting to the legal rights of
all shareholders. The convening and holding of general
meeting are strictly pursuant to the terms in the Articles
of Association and Order of Meeting for the General
Meeting. The Company’s general meeting is convened by
the Board of Directors and hosted by the Chairperson of
the Board. The Executive Directors make reports over
proposals at the general meeting, while the representatives
of shareholders, representatives of Supervisors, witness
lawyers, profession accountant from Hong Kong
(Scrutineer for the vote-taking) jointly inspect and count
the votes to the proposals, and have the chairperson of the
meeting (Chairperson of the Board of Directors) announce
the voting results and form the formal resolutions of the
meeting. The lawyers appointed by the Company witnesses
the meeting and present legal comments.
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The General Meeting is the highest authority of the
Company, which legally undertakes its duties and
determines the significant issues for the Company.
The annual general meeting is the channel of direct
communication between the Board of Directors and the
shareholders of the Company. Therefore, the Company
pays high regards to the general meeting by distributing
the meeting notice 45 days prior to the meeting date, and
the Chairman and other attending Executive Directors
make extensive and intensive communications and
explanations over the issues concerned by the shareholders
at the AGM.

Investor Relations and Communications

The Company pays much attention to the management
work of investor relations, and strives to strengthen the
communications with investors through different channels
and forms, and timely responds to hot issues concerned
by the investors. Meanwhile, the Company devotes to
improve its transparency, helps the investors more clearly
understand the situation and prospects of the Company,
carefully listens to the comments and proposals made by
the investors, and helps the Company to improve corporate
governance and operational management.

In 2008, the Company arranged the site research and
visits paid by the national and international securities
analysts, fund managers and other investing institutions/
individual investors, held site and on-line road-shows,
and participated in the investing forum organized by
national and international securities companies, totaling
over 120 meetings, and made over 200 conference calls
with securities analysts and fund managers (mostly
international ones), which were fruitful.

Other Interest-related Parties

The Company is of the view that, it should insist on
operations with integrity and fulfillment of its social
responsibilities, and establishing a harmonic, win-win
and long-term cooperation with interest-related parties
of the Company to ensure its long-lasting existence. For
years, the Company has been insisting on making full
payment of taxes, operating with integrity, rewarding the
society and actively taking in part of the social welfare
and environmental protection activities while keeping on
steady growth of its operational results.

A good corporate governance is helpful to the healthy
development and in raising the investors’ confidence,
while the effectiveness of the Board of Directors is
important to the good corporate governance. Therefore,
the Board of Directors will be dedicated to the continuous
improvement of efficiency and qualification of decision-
making, so as to promote the steady development and
adding shareholder’s value.
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The lower growth in the market and the
overmuch of output capacity led to more serious
conflicts between the sales and the supplies.

Analysis to the Industry
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With the promotional effect of the policy
1% of increasing domestic demand to stimulate

economic growth and the progress of integration

in the industry, there will be more developing

room for the large breweries with qualified

brands, size and sales networks, thus resulting in
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Analysis to Main Finance (In accordance with PRC GAAP)
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Analysis to Principal Business and Operational Situations of the Company
By A\RETFT
Unit: RMB’000
Rwm W B
Increased/ Increased/
AR H 2008412 3 31H  20074E12 /4 3LH Decreased Decreased
Items under Profit 31 December 2008 31 December 2007 Amount Percentage
= PN Business revenues 16,023,442 13,709,220 2,314,222 16.9%
BERA Business cost 9,509,013 8,001,645 1,507,368 18.8%
fiE RN Sales expenses 2,972,028 2,651,299 320,729 12.1%
EHEH Managing expenses 902,134 667,262 234,872 35.2%
W%E R Financial expenses 45,613 (5,883) 51,496 875.3%
BEWER K Impairment Loss for 179,092 166,721 12,371 7.4%
assets
AREEEHE R Gain/(Loss) on fair 24,564 (19,052) 43,616 228.9%
value of financial
instruments
w’EHEK Investment Losses (27,104) (1,165) (25,939) (2226.5%)
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The business revenues increased 16.9% from the
pervious year, which was mainly due to: firstly, the
price hike for products of some series; secondly, the
optimized product mix and sales structure; thirdly, the
great growth trend of its principal products pushed the
growth of its sales volume.
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Business Cost
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In 2008, the business cost of the Group increased
18.8% from the previous year, which was mainly due
to that: firstly, the price hike of main raw materials
and packing materials which constituted the cost of
beer; secondly, the adjustment of product mix; thirdly,
the expansion of sales scale, which resulted in the rise
of business cost. The structure of production cost is as
follows:
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Expenses in the Period
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2008, the sales expenses increased 12.1% from
the previous year, which was mainly due to the
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increase of sales volume of high-end products
and rise of promotional fees resulting from the
optimization of product mix.
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In 2008, the management expenses increased
35.2% from the previous year, which was
mainly due to that: firstly, the set-offs of around
RMB57.55 million of balanced welfare fees for
the previous years in the same period of last
year as requested by the latest China accounting
policies; secondly, RMB39.81 million of
increased managing fees of the subsidiaries was
included in this Report; thirdly, taxes including
land utilization tax in this reporting period
increased RMB31.09 million.
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In 2008, the financial expenses of the Group
increased 875.3% from the previous year, which
was mainly due to the increase of interest
expenses from the bonds with warrants issued
by the Company.
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Gain/(Loss) on fair value of financial instruments
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In 2008, the earnings from changes of fair value
increased 228.9% from the previous year, which was
mainly due to the settlement of some expired long-
term foreign exchanges transaction agreements and the
change of fair value of the unsettled ones caused by
the fluctuating market price.

BEHK

Investment Losses
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In 2008, the losses from investments increased
2226.5% from the previous year, which was mainly due
to the losses caused by the settlement of some expired
long-term foreign exchanges transaction agreements.
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Interpretation of Composition of Assets/Liabilities
By : AR
Unit: RMB’000
2008 4F 2007 4§ v B0 P
12H31H 12H31H Increased/ Percentage of
BBEREH 31 December 31 December Decreased Increase/
ltems 2008 2007 Amount Decrease
s dica e Currency Funds 2,393,510 1,334,909 1,058,601 79.3%
TR A #E Prepayments 225,456 862,482 (637,026) (73.9%)
e Inventories 2,756,337 2,187,254 569,083 26.0%
e TR Construction in Progress 108,207 225,381 (117,174) (52.0%)
B ROG E Deferred Income Tax Assets 94,930 174,783 (79,853) (45.7%)
HE A2 Fot 2 Taxes Payable 317,676 516,218 (198,542) (38.5%)
S5 00 il 3k Short-term Borrowings 414,907 971,096 (556,189) (57.3%)
Bk Long-term Borrowings 15,868 90,854 (74,986) (82.5%)
M A 25 Bonds Payable 1,137,179 — 1,137,179
BT FEAF 3k Specific Accounts Payable 136,997 61,367 75,630 123.2%
R FE WL 2 Deferred Revenues 57,201 14,908 42,293 283.7%
Ao EEA Retained Earnings 1,206,404 835,546 370,858 44.4%
(1) HWEE (3) #H
Currency funds Inventories
2008 47 5 W G391 R L S B0 48 I 79.3% - R AR 2008 4F- 17 £ 11 K Le 393 41 38 hm 26.006 > 32 %5 PR R 4
e P AR ) A A Y B v R R BT 4 301 9 189 o =2 D AR B B R A T3 IR v T 3L
o MAE SRR R BL - In 2008, the inventories of the Group at the year end
In 2008, the currency funds at the year end increased increased 26.0% from the year beginning, which was
79.3% from the year beginning, which was mainly due mainly due to the increased storage of raw materials
to the net cash-flow from the business activities and and the average high cost of the inventories.
the proceeds from the issuance of bonds with warrants.
(4) eI
(2) BifFRE Construction in Progress
Prepayments

2008 4F TH A s S I R o 1 B0 i 73.9% » BB
RAREARAE FARHE R EERATEDLT o Z R B IAAR
TE PR A > ASR F T AT T OB B RHER K > ACHL
IR BEE M BHE A TR S8 - AR 4R [ O R i U7 X
E:

In 2008, the pre-paid accounts at the year end
decreased 73.9% from the year beginning, which was
mainly due to that, the Group paid in advance in huge
amount for purchasing the raw materials to ensure the
supplying resources and maintain steady purchasing
costs due to the price hike of raw materials at the end
of last year, however, the Group changed its purchasing
methods as the price of raw materials getting steady at
the end of this reporting period.

2008 4F 76 TR IR Lo 1 B0 i 52.0% » E 25 &
I R 3 7 o ) B SO A I AR R R
F 58 WA IF R 2 P 3B -

In 2008, the projects under construction of the
Group at the year end decreased 52.0% from the
year beginning, which were mainly due to that some
technical restructuring projects of its subsidiaries and
the new plants were included under the item of fixed
assets.
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(6)

(7)

YE 2 P 14 B %E

Deferred income tax assets

2008 45 & 4E It 7 0 4 72 01 R BU W1 B0 Ik 4> 45.7% > 1 HE
5 PRI 47 9 P R 2 ) AT 3 B AT B A R AR A
J A5 £ R KRR A2 P 45 I E T 3L o

In 2008, the deferred income tax assets of the Group at
the year end decreased 45.7% from the year beginning,
which was mainly due to the confirmed deferred
income tax liabilities for the issuance of bonds with
warrants set-off the deferred income tax assets.

HE A BE

Taxes payable

2008 4 JfE 22 i 2 391 oK Lb 491 10 9o 38.5% » g A R
AR A O ) R 38 AR S A B AR B IR P 3L -
In 2008, the taxes payable of the Group at the year
end decreased 38.5% from the year beginning, which
was mainly due to the great decrease of balance of the
enterprise income tax applicable to the Company.

BT A

Banking Facilities

2008 45 J8 1 4 K ~ 1= 1A ST R L 8 A 43 T i A
57.3% ~ 82.5% » LZJH K EB G M A A BRI EAE
SR SAT R -

In 2008, the short-term borrowings and long-term
borrowings of the Group at the year end increased
57.3% and 82.5% respectively from the year beginning,
which was mainly due to that the Company repaid the
borrowings with its own funds.

2008 4F I R AR B SRAT Ak 36 s 4. 33 f 0 AR > JE
AR 4.5 00 AR > RIIMERK 17,904 T £ A
RW o BRI P - LAERL N BIHEE 4 2,036 ToC AR
W 12547899 Tou ANRW > BH54£7,969 TIEA
R o

By the end of 2008, the total amount of banking
facilities of the Group was RMB433 million, in which
included RMB415 million of short-term borrowings
and RMB17,904 thousand. Among the long-term
borrowings, those will expire within 1 year are
amounted to RMB2,036 thousand, those will expire
in 1-5 years are amounted to RMB7,899 thousand,
and those will expire in over 5 years are amounted to
RMB7,969 thousand.

2008 4= 31 K A< 55 [ SRAT A8 SR 2 A W R 43 A N R
fii 5 239,800 T-7C A R » W fif 3k 72,588 T E AR
W RICAR K 102,519 T 78 N R W > Ik T fif 3 11,440
TIRANRY > JFA M 6,464 TIE ARY -

By the end of 2008, the borrowings in Renminbi were
amounted to RMB239,800 thousand, borrowings in
Hong Kong Dollars were amounted to RMB72,588

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

thousand, borrowings in US Dollars were amounted
to RMB102,519 thousand, borrowings in Euro were
amounted to RMB11,440 thousand, and borrowings in
Danish Krone were amounted to RMB6,464 thousand.

AR W A A AR I 2 G R RSB A . AR -
W W T 6 T B A KRS A5 ST H B0 R RUCAE R R 4 B A
5.28% ~ 3.89% % 6.12% °

All borrowings of the Group are affected by the
interest fluctuation, and the effective annual interest
rate for the borrowings in Renminbi, Hong Kong
dollars and US dollars as of the settling date is 5.28%,
3.89% and 6.12% respectively.

A A 27
Bonds payable

2008 4F: 1) 2R 18 e 370 B A £ 9% 11.37 (R C A R &2
Ry A E R AR BEAT 4 B 28 5 T A T -

In 2008, the confirmed bonds payable of the Group
occurred at the year end were RMB1,137 million,
which was mainly due to the issuance of bond with
warrants.

HBOEAS K

Specific amounts payable

2008 45 HIH BEAT S AR L I 91484 123.2% > EEFEF
BT T R BRSO WO O BT e
RiAE B

In 2008, the specific amounts payable of the Group
at the year end increased 123.2% from the year
beginning, which was mainly due to the compensations
provided by the local government for the relocation of
the subsidiaries of the Group.

IEHE W 2

Deferred revenues

2008 4 AEFE WL 2 T R LT RI38 In 283.7% > T ZEJH R
5390 o m WE v B A A IR SO Al B 184 e
o

In 2008, the deferred revenues of the Group at the year
end increased 283.7% from the year beginning, which
was mainly due to the increase of subsidies related to
its assets received from the government.

A2y B

Retained Earnings

2008 45 A% 43 T 1) 18 391 R BG 30 B0 44 44.4% > BE)F F
SEAAE g R AP EL -

In 2008, the profits before distribution of the Group at
the year end increased 44.4% from the year beginning,
which was mainly due to that, the revenues of the year
were transferred in under the item.
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(12) B e fetfi st A By B H

Items related to the calculation of fair value

By BT
Unit: RMB0’000
wh AREZR Y
APARE  BRiARE
fri 5% Wy 2% i 5 B
Profits/losses Accumulated — AIsHE MY
W8] 4% due to changes of WAH Wk 4&H
Amount at changes of  fair value to Accrued Amount at
¥ H the period fair value be calculated  devaluation the period
ltem beginning in the period in the equity in the period end
a. UARMEFHRH  a. the financial
HAE T A B8 assets to be
2 F 42 il calculated in
Vg fair value and
its changes to be
calculated in the
profits/losses of
the period (2,280) 2,456 176
b. 7t £ 4l b. On sale financial
B assets 1,455 (1,013) 442
&t Total (825) 2,456 (1,013) 618
(1) BER BRI B
Analysis of Cash Flow
iy ARWTT
Unit: RMB’000
Bwm B
Increased/ Increased/
WH 20084E1-12 H 20074E1-12 H Decreased Decreased
ltem Jan-Dec 2008 Jan-Dec 2007 Amount Percent
BB E A Net amount of cash flow
B4R EEH from business activities 1,509,486 1,094,094 415,392 38.0%
BEEEEAN Net amount of cash flow
ReRaEs from investing activities (853,987) (1,114,610) 260,623 23.4%
EBEWEHEEN Net amount of cash flow
Bl 4 i B A from fund raising
activities 441,990 102,121 339,869 332.8%
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20084 &% & 1% B A AR 0y B4 I A A A bE 39
38.0% > BBJF K ¢ —RECE AT T E MR
WRB BB > SE M MABARS 5 2R
M TR R > WA B O R

In 2008, the net amount of cash flow from business
activities increased 38.0% from the previous year,
which was mainly due to that, firstly, the revenues
from sales was high with the growth of sales of
principal products; secondly, the pre-paid amounts was
decreased due to the decrease of price of raw materials
in the second half year.

20084 4% ¥ 1% Wy & AR 0y B 4 U A A LG MY
23.4% > B PRI R B 0T A AR 43 4 ) B i A
I 3 H A7 e T e T S 3 ) L ) 300 R B S H A
FREL o

In 2008, the net amount of cash flow from investing
activities increased 23.4% from the previous year,
which was mainly due to that the expenses for the
technical restructuring projects and new plants of
some subsidiaries decreased from the pervious year.

20084 35 ¥ 1% Wy & AR Y BL 4 U A A A bG B9
332.8% > 5 BRI B 0 g A B AT 43 k22 B T
EHEE RN -

In 2008, the net amount of cash flow from fund
raising activities increased 332.8% from the previous
year, which was mainly due to the proceeds from the
issuance of bond with warrants.

Fofi 5888 1 DB I

Interpretation to Other Operational Situations

B

Investments

FEIE O B P B 25 R B o
The details are set out in the attached Notes to the
Financial Statements.

EHE AR
Debt/Capital Ratio

AEEH 200848 12 A 31 H WY B B A H %5 15.9% (2007
1231 H : 1.6%) « HMBEEAMFTHITER : B
O R AR/ IR 0040 Ak 48 3+ B0 B 7 8 2 ) It SR
#E) ©

On 31 December 2008 the Group’s debt/capital
ratio was 15.9% (1.6% on 31 December 2007), the
calculation of debt/capital is: total amount of long-term
borrowings/(total amount of long-term borrowings +
shareholders’ equity belonging to the parent company).

®3)

(4)

(%)

(6)

B ERL
Assets Mortgage

20084 12 H 31 H » A4 M ST i 5k 4 Ik 1K 40 45
REFK(CFRZLETZHA=1T—H « SATHH
2,000 # 78 N\ R W & i ¥ E 49 %% 3,700 # 70 A\ R A
AR A DL K 1,040 # 50 N\ R M RHME 25 G0 4 ) o
As at 31 December 2008, all banking facilities of
the Group were borrowings without mortgage (as at
31 December 2007, the RMB20 million of banking
facilities with mortgages of the Group was comprised
of the mortgages of net amount of around RMB37
million of machines and equipments and RMB10.4
million of raw materials).

OB 3% ) o gt
Risk of Flexible Exchange Rate

R A 4R TP o R D R R 2 B
HEE 1T > TR T 5 19 A0 ) 5 i I 2 5 B A A L Y A
BHEAE > 4810 A S 18 0 ) B A — e S o
As the Group currently relies on the imported barley
among the raw materials in its production of Tsingtao
beer, so the change of exchange rate would indirectly
affect the price of raw materials used by the Group, so
as to bring certain impacts to the earning ability of the
Group.

H A N R B 5 1 S B bR o AR T O3
B — E R TS o

The continuous appreciation of Renminbi will also
bring certain negative impacts to the exports of the
Group.

B P P 3

Capital Expenses

09 45 4 Wi % 3 5 A<k B 2 B o M 4l > 5 1 4T
A E MR R RCR o RIEA T H R E SR R A
e > AR A A B 4 B A 00 R BB R AT
RAFEAREHWEETR -

In 2009, the Company will focus on the control over
capital expenses and strive to improve the utilizing
efficiency of existing capital. According to the
Company’s current situation in funds and profitability,
it has sufficient funds and continuous net in-flow
of business cash to satisfy its needs in funds for the
capital projects.

A

Contingent Liabilities

AR U B K 2 R R o
For details please refer to the enclosed Notes to the
Financial Statements.
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o] SN e o R B i/ Directors

TP
Mr. JIN Zhi Guo

RS
Mr. WANG Fan

1 48 18 e
Mr. Stephen J. BURROWS

ZBBRAE ARAFEEBER > BUAFES25L o AT > R TR EMBA R » HEK
BP0 WL TSN LA R A R AR RS o 7 L T g SR AR A 5 A4 R AR AL B B
B~ HAEK - R SR > 20084 6 AMEAAFERR o HA MR BB AT B - 8 8945 B A A
RR > 20074E CCTV W B+ REPRAE A « 5+~ +—ERBAKRRE > WAL FH & EHE
FARAFRERR - HRATH -

Mr. JIN Zhi Guo, Chairman, aged 52, Senior Economist with EMBA at China Europe
International Business School (CEIBS) and Ph.D at Qingdao University. Mr. JIN ever took the
position of General Manager of Tsingtao Brewery Xi’an Company Limited, General Manager of
Tsingtao Brewery North Office, Assistant to the General Manager, President and Vice-chairman
of the Company. Mr. JIN was elected Chairman of the Company in June 2008. He has rich
experience in strategic management, sales and marketing management and capital operations,
and was entitled CCTV Top 10 Economic Figures in 2007. He is the national representative of the
10th and 11th National People’s Congress. Mr. JIN is also Vice Chairman and CEO of Tsingtao
Brewery Group Company Limited.

EMkAE AAFREER > B4 555K » V5L MR TR o G075 E 5 E 2B
BRR > HETRAEZEB TR ML > FETABAEERERRE > 2008423 A MEALAF -
6 AEAA R FI T F R o FA SR A AT AR S A BHACER o Rl E B ILE - B EZ
B EFERHERARAFBESRRE -

Mr. WANG Fan, Vice-chairman of the Company, aged 55, Master of Engineering at Xi’an
Jiaotong University. Mr. WANG was the Superintendent of Qingdao Product Quality Supervision
& Test Institute, Vice Director of Qingdao Economic Commission, Director of Qingdao Labor
and Social Security Bureau. Mr. WANG joined the Company in March 2008, and was elected
Vice-chairman in June with substantial experience in economic work and enterprise management.
He was Member of the 9th and 10th Shandong Committee of CPPCC (Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference). Mr. WANG is also Vice-chairman of Tsingtao Brewery Group Company
Limited.

Mr. Stephen J. BURROWS (48564 ) ARAFRHEFR - IEHITHEDS » Bl 575 » FEEH
FM Lindenwood K22 TR & BLAE L o MAESEE W — 1Ay B B A ) SR Hb % 5 % BT 5 A
B o

Mr. Stephen J. BURROWS, Vice Chairman and Non-executive Director of the Company, aged
57, MBA at Lindenwood University in Missouri, USA. He was CEO and President for Pacific and
Asia Area in Anheuser-Busch International, Inc.
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7Y &
Mr. SUN Ming Bo

LIPS 5
Mr. LIU Ying Di

HER A
Mr. SUN Yu Guo

B ARARPTES - MK BES20 » TRASIERHIEHE > 7 HKEEMBATH
o [ ORERAE A ER B TR o RS S L — RRIRR - AR TR AW > AC 4 R AR AS B ) B
HemI A8 TRRAN ~ ¥ B MR > 200847 6 HAEA A W I o FLAT SR AR B A B - A Al 4 B R
DFIEEALACER > B HRBRAR A > BB e hr BRI K o AT 7 5 W i 48 A PR A ) 3
o

Mr. SUN Ming Bo, Executive Director and President of the Company, aged 52, Applied
Researcher in engineering, EMBA at Nankai University and Doctor of Management and
Engineering at Tongji University. Mr. SUN ever took the position of Deputy Factory Manager &
Chief Engineer of Tsingtao Brewery No. 1, Assistant to the General Manager & Vice Chief Engineer
and Executive Vice President of the Company. He took the position of President of the Company
in June 2008 with substantial experience in strategic management, production and technical
management and M&A. Mr. SUN is the Top Talent in Professional Technologies in Qingdao and
expert with special allowance from the State Council. Mr. SUN is also the Directors of Tsingtao
Brewery Group Company Limited.

BB RE  ARAFRBATESR > BIAES25E - R TARAN o 575 &M R R R - AR A 48
REBH o HAT SR A0 A B B - R B LAY BUR TRRIE H A BLACER > 20034F T B R B R R
AT > 2006 4F K A5 BAL I FF o TS CIO o Jo 7 By i 58 00 Ja A KARSE ~ 1L R4 58 -+ e B i
ZH o EF BRI A RA R E R - FIARE -

Mr. LIU Ying Di, Executive Director of the Company, aged 52, Senior Engineer. Mr. LIU was
ever the Deputy Factory Manager of Tsingtao Brewery No. 1, and Deputy General Manager
of the Company. He has experience in management of production technology, information and
construction projects. He was entitled Top Talent in Professional Technologies in Qingdao in
2003, and “Best CIO” by the National Information Evaluation Center in 2006. Mr. LIU was
Representative of the 14th People’s Congress in Qingdao and Member of the 10th Shandong
Committee of CPPCC. He is also the Director and Executive President of Tsingtao Brewery Group
Company Limited.

BEBEGAE AAFTEDS - QAR > BUAESAEE > oF BRI s & A e B Al i
TIEAEGTE - YIEEETHBRAER - 5 TEEEESBRER o B Y5 M55 S B0
BAE SR > 2004 4F- 1 B CFOAEE A4 > 2008 4F 2 [ 7 5 e TAEH -

Mr. SUN Yu Guo, Executive Director, Vice President & Chief Accountant of the Company, aged
54, non-profession member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountant and The
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Valuator. Mr. SUN ever worked as Deputy Department Head
in Finance Bureau of Qingdao, and Department Head in State-owned Assets Administration of
Qingdao. He has rich experience in financial management and capital operations. Mr. SUN was
awarded National Annual Figure as CFO in 2004, and National Pioneer in Accounting in 2008.
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JioE ¥
Mr. Mark F. SCHUMM

[RRE
Mr. FU Yang

Pt
Ms. LI Yan

Mr. Mark E. SCHUMM (% %624) AAFIERTEDSE » BI4ESI R » FERB PR KL T
Tt o W ESEE LI — A Ay B B B o PN SR 5 A A PR B m 4K -

Mr. Mark F. SCHUMM, Non-executive Director of the Company, aged 53, MBA at University of
Michigan, USA. Mr. SCHUMM was Vice President of Asian business operations and development
in Anheuser-Busch International, Inc.

ML ARAFBLESR > BUAFE595% > PUEHM - BULILR T REHRMFHERGBA - £
2> o R AL B S A R AR R o WA RN K I T AR & B g Rk S R E - o
HELREMGEHE= - LEAER - RE2IBETE S - WHMEHE R - R E
W BB - AW RORES 40 BRI R BT TAE o

Mr. FU Yang, Independent Director of the Company, aged 59, lawyer with profession. He is the
Partner and Director of Kang Da Law Firm in Beijing, Arbitrator of China International Economic
and Trade Arbitration Commission. Mr. FU ever served as Deputy Director of the Economic Law
Office in the Commission of Legislative Affairs of NPC, Vice-chairman of the 3rd, 4th and 5th All
China Lawyers Association. Mr. FU participated in preparation of over 40 laws such as Economic
Contract Law, Law on Economic Contracts Involving Foreign Interest, Mineral Resources Law,
Law on the Administration of Drugs, Company Law, and Environmental Protection Law.

Zf L ARAFBILER > BUAESLE > REM @t o BUAE b e I ALK B I BB B R B R
BA% > PRE R UBL RO B S ECR BRI G B o A AR R AR TR
B~ HFE208 > BHTAFEREXEGARESHAEANSHERRE - 2807 ZHERK
o AWHREABITE o WA ZBRARMB L EHERS 0T RBECBREERA B - (BURFR
S ~ CHAEZ)FHMAHE - B - REFERSRMCTBEMH -

Ms. LI Yan, Independent Director of the Company, aged 51, CPA. She is Vice President &
Professor in the Finance School at Central University of Finance and Economics, member of
China Finance and Taxation Law Society and member of National Institute of Teaching Study of
Finance. Ms. LI is the Non-professional Member with CPA certificate of the Chinese Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. She published over 20 books and textbooks as chief editor,
and hosted dozens of significant subjects including the project of the National Social Science
Fund, participated in the researches on the State’s, ministry’s and provincial subjects. Ms. LI
participated in the working out and revision of laws including Law of Administration of Taxes
Collection, Law of Governmental Purchase, Budget Law as consulting expert of NPC Finance and
Economy Committee. She also took position of Financial Consultant in the companies.
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I S A
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok

E LA
Ms. WANG Shu Wen

W B AT S o BUAR 465K o BEA B BRE aE A B AL - RO R - Wi
BLRWRBE LR o SRR WA B bl 2 H 9 W B A R AR RATE S > B EE
FYUEBETRERHYERFTLZATRE - KPR HBERITEAR AT EBE BT EAT
TH o B LER - mERBCE AT TAE > 15 S Rl S 25 38007 T B B A ACR o W ek
2006 4F 2 F 2 11 H AT v 0 S 40 P A B ) (R v B A B Bl A ) ) X B SL R BT R o
Je 2 BLZ TR T R4 0 JBe 4 A MR ) B B S JE AT o o

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, Independent Director of the Company, aged 46. He holds a master degree
in international accounting, a postgraduate certificate in laws, a bachelor degree in laws and a
bachelor degree in business studies. He is an Executive Director of Huabao International Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Securities Institute and its Professional Education Committee, an associate
member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, and the Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries. Mr. Poon has worked as a regulator, commercial and investment banker
and has broad experience in finance and securities regulations. He was an independent non-
executive director of China Mining Resources Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, from February 2006 to November 2006. He now serves as an independent non-
executive director of CATIC Shenzhen Holdings Limited.

EB XKL AAFBILESE  BIA455 > P EANRKR AR B L 53 o BUE P B HEKR
BEBEBHE - BIBER - MPARE PO R AT o RS2 HBR A - R HE D 10 7
JH > BERICBUR A RIS IR BLAS SR IE ) ~ (R 00 7 0L g WAl 25 8 ) D JREL 1 7 ) 25 S B 7 B R A
Beto I8 » R T GE R 20 AL RS ) ~ (A SRBORAMT) ~ (38R B 7 G 45 BE)
FEAE -

Ms. WANG Shu Wen, Independent Director of the Company, aged 45, Doctor of Enterprise
Management at Renmin University of China. She is Professor and Vice President of Law and
Politics School, and Vice Dean of MPA Program Center of Ocean University of China (OUC). Ms.
WANG has sponsored or participated in more than 10 national, provincial research subjects, in
which her articles such as A Study on Modern Corporation Governance Structure, and A Study
on Financing System of Management Buy-out in China were published in the national or core
journals. She also has works including Chinese Economy Towards the 21st Century, Analysis of
Public Policy and Enterprise Growth and Contradictory Management.
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A E SN JE B g i B fii /i Supervisors

AL ek
Mr. DU Chang Gong

B % 2 Se
Mr. TENG An Gong

LR TS
Mr. CAO Xiang Dong

R A AN T g LR > B4 555K 0 MR AT o BULE BT A E S L
WL BT BUR BRI R ~ AR ah il o HA MR i S A B e S A BRI o AR 7T R A
ARAF - FEEREMAMAT - FEAGBAAFEFGER -

Mr. DU Chang Gong, Chairman of Board of Supervisors of the Company, aged 55, Senior
Accountant. He is Chairman of Board of Supervisors at enterprise directly under Qingdao
Government, and was ever Deputy Commissioner, Accountant-in-Chief at Qingdao Finance
Bureau with rich experience in financial and enterprise management. Mr. DU is also the Chairman
of Board of Supervisors at Tsingtao Brewery Group Company Limited, Qingdao Double Star
Group Co., Ltd. and Qingdao Textile Co., Ltd.

Bk hd AT TE S > BUE S8R o WL & ZBOA B SOE TAERRJE R @ 14T -
ZBORPIERME R » AAFRERIEGL - TEHEWN - LZHT - 7 EHEEA R R KZH
WAl > TEER - ALET - B o B UE R BORDE O ST B o AT RN A
FRA R i o

Mr. TENG An Gong, Supervisor as Staff Representative of the Company, aged 58. Mr. TENG
ever worked as Vice Head of Researching Office of Political Body Reform, and Researcher of
Policy Researching Office in Qingdao Municipal Party Committee, Vice Secretary to the Party,
Chairman of Staff Union, and Secretary of the Discipline Inspection Commission of the Company,
and Vice Secretary to the Party, Chairman of Staff Union, and Secretary of the Discipline
Inspection Commission of Tsingtao Brewery Group Company Limited with rich experience in
policy research and corporate management. He is also Supervisor of Tsingtao Brewery Group
Company Limited.

WA AR TES - BUESTEL o WA RV TR - R RO R - R
T G R A PR AR - R AR W AP B - BRI o B R TS A B
FA AT PR o MARARAEE ) - BEJEET o FEH B EE A RA RS o

Mr. CAO Xiang Dong, Supervisor as Staff Representative of the Company, aged 57. Mr. CAO has
substantial experience in market and corporate management as he ever worked as Factory Manager
and Party Secretary of Tsingtao Brewery No. 2 and Tsingtao Brewery Factory, General Manager
and Chairman of Shanghai Tsingtao Brewery East China Sales Company Limited, Assistant to the
General Manager and Vice President of the Company. Mr. CAO was also Supervisor of the 2nd
and 3rd Board of Supervisors of the Company. He is also Supervisor of Tsingtao Brewery Group
Company Limited.
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L S A
Mr. XUE Chao Shan

MR ALt
Ms. Frances ZHENG

Bl ek
Mr. LIU Qing Yuan

S 1 S A
Mr. ZHONG Ming Shan

PRI EAE ARARIRTE S > B4 505 > EIM KB EMBABRTRPEHSE o BUL T 5 WLl — WO
R~ BMEHEG - BEF RS E S A A BIAAKE > FEWECEAK)ARAF - 7 5B R
M)A PR T~ T8 A e ) A R 2> ) AR o 7 I WL SRR B A R A R AR A R o
FUAT S I T 555 B A A SR A B AR

Mr. XUE Chao Shan, Supervisor as Staff Representative of the Company, aged 50, EMBA at
Xiamen University. He is now the Factory Manager and Party Secretary of Tsingtao Brewery No.
2. Mr. XUE obtained rich experience in marketing and corporate management by ever taking the
positions including Regional Manager and Vice Manager of Tsingtao Brewery Sales Company,
General Manager of Tsingtao Brewery (Sanshui) Company Limited, Tsingtao Brewery (Fuzhou)
Company Limited, Tsingtao Brewery (Zhangzhou) Company Limited, General Manager and
Chairman of Tsingtao Brewery South-east Sales Company Limited.

WBE KL AN FBRE S > BLAE46 5% > SC B B4 e SN O ISR B TR A BAH L o T
S0 2T — A A B YN A PR R R S A o

Ms. Frances ZHENG, Supervisor as Shareholders Representative of the Company, aged 46, MBA
at Eastern University of Pennsylvania, USA. She was Finance Director of Anheuser-Busch Asia,
Inc.

PIWEE AARRORE S > BUE 605 » BEN T HFHIRE o BUE W ARG 3 3 i
BAE > R G B B R o T T T R [ A R o T T T R [ B
SAEN > BA R EHE TR - WEAAFASE=)E - B0 - B EEF -

Mr. LIU Qing Yuan, Supervisor as Shareholders Representative of the Company, aged 60. Mr.
LIU graduated from Qingdao Sci-technology University. He is currently Director of Shandong
Tianheren Law Firm, the Standing Director and Vice Chairman of Qingdao Lawyers Society. Mr.
LIU was ever the lawyer of Qingdao Shinan District Law Firm, Law Consultant of Government of
Shinan District of Qingdao, with substantial experience in legal affairs. He was the Supervisor of
the 3rd, 4th and 5th Board of Supervisors of the Company.
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Mr. ZHONG Ming Shan, Supervisor as Shareholders Representative of the Company, aged
56, CPA. He is currently audit partner of Shinewing Certified Public Accountants and Chief
Accountant of its Qingdao Branch. Mr. ZHONG has a long history in auditing work after having
served as Vice Head of Qingdao CPA Services, Deputy Director of Plant Representative Dept. of
Qingdao Finance Bureau and Head of Shandong Desheng CPA Ltd. He was the Supervisor of the
4th and 5th Board of Supervisors of the Company.
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Ms. YAN Xu, Vice President of the Company and President of Marketing Center, aged 44, EMBA
at University of Beijing. She was ever Director & Deputy General Manager of Zhujiang River
Brewery Group Company, General Manager of Tsingtao Brewery South-China Sales Company
Limited with rich experience in marketing. She was awarded 2006 China Top 10 Economic
Female, 2008 “olden Kylin” Pioneer for Outstanding Marketing Leaders and 2008 China Female
News Personality for the 30-Year of Opening Up.
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Mr. FAN Wei, Vice President of the Company and President of Manufacturing Center, aged
48, Applied Researcher in engineering with a Master’s Degree at Southern Yangtze University.
He ever took the position of Deputy Factory Manager, Chief Engineer of Tsingtao Brewery No.
2 and Chief Brewer of the Company. He has rich experience in production, scientific research
and technical management in a brewery with title of Top Talent in Professional Technologies in
Qingdao and expert with special allowance from the State Council.
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Ms. JIANG Hong, Vice President of the Company, aged 52, Senior Economist with EMBA at
Nankai University. She has rich experience in production and HR management after having served
as Factory Manager of Tsingtao Brewery No. 2, Head of Production Dept. Head of Corporate
Management Dept., and Assistant to the President & Head of Human Resources Dept. of the
Company. She was the 2006 China Outstanding HR Manager and 2009 Qingdao Outstanding
Economic Female.
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Mr. ZHANG An Wen, Vice President of the Company and Chairman of Tsingtao Brewery
Xi’an Hans Group Company Limited, aged 51, EMBA at Business Management College of Xi’an
Jiaotong University. He has rich experience in production and management after having served as
Deputy Manager and General Manager of Tsingtao Brewery (Xi’an) Company Limited.
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Mr. DONG Jian Jun, Chief Brewer & Head of Technology and Quality Management Dept.,
and Director of Sci-Technology Center of the Company, aged 48, Applicable Researcher of
Engineering, Doctor of Ferment Engineering at Tianjin University of Science & Technology. He
was Chief Engineer of Tsingtao Brewery No. 2, and Head of Quality Management Dept. of the
Company. Mr. Dong has rich experience in technical innovation and quality management with title
of Top Talent in Professional Technologies in Qingdao and expert with special allowance from the
State Council.
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Mr. YU Jia Ping, Vice President of Production Center & Head of Purchasing Management Dept.
of the Company, aged 46, EMBA at China Europe International Business School. He has rich
experience in production and operations management, and business management after having
worked as Factory Manager of Tsingtao Brewery No. 2, Factory Manager of Tsingtao Brewery
Factory, Assistant to President & Head of Qingdao Office of the Company.
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Guarantees and Trusted Loans

In the reporting period, with approval by the Board of
Directors, the total amount guaranteed by the Company
for the bank loans and accepted bills of exchange of its
controlling subsidiaries reached RMB515.55 million.

In addition, Tsingtao Brewery No. 5 Company Limited, the
controlling subsidiary of the Company, provided extended
guarantee for credit line of total amount of RMB22 million
applied by Qingdao Tsingtao-Asahi Company Limited, in
which it holds 40% interests, to the domestic commercial
banks. The period of the guarantee is from 1 July 2008 to
31 December 2009. For further details of it, please refer to
the announcement made by the Company on 31 December
2008.

In the reporting period, no trusted wealth management
issues occurred. To secure the production and operation of
its subsidiaries, about RMB1,260.54 million in aggregate
of trusted loans was provided by the Company to its
controlling subsidiaries

Connected Transaction

1. Connected transaction of the Company’s
acquiring minority interests in 22 subsidiaries
held by Tsingtao Brewery Group Company
Limited (‘TB Group’)

The Company entered into an equity transfer
agreement with TB Group on 26 May 2008, pursuant
to which the Company agreed to acquire the
minority interests in its 22 controlling subsidiaries
held by TB Group in way of public transaction
through Qingdao Property Ownership Trading
Center for a total consideration of RMB76.94
million. The consideration was determined in
reference to the valuation over the net assets value
of the target company made on 31 March 2007
and the net profits/losses of the target company
for the 6 months ended on 30 September 2007
by two independent PRC assets valuating firms,
and should be paid for the sale interests by the
Company to the appointed account of TB Group
in Qingdao Property Ownership Trading Center
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within 5 working days after the agreement taking
into effect under the approval by Qingdao Property
Ownership Trading Center. The Board of Directors
(including the Independent Directors) was of the
view that, this transaction was in line with the
development strategies of the Company, had benefits
for strengthening the centralized management by
the Company to its subsidiaries and decreasing the
connected transaction. The acquiring price was
based on the valuation over the net assets and took
into account of the operational situation and the
profitability of the subsidiaries, which was fair and
reasonable, and was in the interest of the Company
and the shareholders as a whole. For details of
the transaction, please refer to the announcement
published on 27 May 2008 in the website of the
stock exchanges where the Company is listed.

2. Except the aforesaid connected transaction, the
connected parties of the connected transactions
are mainly minority shareholders of controlling
subsidiaries and associates of the Company. For
details, please refer to the Notes to the Financial
Statement.

Custody

Under the Entrusted Operation and Management
Agreement and its supplementary agreement signed
between the Company and TB Group, in the reporting
period, the Company went on to manage TB Group’s 80%
stake in Tsingtao Brewery (Yangzhou) Company Limited
(“Yangzhou Company’) as its custodian and included it
into the consolidating scope of financial statements.
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IV. Adjustment to the Applicable Income

Tax Rate

The Company received notice from the tax authority in
Qingdao in April 2008 that, the Company should apply
33% as its applicable income tax rate in 2007 (the previous
income tax rate applicable to the Company was 15%). As
for the date of disclosure of the Report, the tax authority
has not made any decision on how to settle the income tax
before the year of 2007. The Company will issue further
announcement as and when appropriate upon receipt of
any further information. Pursuant to the new Enterprise
Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China which
has become effective from 1 January 2008, the income tax
rate applicable to the Company for 2008 is 25%.

Equity Acquisition

Under the approval by the Board of Directors, the
Company entered into Equity Transfer Agreement with two
shareholders of Yantai Brewery Asahi Co., Ltd. (‘Yantali
Brewery’) on 9 November 2008, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to acquire 37% and 2% interests held
respectively by Yantai Brewery Group Co., Ltd. and Asahi
Breweries Itochu (Holdings) Ltd. in Yantai Brewery for the
consideration of RMB203.5 million and RMB11 million in
cash. The value of such 39% interests as of 30 June 2008
was around RMB221.45 million. The Board of Directors
was of the view that, the acquisition was meaningful
to increase the market share of Tsingtao Brewery in
Jiaodong Peninsula. Meanwhile, the acquiring price
was based on the valuation over the net assets, took into
account of the operational situation and the profitability
of Yantai Brewery, which was fair and reasonable, and
was in the interest of the Company and the shareholders
as a whole. The procedures for altering registration at
the State Administration of Industry and Commerce for
the acquisition of sale interests in Yantai Brewery was
completed on 9 January 2009, after which Yantai Brewery
was renamed as ‘Yantai Brewery Tsingtao-Asahi Company
Limited’. The sales volume of Yantai Brewery in 2007 was
about 1.8 million hl.
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PRICEWVATERHOUSE(COPERS

BERKEETEEFER PricewaterhouseCoopers
22/F, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2289 8888
Facsimile (852) 2810 9888
www.pwchk.com

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TSINGTAO BREWERY COMPANY LIMITED
(A Sino-foreign joint stock company established in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 152, which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as at
31 December 2008, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2008 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 8 April 2009

O W 5 AR A A

66 TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.



Group Company

As at 31 December As at 31 December
2008 2007 2008 2007
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Leasehold land and land use rights 6 842,077 717,172 64,031 65,878
Property, plant and equipment 7 5,617,314 5,608,946 917,609 946,698
Investment property — — 20,253 20,853
Prepayment for land use rights 17,442 17,442 17,442 17,442
Intangible assets 8 249,468 237,269 102,230 95,494
Investments in subsidiaries 9 — — 3,782,143 1,857,838
Loans to subsidiaries 9 — — 1,218,383 2,704,878
Interests in jointly controlled entity and
associates 10 28,697 27,882 7,200 7,200
Deferred income tax assets 23 94,930 174,783 11,796 120,425
Available-for-sale financial assets 13 10,085 20,223 7,055 12,195
Other long-term assets 10,987 11,120 2,733 3,167
6,871,000 6,814,837 6,150,875 5,852,068
Current assets
Inventories 14 2,756,337 2,187,254 643,698 411,062
Amounts due from subsidiaries 40(b) — — 262,890 237,434
Trade receivables 15 81,453 94,199 32,594 44,117
Bills receivable 15 9,055 37,294 3,850 —
Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables 16 363,837 1,076,742 80,197 293,260
Derivative financial instruments 22 1,763 — 1,763 —
Pledged bank deposits 12,466 20,266 — —
Cash and cash equivalents 17 2,381,044 1,314,643 1,408,380 689,459
Income tax recoverable 18 55,276 — 45,979 —
5,661,231 4,730,398 2,479,351 1,675,332
Total assets 12,532,231 11,545,235 8,630,226 7,527,400
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to the
Company’s shareholders
Share capital 19 1,308,219 1,308,219 1,308,219 1,308,219
Other reserves 20 3,835,057 3,632,861 3,929,089 3,609,216
Retained earnings
— Proposed final dividend 327,055 287,808 327,055 287,808
— Others 611,907 280,297 361,093 325,429
6,082,238 5,509,185 5,925,456 5,530,672
Minority interests &, 37 479,150 — =
Total equity 6,417,615 5,988,335 5,925,456 5,530,672
ZE T )\ FE R
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Group Company
As at 31 December As at 31 December
2008 2007 2008 2007
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 21 1,157,508 96,580 1,137,179 —
Deferred income tax liabilities 23 13,117 17,035 — 1,828
Deferred government grants 24 194,198 76,275 10,710 11,308
Other financial liabilities 36,515 28,286 — —
1,401,338 218,176 1,147,889 13,136
Current liabilities
Trade payables 25 1,208,379 1,080,803 356,985 188,918
Bills payable 26 146,983 207,268 63,120 81,180
Accruals and other payables 27 2,390,810 2,172,297 711,313 572,702
Deposits and advance from customers 28 340,759 482,882 152,944 374,158
Taxes payable 98,949 279,227 — 198,603
Loan due to a shareholder 40(b) 107,890 109,569 — —
Borrowings 21 419,508 983,877 272,519 545,230
Derivative financial instruments 22 — 22,801 — 22,801
4,713,278 5,338,724 1,556,881 1,983,592
Total liabilities 6,114,616 5,556,900 2,704,770 1,996,728
Total equity and liabilities 12,532,231 11,545,235 8,630,226 7,527,400
Net current assets/ (liabilities) 947,953 (608,326) 922,470 (308,260)
Total assets less current liabilities 7,818,953 6,206,511 7,073,345 5,543,808
JIN Zhiguo SUN Yuguo
Director Director

The notes on pages 73 to 152 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December

2008 2007
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Sales 5 15,781,382 13,529,892
Cost of goods sold 31 (10,770,245) (9,215,999)
Gross profit 5,011,137 4,313,893
Selling and marketing expenses 31 (2,974,159) (2,651,635)
Administrative expenses 31 (907,087) (689,326)
Other gains — net 29 166,769 97,469
Other operating losses — net 30 (117,883) (63,095)
Operating profit 1,178,777 1,007,306
Finance costs — net 33 (70,7112) (15,009)
Share of profit/loss of jointly controlled entity and associates-net 23 283
Profit before income tax 1,108,089 992,580
Income tax expense 34(a) (374,317) (413,812)
Profit for the year 733,772 578,768
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company 699,554 538,911
Minority interests 34,218 39,857
733,772 578,768
Earnings per share for profit attributable to the Shareholders of the
Company during the year (expressed in RMB per share)
— Basic and diluted 35 0.535 0.412
Dividends 36 327,055 287,808
The notes on pages 73 to 152 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Minority

Attributable to shareholders of the Company interests Total equity
Proposed
Share Other final Retained
capital reserves dividends earnings
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 20)
Balance at 1 January 2007, as
previously reported 1,308,219 3,796,626 287,808 (145,224) 452,294 5,699,723
Opening adjustments for the
accounting policy change — (236,203) — 236,203 — —
Balance at 1 January 2007, as
restated 1,308,219 3,560,423 287,808 90,979 452,294 5,699,723
Translation difference — 898 — — — 898
Fair value gain on available-for-
sale financial assets — 13,007 — — 615 13,622
Deferred income tax liabilities
for available-for-sale financial
assets — (3,252) — — (154) (3,406)
Profit for the year — — — 538,911 39,857 578,768
Total recognised income and
expense for 2007 — 10,653 — 538,911 40,318 589,882
Dividends declared — — (287,808) — (29,902) (317,710)
Proposed dividends 36 — — 287,808 (287,808) — —
Profit appropriation to surplus
reserve 20 — 61,785 — (61,785) — —
Contribution from minority
shareholders — — — — 15,703 15,703
Others — — — — 737 737
Balance at 31 December 2007 1,308,219 3,632,861 287,808 280,297 479,150 5,988,335
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Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Minority
interests Total equity

Proposed
Share Other final Retained
capital reserves dividends earnings
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 20)

Balance at 1 January 2008 1,308,219 3,632,861 287,808 280,297 479,150 5,988,335
Translation difference — 156 — — — 156
Fair value loss on available-for-

sale financial assets — (9,794) — — (344) (10,138)
Deferred income tax liabilities

for available-for-sale financial

assets — 2,449 — — 86 2,535
Profit for the year — — — 699,554 34,218 733,772
Total recognised income and

expense for 2008 — (7,189) — 699,554 33,960 726,325
Dividends declared — — (287,808) — (33,077) (320,885)
Proposed dividends 36 — — 327,055 (327,055) — —
Profit appropriation to surplus

reserve 20 — 40,889 — (40,889) — —
Equity component of convertible

bonds, net of transaction costs — 380,490 — — — 380,490
Deferred tax arising on initially

stating the convertible bonds

at fair value — (97,426) — — — (97,426)
Acquisition of minority interests

in subsidiaries — (115,442) — — (151,312) (266,754)
Contribution from minority

shareholders — — — — 5,085 5,085
Others — 874 — — 1,571 2,445
Balance at 31 December 2008 1,308,219 3,835,057 327,055 611,907 335,377 6,417,615
The notes on pages 73 to 152 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December

2008 2007
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 37 2,059,303 1,394,061
Interest received 30,051 24,224
Income tax paid (609,870) (295,433)
Net cash generated from operating activities 1,479,484 1,122,852

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired 7,887 17,184

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, construction-in-progress and

intangible assets (688,439) (1,054,091)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 37 6,745 34,064
Purchase of minority interests from third parties (85,500) (88,123)
Purchase of minority interests from a related party 40(a) (95,050) —
Acquisition of subsidiary from a related party — (5,290)
Additional equity investments in associates — (8,000)
Proceeds from liquidation of subsidiaries — 14,961
Decrease in short-term bank deposits and pledged bank deposits 29,000 (24,327)
Cash paid for derivative financial instruments (25,781) (3,905)
Dividend received 3,443 3,660
Others (6,292) —
Net cash used in investing activities (853,987) (1,113,867)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 714,414 1,090,688
Repayment of borrowings (1,356,104) (646,388)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds 21(b) 1,464,543 —
Contributions from minority shareholders 5,085 —
Interest paid (53,649) (28,859)
Dividends paid to the Company’s shareholders (305,808) (287,808)
Dividends paid to minority interests (25,745) (29,902)
Others (746) —
Net cash from financing activities 441,990 97,731
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,067,487 106,716
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 1,314,643 1,213,243
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents (1,086) (5,316)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 2,381,044 1,314,643

The notes on pages 73 to 152 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1 General information

Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited (the “Company”) was established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on 16 June
1993. The Company obtained business licence as a Sino-foreign joint stock company on 27 December 1995. Its H shares have
been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 15 July 1993 and its A shares have been listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange since 27 August 1993.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are principally engaged in the production and distribution of beer
products. The Company’s registered address is No 56, Dengzhou Road, Qingdao, PRC.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 8 April 20009.

The English names of some of the companies referred to in the financial statements represent unofficial translations of their
registered Chinese names by management and these English names have not been legally adopted by these entities.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (HKFRS). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments)
at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) Standards, amendment and interpretations effective in 2008

. The HKAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’, amendment on reclassification of
financial assets permits reclassification of certain financial assets out of the held-for-trading and available-for-
sale categories if specified conditions are met. The related amendment to HKFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments:
Disclosures’, introduces disclosure requirements with respect to financial assets reclassified out of the held-
for-trading and available-for-sale categories. The amendment is effective prospectively from 1 July 2008. This
amendment does not have any impact on the Group’s financial statements, as the Group has not reclassified
any financial assets.

. HK(IFRIC) — Int 11, ‘HKFRS 2 — Group and treasury share transactions’, provides guidance on whether
share-based transactions involving treasury shares or involving group entities (for example, options over a
parent’s shares) should be accounted for as equity-settled or cash-settled share-based payment transactions in
the stand-alone accounts of the parent and group companies. This interpretation does not have an impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2.1

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

@)

(b)

(©

Standards, amendment and interpretations effective in 2008 (continued)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 14, ‘HKAS 19 — The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and
their interaction’, provides guidance on assessing the limit in HKAS 19 on the amount of the surplus that can
be recognised as an asset. It also explains how the pension asset or liability may be affected by a statutory
or contractual minimum funding requirement. This interpretation does not have any impact on the Group’s
financial statements, as the Group has no defined benefit plans.

Interpretations effective in 2008 but not relevant to the Group

The following interpretation to published standards is mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2008 but is not relevant to the Group’s operations:

HK(IFRIC) — Int 12, ‘Service Concession arrangements’.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group

The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the
Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 or later periods, but the Group has not early
adopted them:

HKAS 1 (Revised), ‘Presentation of financial statements’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The revised standard
will prohibit the presentation of items of income and expenses (that is, ‘non-owner changes in equity’) in the
statement of changes in equity, requiring ‘non-owner changes in equity’ to be presented separately from owner
changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity will be required to be shown in a performance statement,
but entities can choose whether to present one performance statement (the statement of comprehensive income)
or two statements (the consolidated income statement and statement of comprehensive income). Where entities
restate or reclassify comparative information, they will be required to present a restated balance sheet as at the
beginning comparative period in addition to the current requirement to present balance sheets at the end of the
current period and comparative period. The Group will apply HKAS 1 (Revised) from 1 January 2009.

HKAS 23 (Revised), ‘Borrowing costs’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The amendment requires an entity to
capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale) as part of the cost of that asset.
The option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs will be removed. The Group will apply HKAS
23 (Revised) retrospectively from 1 January 2009 but it is not expected to have any impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group (continued)

. HKAS 27 (Revised), ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’ (effective from 1 July 2009). The revised
standard requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in equity if
there is no change in control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains and losses. The
standard also specifies the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-measured
to fair value and a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. The Group will apply HKAS 27 (Revised)
prospectively to transactions with non-controlling interests from 1 January 2010. The Group has already
chosen the similar accounting policy as HKAS 23 (Revised) in prior years (Note 2.2).

. HKAS 32 (Amendment), ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’, and HKAS 1 (Amendment), ‘Presentation
of financial statements’” — ‘Puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation’ (effective
from 1 January 2009). The amended standards require entities to classify puttable financial instruments and
instruments, or components of instruments that impose on the entity an obligation to deliver to another party
a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation as equity, provided the financial instruments
have particular features and meet specific conditions. The Group will apply the HKAS 32 (Amendment) and
HKAS 1 (Amendment) from 1 January 2009, but it is not expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

. HKFRS 1 (Amendment), ‘First time adoption of HKFRS’ and HKAS 27 ‘Consolidated and separate financial
statements’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The amended standard allows first-time adopters to use a deemed
cost of either fair value or the carrying amount under previous accounting practice to measure the initial cost
of investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in the separate financial statements.
The amendment also removes the definition of the cost method from HKAS 27 and replaces it with a
requirement to present dividends as income in the separate financial statements of the investor. The Company
will apply HKAS 27 (Amendment) prospectively from 1 January 2009 in its separate financial statements. This
amendment is not relevant to the Group.

. HKFRS 2 (Amendment), ‘Share-based payment’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The amended standard
deals with vesting conditions and cancellations. It clarifies that vesting conditions are service conditions and
performance conditions only. Other features of a share-based payment are not vesting conditions. As such
these features would need to be included in the grant date fair value for transactions with employees and others
providing similar services, that is, these features would not impact the number of awards expected to vest or
valuation thereof subsequent to grant date. All cancellations, whether by the entity or by other parties, should
receive the same accounting treatment. The Group will apply HKFRS 2 (Amendment) from 1 January 2009,
but it is not expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 3 (Revised), ‘Business combinations’ (effective from 1 July 2009). The revised standard continues
to apply the acquisition method to business combinations, with some significant changes. For example, all
payments to purchase a business are to be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent
payments classified as debt subsequently re-measured through the consolidated income statement. There is a
choice on an acquisition by acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-
related costs should be expensed. The Group will apply HKFRS 3 (Revised) prospectively to all business
combinations from 1 January 2010.

HKFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ (effective from 1 January 2009). HKFRS 8 replaces HKAS 14 and aligns
segment reporting with the requirements of the US standard SFAS 131, ‘Disclosures about segments of an
enterprise and related information’. The new standard requires a ‘management approach’, under which segment
information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. The Group will apply
HKFRS 8 from 1 January 2009. The expected impact is still being assessed in details by management, but
it appears likely that the number of reportable segments, as well as the manner in which the segments are
reported, will change in a manner that is consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. As goodwill is allocated to groups of cash-generating units based on segment level, the change
will also require management to reallocate goodwill to the newly identified operating segments. Nevertheless,
management does not anticipate that this will result in any material impairment to the goodwill balance.

HK(IFRIC) — Int 16 , ‘Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation’ (effective from 1 October 2008).
HK(IFRIC) — Int 16 clarifies the accounting treatment in respect of net investment hedging. This includes
the fact that net investment hedging relates to differences in functional currency not presentation currency,
and hedging instruments may be held anywhere in the Group. The requirements of HKAS 21, ‘The effects of
changes in foreign exchange rates’, do apply to the hedged item. The Group will apply HK(IFRIC) — Int 16
from 1 January 2009. It is not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

HKICPA’s improvements to HKFRS published in October 2008.

HKAS 1 (Amendment), ‘Presentation of financial statements’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The amendment
clarifies that some rather than all financial assets and liabilities classified as held for trading in accordance
with HKAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’ are examples of current assets and
liabilities respectively. The Group will apply the HKAS 1 (Amendment) from 1 January 2009. It is not expected
to have an impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group (continued)

> HKAS 19 (Amendment), ‘Employee benefits’ (effective from 1 January 2009).

—  The amendment clarifies that a plan amendment that results in a change in the extent to which benefit
promises are affected by future salary increases is a curtailment, while an amendment that changes
benefits attributable to past service gives rise to a negative past service cost if it results in a reduction in
the present value of the defined benefit obligation.

—  The definition of return on plan assets has been amended to state that plan administration costs are
deducted in the calculation of return on plan assets only to the extent that such costs have been excluded
from measurement of the defined benefit obligation.

—  The distinction between short term and long term employee benefits will be based on whether benefits
are due to be settled within or after 12 months of employee service being rendered.

— HKAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’ requires contingent liabilities to be
disclosed, not recognised. HKAS 19 has been amended to be consistent.

The Group will apply the HKAS 19 (Amendment) from 1 January 2009.

> HKAS 23 (Amendment), ‘Borrowing costs’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The definition of borrowing costs
has been amended so that interest expense is calculated using the effective interest method defined in HKAS
39 ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’. This eliminates the inconsistency of terms between
HKAS 39 and HKAS 23. The Group will apply the HKAS 23 (Amendment) prospectively to the capitalisation
of borrowing costs on qualifying assets from 1 January 2009.

> HKAS 28 (Amendment), ‘Investments in associates’ (and consequential amendments to HKAS 32, ‘Financial
Instruments: Presentation’ and HKFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’) (effective from 1 January
2009). An investment in associate is treated as a single asset for the purposes of impairment testing and any
impairment loss is not allocated to specific assets included within the investment, for example, goodwill.
Reversals of impairment are recorded as an adjustment to the investment balance to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the associate increases. The Group will apply the HKAS 28 (Amendment) to impairment
tests related to investment in associates and any related impairment losses from 1 January 2009.

> HKAS 36 (Amendment), ‘Impairment of assets’ (effective from 1 January 2009). Where fair value less costs
to sell is calculated on the basis of discounted cash flows, disclosures equivalent to those for value-in-use
calculation should be made. The Group will apply the HKAS 36 (Amendment) and provide the required
disclosure where applicable for impairment tests from 1 January 2009.

> HKAS 38 (Amendment), ‘Intangible assets’ (effective from 1 January 2009). A prepayment may only be
recognised in the event that payment has been made in advance of obtaining right of access to goods or receipt
of services. The Group will apply the HKAS 38 (Amendment) from 1 January 2009.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group (continued)

HKAS 39 (Amendment), ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’ (effective from 1 January
2009).

—  This amendment clarifies that it is possible for there to be movements into and out of the fair value
through profit or loss category where a derivative commences or ceases to qualify as a hedging
instrument in cash flow or net investment hedge.

—  The definition of financial asset or financial liability at fair value through profit or loss as it relates to
items that are held for trading is also amended. This clarifies that a financial asset or liability that is
part of a portfolio of financial instruments managed together with evidence of an actual recent pattern of
short-term profit-taking is included in such a portfolio on initial recognition.

—  The current guidance on designating and documenting hedges states that a hedging instrument needs to
involve a party external to the reporting entity and cites a segment as an example of a reporting entity.
This means that in order for hedge accounting to be applied at segment level, the requirements for
hedge accounting are currently required to be met by the applicable segment. The amendment removes
this requirement so that HKAS 39 is consistent with HKFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ which requires
disclosure for segments to be based on information reported to the chief operating decision maker.

—  When remeasuring the carrying amount of a debt instrument on cessation of fair value hedge accounting,
the amendment clarifies that a revised effective interest rate (calculated at the date fair value hedge
accounting ceases) are used.

The Group will apply the HKAS 39 (Amendment) from 1 January 2009. It is not expected to have an impact on the
Group’s consolidated income statement.

HKFRS 5 (Amendment), ‘Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations’ (and consequential
amendment to HKFRS 1, ‘First-time adoption’) (effective from 1 July 2009). The amendment clarifies that
all of a subsidiary’s assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale if a partial disposal sale plan results in
loss of control, and relevant disclosure should be made for this subsidiary if the definition of a discontinued
operation is met. A consequential amendment to HKFRS 1 states that these amendments are applied
prospectively from the date of transition to HKFRSs. The Group will apply the HKFRS 5 (Amendment)
prospectively to all partial disposals of subsidiaries from 1 January 2010.

There are a number of minor amendments to HKFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’, HKAS 8,
‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’, HKAS 10, ‘Events after the balance sheet
date’, HKAS 18, ‘Revenue’ and HKAS 34, ‘Interim financial reporting” which are not addressed above. These
amendments are unlikely to have an impact on the Group’s financial statements and have therefore not been
analysed in detail.
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2.2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made up to
31 December.

@)

(b)

©

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of
an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or
assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill (Note 2.6). If the cost of
acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly
in the consolidated income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for impairment
losses (Note 2.7). The results of subsidiaries are accounted by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Transactions with minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with equity owners of the
Group. For purchases from minority interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is deducted from equity. Gains or losses on disposals
to minority interests, differences between any proceeds received and the relevant share of minority interests are also
recorded in equity.

Jointly controlled entities

The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are
initially recognised at cost.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2

2.3

Consolidation (continued)

(©

(d)

Jointly controlled entities (continued)

The Group’s share of its jointly controlled entities’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-
acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of
losses in a jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds its interest in the jointly controlled entity, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interest in the joint controlled entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of joint controlled entities have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying
a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in associates includes
goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified upon acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment
loss. See note 2.7 for the impairment of non-financial assets including goodwill.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income statement, and
its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet the interests in associates are stated at cost less provision for impairment losses (Note
2.7). The results of associated companies are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks
and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing

products or services within a particular economic environment that is subject to risks and returns that are different from

those of segments operating in other economic environments.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.4

Foreign currency translation

@)

(b)

©

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated income statement, except when
deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the
consolidated income statement within ‘finance income or cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income statement within ‘other gains — net’.

Translation difference on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-
monetary financial assets such as equities classified as available-for-sale are included in the available-for-sale reserve
in equity.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

— income and expenses for each consolidated income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and
of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’
equity. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity
are recognised in the consolidated income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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2.5

2.6

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may include transfers from equity of any gains/
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
in the consolidated income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Plants and buildings 20 — 40 years
Machinery 5 — 14 years
Motor vehicles 5 — 12 years
Other equipment 5 — 10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within other (losses)/gains — net, in the consolidated income statement.

Intangible assets
(@) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net
identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is
included in intangible assets. Goodwill is tested for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those
cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination
in which the goodwill arose (Note 2.7).

(b) Trademarks and licences

Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licences acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks and licences have a finite
useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their costs over their estimated useful lives.
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2.6

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

(b)

©

(d)

Trademarks and licences (continued)
Trademark which is not subject to amortisation will be subject to annual impairment assessment.
Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products
controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

— itis technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

— management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

— there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

— it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;

— adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software
product are available; and

— the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs those are capitalised as part of the software product include the software development
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives.
Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects relating to the design and testing
of new or improved products are recognised as an intangible asset where the technical feasibility and intention of
completing the product under development has been demonstrated and the resources are available to do so, costs
are identifiable and there is an ability to sell or use the asset that will generate probable future economic benefits.
Development costs that do not meet the above criteria are expensed as incurred. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.
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2.7

2.8

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, associates and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairments are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivable, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified
in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also categorised
as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance
sheet date. These are classified as non-current assets. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade and other
receivables and other long-term receivables in the balance sheet (Note 2.11).

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in
any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the
investment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

(d) Held-to-maturity financial assets

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If the Group were
to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity financial assets, the whole category would be tainted
and reclassified as available for sale. Held-to-maturity financial assets are included in non-current assets, except for
those with maturities less than 12 months from the balance sheet date; these are classified as current assets. During
the year, the Group did not hold any investments in this category.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.8

2.9

2.10

Financial assets (continued)

©)

Recognition and measurement (continued)

Regular way purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date — the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all
financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in
the fair value of monetary or non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in equity.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments
recognised in equity are included in the consolidated income statement as gains or losses from investment securities.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities are impaired.
If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss — is removed from equity and recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the consolidated income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through
the consolidated income statement. Impairment testing of trade receivables is described in Note 2.11.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument or not. During the year, no derivatives had been designated as hedging instruments and
they were all accounted for at fair value through profit or loss accordingly. Such changes in the fair value are presented in
the consolidated income statement as other gains/(losses) — net.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises design costs, raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.
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2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of
the assets is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement within ‘selling and marketing costs’. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against ‘selling
and marketing costs’ in the consolidated income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call or with maturities of three months or less, with banks,
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at
amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
the consolidated income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible bond is determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent
non-convertible bond. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion
or maturity of the bonds. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option. This is recognised in
shareholders’ equity, net of income tax effects.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is
required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in equity.
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2.15

2.16

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Current and deferred income tax (continued)

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income
tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Employee benefit
(@) Retirement benefit obligations

The employees of the Group stationed in the PRC are covered by various government-sponsored pension plans. These
government agencies are responsible for the pension liability to these employees. The Group contributes on a monthly
basis to these pension plans based on certain percentages of the salaries of the employees, subject to a certain ceiling.
Under these plans, the Group has no legal or constructive obligation for retirement benefits beyond the contributions
made. Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.

A subsidiary operating in Hong Kong has established a defined contribution mandatory provident fund scheme
in accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation of the government of Hong Kong. It makes monthly
contributions to the scheme based on 5% of the employees’ basic salaries with the maximum amount of contribution
made by the subsidiary and the employees being limited to HK$12,000 (equivalent to RMB10,583) per annum per
each employee. The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution retirement scheme are expensed as incurred.

(b) Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments are recognised as a liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured at the amounts expected to
be paid when they are settled.
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2.16

2.17

2.18

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefit (continued)
(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of
an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after balance sheet date
are discounted to present value.

Provision

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined
by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with
respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a
post-tax that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The
increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below.
The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have been
resolved. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a) Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a Group entity has delivered products to the customer, the customer has accepted
the products and collectibility of the related receivables is reasonably assured. The recorded revenue is the gross
amount of sales, including the amounts of consumption taxes paid and payable, such tax item is included in cost of
sales.
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2.18

2.19

2.20

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
(b) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. When a receivable is
impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow
discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest
income. Interest income on impaired loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

(c) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
(d) Operating lease rental income

Operating lease rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis.
Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the income statement over the period necessary to
match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred government grants and are credited to the income statement on a straight line basis over the expected lives of the
related assets.

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) including upfront
payment made for leasehold land and land use rights, are charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.

The Group leases certain properties, plant and equipment. Leases where the Group has substantially accepted all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases, and were capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the lower of
the fair value of the leased assets and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance
balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other short-term and
other long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the consolidated income statement over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the
asset and the lease term.
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2.21

2.22

3.1

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Dividends distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising buildings, is held for long term rental yields and is not occupied by the owner.
Investment property is carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation. The depreciation is calculated using the straight line
method to allocate the cost to the residual value (3% of the cost) over the estimated useful live of 40 years.

Financial risk management
Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash
flow and fair value interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Market risk
(i)  Foreign exchange risk

The foreign exchange risks of the Group occur due to the fact that the Group has financing activities and
highly probable cash outflow arising from purchases of raw materials which are denominated in foreign
currencies, primarily in US dollars. The Group has entered into foreign exchange forward contracts to manage
the risk arising from certain recognised liabilities. The directors are of the opinion that the Group’s exposure
to foreign exchange risk would not be very significant.

At 31 December 2008, if US dollar had appreciated by 7% against RMB with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year would have been approximately RMB2,627,000 (2007: RMB2,982,000) lower,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses on translation of US dollar-denominated borrowings.

(if)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest-bearing assets are mainly bank deposits which bear effective interests at approximately
1.98% p.a. (2007: 3.7% p.a.). They expose the Group to fair value interest-rate risk. The directors are of the
opinion that future interest rate changes would not lead to significant adverse impact on the Group’s operating
results.

The Company and the Group’s long-term borrowings and loans to subsidiaries were issued at fixed rates, and
they expose the Company and the Group to fair value interest-rate risk.
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3

3.1

Financial risk management (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

@)

(b)

Market risk (continued)
(ii)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (continued)

At 31 December 2008, if interest rates on US dollar-denominated borrowings had increased/decreased
0.5% with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been approximately
RMB1,194,000 (2007: RMB1,224,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on
floating rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2008, if interest rates on RMB-denominated borrowings had increased/decreased 0.5% with
all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been approximately RMB1,496,000
(2007: RMB3,592,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate
borrowings.

Liquidity risk

The Company completed a bond offering with maturity in 2014 with net proceeds received by the Group amounting
to approximately RMB1,464,543,000 in April 2008 (see Note 21(b) for details) in order to finance its ongoing capital
commitments, and the net cash generated from operating activities for the year ended 31 December 2008 amounted to
approximately RMB1,479,484,000. As a result, the Group had net current assets of approximately RMB947,953,000
as at 31 December 2008 (2007: net current liabilities RMB608,326,000). Although most of the bank financing of the
Group is in the form of short-term bank loans, the directors are confident that the Group will be able to renew its
short-term bank loan facilities upon maturity. In addition, the Group had unutilised banking facilities granted by
certain banks in an aggregate amount of approximately RMB700,000,000 as at 31 December 2008 (Note 21(a)) which
the Group could utilise in order to meet its short-term cash needs.

In addition, management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve (comprises undrawn borrowing
facility and cash and cash equivalents (Note 17)) based on expected cash flow.

The Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities mainly includes bank borrowings and trade and other payables.
Most of trade and other payables are due within 12 months and the balances of them equal their carrying balances as
the impact of discounting is not significant. The analysis of the maturity groupings of bank borrowings is set out in
Note 21.
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3.2

3.3

Financial risk management (continued)
Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as total debt divided by total capital. Total debt is total borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings as shown
in the consolidated balance sheet) plus loan due to a shareholder. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’, as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet, plus total debt. The gearing ratios at 31 December 2008 and 2007 were as follows:

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total borrowings (Note 21) 1,577,016 1,080,457
Loan due to a shareholder 107,890 109,569
Total debt 1,684,906 1,190,026
Total equity 6,417,615 5,988,335
Total capital 8,102,521 7,178,361
Gearing ratio 20.79% 16.58%

The small increase in the gearing ratio during 2008 resulted primarily from the issue of convertible bonds (Notes 21(b)).
Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale securities) is based
on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques.
The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance
sheet date. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward exchange rates at the
balance sheet date.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their
fair values. The fair value of other financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.
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4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below:

@)

(b)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in Note 2.7. The recoverable amounts of each identified cash-generating units have been determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates (see Note 8).

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group had not reported impairment losses (2007: nil) for impairment loss
on goodwill based on such calculations.

The Group would not be able to reverse any impairment losses on goodwill recognised if the actual gross margin had
been higher or the post-tax discounted rate lower than management’s estimates.

Impairment loss of goodwill would not need to be recognised even if the actual gross profit margin had been 5%
lower or the post-tax discounted rate had been 5% higher than management’s estimates with all other variables held
constant.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group also tests whether property, plant and equipment have suffered any impairment, whenever events
or changes in circumstances, indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable in accordance with the
accounting policy as stated in Note 2.7. Similar to impairment of goodwill, the recoverable amounts of the property,
plant and equipments have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of
estimates which are similar to (a) stated above.

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group reported impairment losses amounting to RMB162,468,000 (2007:
RMB141,008,000) for property, plant and equipment based on such calculations (Note 7).

If the estimated gross profit margin at 31 December 2008 had been 5% lower than management’s estimates at 31
December 2008, the Group would have recognised a further impairment against property, plant and equipment by
RMB82,191,000 (unaudited).

If the estimated post-tax discount rate applied to the discounted cash flows adopted in the value-in-use calculations
had been 5% higher than management’s estimates, the Group would have recognised a further impairment against
property, plant and equipment by RMB17,862,000 (unaudited).

If the actual gross margin had been 5% higher or the post-tax discounted rate had been 5% lower than management’s
estimates, in 2008 the Group would be able to reduce impairment losses by RMB80,341,000 (unaudited) and
RMB23,076,000 (unaudited) that had been recognised on these assets in current year.
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5 Segment information
(@ Primary reporting format — geographical segment
The Group’s operating activities are mainly conducted in the PRC. An analysis by geographical segment is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2008

Other
Qingdao Shandong Huabei Huanan
Region Regions Region Region Overseas  Eliminations  Consolidated
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note a)
Turnover
External sales 6,976,316 548,561 2,598,236 5,299,059 359,210 — 15,781,382
Inter-segment sales 296,769 1,881,516 332,356 92,622 2,096 (2,605,359) —
7,273,085 2,430,077 2,930,592 5,391,681 361,306 (2,605,359) 15,781,382
Results
Segment results 796,988 21,649 57,140 421,313 66,636 815 1,364,541
Unallocated expenses, net (185,764)
Operating profit 1,178,777
Finance costs (70,712)
Share of profit of jointly
controlled entity and associates 23 — — — — — 23
Profit before income tax 1,108,089
Income tax expense (374,317)
Profit for the year 733,772
Other information
Depreciation 106,374 82,965 120,570 212,879 771 — 523,559
Amortisation 8,104 5,856 9,914 8,511 586 — 32,971
Impairment of property, plant and
equipment 886 8,834 145,841 6,907 — — 162,468
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5 Segment information (continued)

(@ Primary reporting format — geographical segment (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2007

Other
Qingdao Shandong Huabei Huanan
Region Regions Region Region Overseas  Eliminations  Consolidated
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note a)
Turnover
External sales 5,546,386 947,763 2,410,880 4,278,920 345,943 — 13,529,892
Inter-segment sales 177,819 1,163,419 169,649 36,178 — (1,547,065) —
5,724,205 2,111,182 2,580,529 4,315,098 345,943 (1,547,065) 13,529,892
Results
Segment results 673,383 23,493 (47,026) 412,792 80,390 — 1,143,032
Unallocated expenses, net (135,726)
Operating profit 1,007,306
Finance costs (15,009)
Share of loss of jointly controlled
entity and associates 283 — — — — — 283
Profit before income tax 992,580
Income tax expense (413,812)
Profit for the year 578,768
Other information
Depreciation 117,784 53,343 129,680 203,672 708 — 505,187
Amortisation 5,542 1,921 8,737 6,820 — — 23,020
Impairment of property, plant and
equipment 37,001 20,357 81,132 2,518 — — 141,008
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5 Segment information (continued)
(@ Primary reporting format — geographical segment (continued)

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investments in associates, inventories,
trade and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents. Unallocated assets comprise deferred tax assets.

Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities. Unallocated liabilities comprise items such as taxation, borrowings, and
derivative financial instruments.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment (Note 7), leasehold land and land use rights (Note
6), and intangible assets (Note 8).

The segment assets and liabilities at 31 December 2008 and capital expenditure for the year then ended are as follows:

As at 31 December 2008

Other
Qingdao Shandong Huabei Huanan
Region Regions Region Region Overseas  Eliminations  Consolidated
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note a)
Assets
Segment assets 1,955,205 2,472,515 2,336,755 4,966,693 — (1,108,036) 10,623,132
Interests in jointly controlled
entity and associates 28,697 — — — — — 28,697
Unallocated assets 1,880,402
12,532,231
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 1,082,892 683,535 1,047,390 2,350,044 — (1,100,306) 4,063,555
Unallocated liabilities 2,051,061
6,114,616
Capital expenditure 106,731 347,884 69,642 407,245 137 — 931,639
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5 Segment information (continued)

@

(b)

Primary reporting format — geographical segment (continued)

The segment assets and liabilities at 31 December 2007 and capital expenditure for the year then ended are as follows:

As at 31 December 2007

Other
Qingdao Shandong Huabei Huanan
Region Regions Region Region Overseas  Eliminations  Consolidated
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note a)
Assets
Segment assets 2,404,599 2,038,935 2,398,711 4,835,985 — (1,045,266) 10,632,964
Interests in associates 27,882 — — — — — 27,882
Unallocated assets 884,389
11,545,235
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 1,138,448 604,075 872,838 2,121,114 — (1,097,462) 3,639,013
Unallocated liabilities 1,917,887
5,556,900
Capital expenditure 173,328 703,138 107,769 283,171 1,087 — 1,268,493

Note a: The segment represents sales of goods to regions (including Hong Kong) out of the PRC through the Group’s overseas
subsidiaries or the Group’s PRC branches and subsidiaries established for overseas sales. Separable segment assets and liabilities
are insignificant to the Group as a whole.

Secondary reporting format — business segment

The Group is mainly engaged in the production and distribution of beer products, accordingly, no analysis of business
segment information is provided.
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6 Leasehold land and land use rights

The Group’s interests in leasehold land and land use rights represent prepaid operating lease payments and their net book values
are analysed as follows:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Opening 717,172 676,759 65,878 68,892
Additions 166,040 59,640 — —
Amortisation (22,188) (17,372) (1,847) (1,863)
Disposals (18,947) (1,855) — (1,1512)
842,077 717,172 64,031 65,878

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Outside Hong Kong, held on:

Leases of between 10 to 50 years 842,077 717,172 64,031 65,878

As at 31 December 2008, the relevant legal procedures for the certificates of the Group’s land use right with carrying value of
approximately RMB39,606,000 (2007: RMB991,000) is still in process. According to the legal adviser’s opinion, the directors
of the Company are of the view that there is no substantial legal restriction for the acquisition of the certificates, which does not
have significant impact on the Group’s operation and it is unnecessary to accrue the impairment of intangible assets.

Plant and buildings of certain subsidiaries of the Group were located on parcels of allocated land (“Allocated Lands”) owned
by certain local municipal governments and these lands are occupied by the Group at nil consideration. Carrying values of the
associated buildings and facilities constructed thereon were approximately RMB71,170,000 as at 31 December 2008 (2007:
RMB94,776,000). The Company’s directors consider that there is no significant adverse impact on the operations of the Group.
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Property, plant and equipment

Group
Plant and Motor Other Construction
buildings Machinery vehicles equipment -in-progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2007
Cost (note a) 2,907,372 5,675,937 395,100 298,462 228,421 9,505,292
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (814,970) (3,135,144) (244,775) (211,809) — (4,406,698)
Net book amount 2,092,402 2,540,793 150,325 86,653 228,421 5,098,594
Year ended 31 December 2007
Opening net hook amount 2,092,402 2,540,793 150,325 86,653 228,421 5,098,594
Acquisition of subsidiaries 14,400 356 1,610 865 — 17,231
Additions 16,403 44,969 28,265 38,259 1,044,347 1,172,243
Transfers 294,374 728,381 4,296 20,336 (1,047,387) —
Disposals (4,109) (17,934) (9,583) (4,302) — (32,927)
Depreciation (80,483) (360,878) (27,698) (36,128) — (505,187)
Impairment charges (note b) (1,058) (138,102) (1,839) (10) — (141,008)
Closing net book amount 2,331,929 2,797,586 145,376 108,674 225,381 5,608,946
At 31 December 2007
Cost 3,215,238 6,316,520 394,397 344,989 225,381 10,496,525
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (883,309) (3,518,934) (249,021) (236,315) — (4,887,579)
Net book amount 2,331,929 2,797,586 145,376 108,674 225,381 5,608,946
Year ended 31 December 2008
Opening net hook amount 2,331,929 2,797,586 145,376 108,674 225,381 5,608,946
Acquisition of subsidiaries — 534 886 106 — 1,526
Additions 11,168 7,650 20,283 34,937 669,604 743,642
Transfers 232,265 526,630 6,921 20,499 (786,315) —
Disposals (30,214) (10,559) (8,705) (1,295) — (50,773)
Depreciation (86,972) (374,193) (24,528) (37,866) — (523,559)
Impairment charges (note b) (54,547) (105,859) (1,581) (18) (463) (162,468)
Closing net book amount 2,403,629 2,841,789 138,652 125,037 108,207 5,617,314
At 31 December 2008
Cost 3,401,560 6,751,802 386,139 381,719 108,670 11,029,890
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (997,931) (3,910,013) (247,487) (256,682) (463) (5,412,576)
Net book amount 2,403,629 2,841,789 138,652 125,037 108,207 5,617,314
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7 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(b) Company

Plant and Motor Other Construction
buildings Machinery vehicles equipment -in-progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2007
Cost 549,475 1,285,750 115,016 144,821 66,836 2,161,898
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (172,450) (831,155) (111,064) (89,698) — (1,204,367)
Net book amount 377,025 454,595 3,952 55,123 66,836 957,531
Year ended 31 December 2007
Opening net book amount 377,025 454,595 3,952 55,123 66,836 957,531
Additions 1,381 1,137 2,200 14,467 93,117 112,302
Transfer to investment property (21,436) — — — — (21,436)
Transfers 10,825 110,771 2,330 16,173 (140,099) —
Disposals — (5,104) (95) (623) — (5,822)
Depreciation (13,101) (55,676) (6,027) (21,073) — (95,877)
Closing net book amount 354,694 505,723 2,360 64,067 19,854 946,698
At 31 December 2007
Cost 534,064 1,367,576 118,110 166,791 19,854 2,206,395
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (179,370) (861,853) (115,750) (102,724) — (1,259,697)
Net book amount 354,694 505,723 2,360 64,067 19,854 946,698
Year ended 31 December 2008
Opening net book amount 354,694 505,723 2,360 64,067 19,854 946,698
Additions 1,572 9,486 2,911 16,424 46,396 76,789
Transfers 6,290 36,352 2,158 4,236 (49,036) —
Disposals (5,896) (2,404) (58) (561) — (8,919)
Depreciation (13,229) (57,403) (5,283) (20,159) — (96,074)
Impairment — (422) — — (463) (885)
Closing net book amount 343,431 491,332 2,088 64,007 16,751 917,609
At 31 December 2008
Cost 530,833 1,396,990 122,199 172,486 16,751 2,239,259
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (187,402) (905,658) (120,111) (108,479) — (1,321,650)
Net book amount 343,431 491,332 2,088 64,007 16,751 917,609
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7

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation expense of approximately RMB482,245,000 (2007: RMB458,822,000) has been charged in cost of goods sold,
RMB19,260,000 (2007: RMB19,852,000) in selling and marketing expenses and approximately RMB22,054,000 (2007:
RMB26,513,000) in administrative expenses of the consolidated income statement.

As at 31 December 2008, there was no bank borrowing that was secured on machinery (2007: RMB37,002,000).

As at 31 December 2008, ownership certificates of certain buildings (“Building Ownership Certificates”) of the Group with
respective carrying values of approximately RMB527,806,000(2007: RMB434,336,000) had not yet been obtained. The Group is
currently in application of building ownership certificates for buildings with carrying value of approximately RMB420,189,000.
Other buildings with the aggregate carrying values of approximately RMB107,617,000 are currently not in the application process
as the Group cannot locate certain necessary documents. Consultations had been made with the Company’s legal adviser, and the
Company’s directors are of the view that this situation will not prevent the Group from legal possession of such facilities as there
is no legal restriction for the Group to apply for and obtain the building ownership certificates, therefore, there are no significant
adverse impact on the operations of the Group, and then, no provision for fixed assets impairment is considered necessary.

Machinery includes the following amounts where the Group is a lessee under a finance lease:

As at
31 December 31 December
2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost — capitalised finance leases 10,214 10,214

Accumulated depreciation (1,175) (580)

Net book amount 9,039 9,634

Note:

a. Included in prior year additions were certain assets purchased by a subsidiary of the Group from a local third party brewery company
(the “Vendor™) at the purchase price of approximately RMB123 million. After the purchase, that subsidiary was advised by the Vendor
that one of its major creditors (“the Creditor”) had a claim against it for the transaction and the subsidiary might be involved in the future
settlement of the dispute. As at the date of approval of the financial statements, no formal claim had been lodged against the subsidiary nor
the Group. The directors of the Company consider that such incident would not lead to any significant contingent liabilities nor adverse
financial impact to the Group.

b. The Group performed impairment assessments on the carrying values of certain fixed assets of the Group as at 31 December 2008 based

on the accounting policy set out in Note 2.7.

The Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) are identified according to operating segment. The recoverable amounts of CGU have been
determined based on the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use with support of valuation performed by independent
third party valuer and/or management. These calculations use post-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 2%
which does not exceed the long-term average growth rate of the brewery industry in the PRC.
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7 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The key assumptions used for calculations are as follows:

Five Star Three Ring  Gansu Nongken
Company Company Company
Budgeted gross margin of product sales 21.2% 24.4% 23.0%
Discount rate (a) 15.6% 15.6% 15.6%

@) Post-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections.

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of each CGU within the operating segment.

Management determined budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its expectation of market developments. The
weighted average growth rates used are consistent with the PRC brewery industry forecasts included in industry reports. The

discount rates used are post-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs.

As a result of performing such assessments, an impairment loss of approximately RMB162,468,000 (2007: RMB141,008,000)
relating to fixed assets of certain CGUs was recognised, with the details set out as follows:

RMB’000

Five Star Company* 65,933
Gansu Nongken Company* 50,242
Three Ring Company* 28,631
Other subsidiaries 17,662
162,468

* Defined in Notes 9.

The market share of the Group in these CGUs had been declining in recent years due to the more fierce competition than
expected.
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8 Intangible assets
(@ Group
Goodwill Trademarks Technology Software
(iii) (i)  know-how (ii) and others Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2007
Cost 320,228 115,092 18,629 42,022 495,971
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment (197,411) (39,677) (14,305) (12,085) (263,478)
Net book amount 122,817 75,415 4,324 29,937 232,493
Year ended 31 December 2007
Opening net book amount 122,817 75,415 4,324 29,937 232,493
Additions — — — 19,379 19,379
Amortisation — (413) (1,863) (3,372) (5,648)
Disposal — (8,955) — — (8,955)
Closing net book amount 122,817 66,047 2,461 45,944 237,269
At 31 December 2007
Cost 320,228 106,135 18,629 61,401 506,393
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment (197,411) (40,088) (16,168) (15,457) (269,124)
Net book amount 122,817 66,047 2,461 45,944 237,269
Year ended 31 December 2008
Opening net book amount 122,817 66,047 2,461 45,944 237,269
Additions — — — 19,579 19,579
Amortisation — (413) (1,864) (4,981) (7,258)
Disposal — — — (122) (122)
Closing net book amount 122,817 65,634 597 60,420 249,468
At 31 December 2008
Cost 320,228 106,135 18,629 80,858 525,850
Accumulated amortization and
impairment (197,411) (40,501) (18,032) (20,438) (276,382)
Net book amount 122,817 65,634 597 60,420 249,468
e e QUANE S 1
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8 Intangible assets (continued)

(b) Company

Software
Trademarks (i) and others Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2007
Cost 100,000 17,200 117,200
Accumulated amortisation (33,624) (4,835) (38,459)
Net book amount 66,376 12,365 78,741
Year ended 31 December 2007
Opening net book amount 66,376 12,365 78,741
Additions — 18,984 18,984
Amortisation charge — (2,231) (2,231)
Closing net book amount 66,376 29,118 95,494
At 31 December 2007
Cost 100,000 36,184 136,184
Accumulated amortisation (33,624) (7,066) (40,690)
Net book amount 66,376 29,118 95,494
Year ended 31 December 2008
Opening net book amount 66,376 29,118 95,494
Additions — 10,624 10,624
Amortisation charge — (3,766) (3,766)
Disposal — (122) (122)
Closing net book amount 66,376 35,854 102,230
At 31 December 2008
Cost 100,000 46,686 146,686
Accumulated amortisation (33,624) (10,832) (44,456)
Net book amount 66,376 35,854 102,230

Amortisation of approximately RMB7,258,000 (2007:

income statement.

RMB5,648,000) is included in administrative expenses of the consolidated
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0)

(i)

(iii)

Intangible assets (continued)

Trademarks

Trademarks mainly include the “TSINGTAO BEER” trademark which was injected by the founding shareholders into the
Company on 16 June 1993 as their capital contributions. The recorded value of the trademark was assessed based on the

results of the valuation as approved by the State-Owned Assets Administration Bureau of the PRC.

The directors are of the view that the “TSINGTAO BEER” trademark has an indefinite useful life, accordingly, it is not
subject to amortisation but annual impairment assessments.

Other trademarks were acquired as a result of acquisitions of certain subsidiaries. They are amortised over their estimated
useful lives ranging from 5 to 10 years. The costs of these trademarks were recognised according to their respective fair
values at the dates of acquisition.

Technology known-how

Technology know-how was injected by a minority shareholder of a subsidiary into that subsidiary during its re-organisation.
It was recorded at a value agreed among all the shareholders of that subsidiary and is amortised over an expected period of
inflow of economic benefits of 10 years.

Goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUSs).

A summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below:

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Fuzhou Company*/Xiamen Company*/Zhangzhou Company*/Dongnan Sales
Company* — all within one defined cash generating unit, Dongnan Region
(South-eastern district of the PRC) 114,031 114,031
Others 8,786 8,786
122,817 122,817

* Defined in Note 9.

The recoverable amounts of CGU have been determined based on the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. These calculations use post-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 2% which
does not exceed the long-term average growth rate of the brewery industry in the PRC.
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(iii)

@

Intangible assets (continued)
Goodwill (Continued)

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows:

Dongnan Region

Budgeted gross margin of product sales 32.5%
Discount rate (a) 15.6%

(@  Post-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections.

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of each CGU within the operating segment.

Management determined budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its expectation of market developments.
The weighted average growth rates used are consistent with the PRC brewery industry forecasts included in industry
reports. The discount rates used are post-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs.

As a result of such assessment, no goodwill had been assessed to have been impaired. The post-tax discount rate and gross
profit margin used in the year ended 31 December 2007 for the CGU were 15.6% and 38.2%, respectively. The decrease

in gross profit margin adopted in current year was mainly due to the expected more fierce marketing competition of the
South-eastern region of the PRC.

Investment in and loans to subsidiaries — Company

Investments in subsidiaries

Company
2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Unlisted equity investments — cost less impairment provisions 3,782,143 1,857,838
Loans to subsidiaries 1,218,383 2,704,878

The loans to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest bearing, denominated in RMB. According to the Group’s long-term
supporting strategy to subsidiaries, these loans are renewable upon their maturity and the directors consider the loans to
subsidiaries as non-current assets. The carrying amount of these borrowings approximated to their respective fair values as
at 31 December 2008, the effective interest rates dominated are similar to the market interest rate.
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@

Investment in and loans to subsidiaries — Company (continued)

Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2008:

Name Place of Incorporation Registered capital Interest held Principal activities
Directly Indirectly
Shenzhen Tsingtao Brewery Huanan Holding Company  Shenzhen, the PRC RMB200,000,000 100% — Investment holding
Limited (“Huanan Holding Company”) (e)(iii)
Tsingtao Brewery (Zhuhai) Company Limited Zhuhai, the PRC RMB60,000,000 — 78.65% Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Sanshui) Company Limited Sanshui, the PRC RMBA41,335,505 — 75% Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Chenzhou) Company Limited Chenzhou, the PRC RMB70,000,000  88.80% — Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Huangshi) Company Limited Huangshi, the PRC RMB5,000,000 5% 95% Manufacture and domestic
(“Huangshi Company”) (e)(iii) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Yingcheng) Company Limited Yingcheng, the PRC RMB5,000,000 5% 95% Manufacture and domestic
(“Yingcheng Company”) (e)(iii) trading of beer
Shenzhen Tsingtao Beer Asahi Company Limited Shenzhen, the PRC US$30,000,000 51% — Manufacture and trading
(“Shenzhen Asahi”) of beer
Shenzhen Huanan Tsingtao Brewery Sales Company Shenzhen, the PRC RMB20,000,000 100% — Domestic trading of beer
Limited (“Huanan Sales Company”) (e)(iii)
Tsingtao Brewery (Nanning) Company Limited Nanning, the PRC RMB730,000,000 — 75% Manufacture and domestic
(“Nanning Company”) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Changsha) Company Limited Changsha, the PRC RMBG68,000,000 70% 30% Manufacture and domestic
(“Changsha Company”) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery Huadong Holding Company Limited ~ Shanghai, the PRC RMB100,000,000 100% — Investment holding
(“Huadong Holding Company”) (e)(iii)
Tsingtao Brewery Huadong Shanghai Sales Company Shanghai, the PRC RMB50,300,000  94.04% 5.96% Domestic trading of beer
Limited (“Shanghai Sales Company”) (c)(i)
Tsingtao Brewery Huadong Nanjing Sales Nanjing, the PRC RMBL,000,000 — 99.93% Domestic trading of beer

Company Limited
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9 Investment in and loans to subsidiaries — Company (continued)

(@ Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Name Place of Incorporation Registered capital Interest held Principal activities
Directly Indirectly
Tsingtao Brewery (Shanghai) Company Limited Shanghai, the PRC RMB50,000,000 5% 95% Manufacture and domestic
(“Shanghai Company”) (e)(iii) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Wuhu) Company Limited Wuhu, the PRC RMB114,290,000  84.25% 15.75% Manufacture and domestic
(“Wuhu Company”) (c)(i), (e)(iii) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Maanshan) Company Limited Maanshan, the PRC RMB85,000,000  94.12% 5.64% Manufacture and domestic
(“Maanshan Company”) (c)(i) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery Shanghai Songjiang Company Limited ~ Shanghai, the PRC US$36,640,000 5% — Manufacture and domestic
(“Songjiang Company”) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery Huadong Hangzhou Sales Company ~ Hangzhou, the PRC RMBL,000,000 — 100% Domestic trading of beer
Limited (“Hangzhou Sales Company”) ()
Tsingtao Brewery (Shouguang) Company Limited Shouguang, the PRC RMB60,606,060 99% — Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Weifang) Company Limited Weifang, the PRC RMB75,000,000 100% — Manufacture and domestic
(“Weifang Company”) (c)(i), (d), (e)(iii) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery No. 3 Company Limited Pingdu, the PRC RMB230,000,000  99.78% 0.22% Manufacture and domestic
(“No. 3 Company”) (c)(ii) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Xuzhou) Huaihai Sales Company Xuzhou, the PRC RMB55,000,000 100% — Domestic trading of heer
Limited (“Huaihai Sales Company”)
Tsingtao Brewery (Xuzhou) Company Limited Peixian, the PRC RMB39,336,899 — 66% Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Xuzhou) Pengcheng Company Pengcheng, the PRC RMB245,000,000 98.16% 1.84% Manufacture and domestic
Limited (“Pengcheng Company”) (c)(ii), (e)(ii) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Xuecheng) Company Limited Xuecheng, the PRC RMB45,000,000 — 85% Manufacture and domestic
trading of heer
Tsingtao Brewery (Tengzhou) Company Limited Tengzhou, the PRC RMB61,020,000  76.65% 23.35% Manufacture and domestic

(“Tengzhou Company”) (c)(i), (e)(ii)

trading of beer
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Investment in and loans to subsidiaries — Company (continued)

Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Name Place of Incorporation Registered capital Interest held Principal activities
Directly Indirectly
Tsingtao Brewery (Heze) Company Limited Heze, the PRC RMB130,000,000  93.08% 6.92% Manufacture and domestic
(“Heze Company™) (c)(i), (e)(iii) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Sugian) Company Limited Sugian, the PRC RMB25,000,000 62% 38% Manufacture and domestic
(“Sugian Company”) (c)(i), (e)(iii) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Taierzhuang) Malt Company Limited  Taierzhuang, the PRC RMB5,000,000 — 90.20% Manufacture and domestic
trading of malt
Beijing Tsingtao Brewery Three Ring Company Limited  Beijing, the PRC US$28,900,000 29% 25% Manufacture and domestic
(“Three Ring Company”) trading of beer
Beijing Five Star Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited Beijing, the PRC RMB862,000,000  37.64% 25% Manufacture and domestic
(“Five Star Company”) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Langfang) Company Limited Langfang, the PRC RMB20,000,000 5% 95% Manufacture and domestic
(“Langfang Company”) (e)(iii) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery Xi‘an Han’s Group Company Limited  Xi’an, the PRC RMB287,900,000 100% — Manufacture and domestic
(“Xi'an Company”) (e)(i) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery Weinan Company Limited Weinan, the PRC RMB50,000,000 28% 2% Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Gansu) Nongken Company Limited ~ Lanzhou, the PRC RMBL74,420,800 — 55.06% Manufacture and domestic
(“Gansu Nongken Company”) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery Wuwei Company Limited Lanzhou, the PRC RMB36,100,000 — 54.91% Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery Hansi Baoji Company Limited Baoji, the PRC RMB30,000,000 — 100% Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Anshan) Company Limited Anshan, the PRC RMB50,000,000 60% — Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Xingkaihu) Company Limited Jixi, the PRC RMB130,000,000 100% — Manufacture and domestic
(“Xingkaihu Company”) (c)(i), (e)(iii) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Mishan) Company Limited Mishan, the PRC RMB23,400,000 100% — Manufacture and domestic

(“Mishan Company”) (c)(i), (e)(iii)

trading of beer
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9 Investment in and loans to subsidiaries — Company (continued)

(@ Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Name Place of Incorporation Registered capital Interest held Principal activities
Directly Indirectly
Tsingtao Brewery (Haerbin) Company Limited Haerbin, the PRC RMB52,000,000 100% — Manufacture and domestic
(“Haerbin Company”) (c)(i), (e)(iii) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Penglai) Company Limited Penglai, the PRC RMB37,500,000 80% — Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Rongcheng) Company Limited Rongcheng, the PRC RMB20,000,000 70% — Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery Import/Export Company Limited Qingdao, the PRC RMB11,000,000 100% — Import/Export trading of
(“Import/Export Company”) (e)(iii) beer
Tsingtao Brewery (No. 5) Company Limited Qingdao, the PRC RMB34,610,000 100% — Manufacture and domestic
(“No. 5 Company”) (e)(iii) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery Kai Fa Company Limited Qingdao, the PRC RMBL,320,000 100% — Domestic trading of beer
(“KaiFa Company”) (9)
Tsingtao Brewery (Pingyuan) Company Limited Pingyuan, the PRC RMB25,000,000 100% — Manufacture and domestic
(“Pingyuan Company”) (c)(i), (d), (e)(iii) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Rizhao) Company Limited Rizhao, the PRC RMB290,000,000 100% — Manufacture and domestic
(“Rizhao Company”) (c)(ii), (d), (e)(ii) trading of heer
Chengdu Tsingtao Brewery Xinan Sales Company Chengdu, the PRC RMB100,000,000 95% 5% Domestic trading of beer
Limited
Tsingtao Brewery (Chongging) Company Limited Chongging, the PRC RMB60,000,000  88.92% 11.08% Manufacture and domestic
(“Chongging Company”) (c)(i), (e)(iii) trading of heer
Tsingtao Brewery (Luzhou) Company limited Luzhou, the PRC RMB111,110,000 — 95% Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery (Taizhou) Company Limited Taizhou, the PRC RMB70,000,000  86.43% 13.57% Manufacture and domestic
(“Taizhou Company”) (c)(i), (e)(iii) trading of heer
Tsingtao Brewery (Hong Kong) Trading Company Hong Kong, the PRC HK$40,500,000 100% — Trading of beer in Hong
Limited (“Hong Kong Company”) Kong
Tsingtao Brewery (Hanzhong) Company Limited Hanzhong, the PRC RMB29,410,000 — 66% Manufacture and domestic

trading of beer
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Investment in and loans to subsidiaries — Company (continued)

Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Name

Place of Incorporation

Registered capital

Tsingtao Brewery Beifang Sales Company Limited
(“Beifang Sales Company”) (c)(i), (e)(iii)

Haerhin Northeast Tsingtao Brewery Sales Company
Limited(“ Northeast Sales Company”)(g)

Tsingtao Brewery (Laoshan) Company Limited

Tsingtao Brewery (Suizhou) Company Limited

Tsingtao Xianghong Shangwu Company Limited

(“Xianghong Shangwu”) (e)(iii)

Tsingtao Brewery Chenzhou Sales Company Limited

Tsingtao Brewery (Xiamen) Company Limited
(“Xiamen Company”)

Xiamen Tsingtao Brewery Dongnan Sales Company
Limited (“Dongnan Sales Company”) (c)(i)

Tsingtao Brewery (Fuzhou) Company Limited
(“Fuzhou Company”)

Tsingtao Brewery (Zhangzhou) Company Limited
(“Zhangzhou Company”) (c)(iii)

Tsingtao Brewery (Jinan) Company Limited
(“Jinan Company”) (c)(ii)

Tsingtao Brewery (Chengdu) Company Limited
(“Chengdu Company”)(c)(ii)

Beijing, the PRC

Haerbin, the PRC

Qingdao, the PRC

Suizhou, the PRC

Qingdao, the PRC

Chenzhou, the PRC

Xiamen, the PRC

Xiamen, the PRC

Fuzhou, the PRC

Zhangzhou, the PRC

Jinan, the PRC

Chengdu, the PRC

RMB89,980,000

RMB10,000,000

RMB16,635,592

RMB24,000,000

RMB6,000,000

RMBL,000,000

RMB90,000,000

RMB215,000,000

US$26,828,100

RMB100,000,000

RMB560,000,000

RMB200,000,000

Interest held Principal activities
Directly Indirectly
95% 5% Domestic trading of beer

85%

50%

100%

97.44%

100%

100%

15% Domestic trading of beer
46.90% Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer

90% Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer

- Car rental services

99.44% Domestic trading of beer

100% Manufacture and Domestic
trading of beer

2.56% Domestic trading of beer
100% Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer

90% Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer

- Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer

— Manufacture and domestic
trading of beer
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9 Investment in and loans to subsidiaries — Company (continued)
(@ Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Name Place of Incorporation Registered capital Interest held

Directly Indirectly

Principal activities

Qingdao Guangrunlong Logistics Company Limited Qingdao, the PRC RMB6,620,000 100% — Logistics services and

management
Tsingtao Brewery Yulin Company Limited Yulin, the PRC RMB55,000,000 — 100% Manufacture and domestic
(“Yulin Company”) trading of beer
Tsingtao Brewery Haifeng Warehouse Company Limited ~ Qingdao, the PRC RMB10,000,000 — 55% Warehousing, packaging

and logistics

Manufacture and Domestic
trading of beer

Tsingtao Brewery (Yangzhou) Company Limited
(“Yangzhou Company”) (f)

Yangzhou, the PRC RMB5,000,000 20% —

Maanshan Zhongshan Recycle Bottle and Box Maanshan, the PRC RMB300,000 — 99.76% Recycling of waste
Company Limited brewery package
Tengzhou Tianfa Waste Bottle Recycling Tengzhou, the PRC RMB300,000 — 98.50% Recycling of waste
Company Limited brewery package
Xuzhou Peixian Xinglong Waste Bottle Recycling Xuzhou, the PRC RMB600,000 — 69.17% Recycling of waste
Company Limited brewery package
Yangzhou Zhongdan Brewery Materials Recycling Yangzhou, the PRC RMB,000,000 — 35.95% Recycling of waste
Company Limited brewery package
Penglai Waste Bottle Recycling Station Penglai, the PRC RMB520,000 — 80% Recycling of waste
brewery package
Tsingtao Brewery Cultural Communication Company Qingdao, the PRC RMB3,500,000 100% — Pre-packaged food,
Limited (“Cultural Communication Company”) accommodation and
design
Tsingtao Brewery International Travel Agency Qingdao, the PRC RMB1,580,000 — 100% Inbound and domestic
Company Limited travel service
Xi'an Fengyuan Materials Recycling Company Limited ~ Xi'an, the PRC RMB500,000 — 95% Daily waste materials
(“Xi‘an Fengyuan Company”) (g) recycling
Tsingtao Brewery Construction Company Limited Qingdao, the PRC RMB13,142,200 100% — Indoor decoration
(“Construction Company”) (b)(i) industrial equipment
fixing
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(b)

Investment in and loans to subsidiaries — Company (continued)
Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

Name Place of Incorporation Registered capital Interest held Principal activities
Directly Indirectly

Tsingtao Brewery Business and Trade Company Limited  Qingdao, the PRC RMB2,000,000 — 51% Pre-packaged food
(“Business and Trade Company”) (b)(ii)

Xi‘an Jufeng Materials Recycling Company Limited Xi‘an, the PRC RMB500,000 - 90% Recycling Resource and
(b)) saling

New subsidiaries established during the year

i In December 2007, the Company acquired 100% equity interests of Construction Company from Tsingtao Brewery
Group Company (“TB Group Company”) at a consideration of RMB2,490,000, paid by cash. The relevant legal
procedures were completed in March 2008.

ii. In December 2008, Business and Trade Company was established by Cultural Communication Company joint with
an independent third party with a registered capital of RMB2,000,000, of which Cultural Communication Company
holds 51%. The relevant legal procedures were completed in December 2008.

iii.  In June 2008, Xi’an Jufeng Materials Recycling Company Limited was established by Xi’an Company joint with an
independent third party with a registered capital of RMB500,000, of which Xi’an Company holds 90% interest. The
relevant legal procedures were completed in June 2008.
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9 Investment in and loans to subsidiaries — Company (continued)
(c) Increase in registered capital of subsidiaries
i In accordance with the Board Resolutions approved in June 2008, the Company converted its loans to 15 subsidiaries

into equity investments with a total amount of RMB 914,010,000 listed below. The relevant legal procedures were
completed in November and December 2008.

Name of subsidiaries RMB’000
Heze Company 120,000
Xingkaihu Company 110,000
Dongnan Sales Company 105,000
Wuhu Company 94,290
Maanshan Company 80,000
Weifang Company 70,000
Taizhou Company 60,000
Beifang Sales Company 60,000
Chongging Company 53,000
Shanghai Sales Company 47,300
Tengzhou Company 46,020
Haerbin Company 30,000
Pingyuan Company 20,000
Sugian Company 15,000
Mishan Company 3,400

Total 914,010

il In May 2008, the Company contributed additional capitals of RMB360,000,000 in cash to Jinan Company,
RMB220,000,000 in cash to No.3 Company, RMB240,000,000 in cash to Pengcheng Company, RMB50,000,000 in
cash to Chengdu Company and RMB280,000,000 in cash to Rizhao Company during the year. All these subsidiaries
are wholly owned by the Company.

iii.  In November 2008, Dongnan Sales Company contributed additional capital of RMB55,008,000 in cash to Zhangzhou
Company.

(d) Inter-group transfer for equity interest in subsidiaries

In June 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with one of its subsidiaries, Tsingtao Brewery Luzhong (Rizhao)
Sales Company Limited to buy 95% of equity interest for Rizhao Company, 70% of equity interest for Weifang Company
and 90% of equity interest for Pingyuan Company at considerations of RMB 51,499,300, RMB1 and RMBL respectively.
The relevant legal procedures were completed in July 2008.
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Investment in and loans to subsidiaries — Company (continued)

Acquisition of minority interests of subsidiaries

In December 2007, the Company signed a conditional agreement with Xi’an Industry Asset Management Company in
order to acquire the 23.9% equity interests held by it in Xi’an Company, a 76.1% owned subsidiary of the Company,
at a consideration of RMB171 million. The procedures were completed on 25 January 2008 and Xi’an Company

became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company thereafter.

In February 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with TB Group Company to buy 10% of equity interest
for Pengcheng Company and 5% of equity interest for Rizhao Company at considerations of RMB10,370,000 and

RMB7,740,000 respectively. The relevant legal procedures were completed in February 2008.

In May 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with TB Group Company to acquire minority equity interests
of its 22 subsidiaries at a consideration of RMB76,940,000 with the details listed below.

Minority interest

Considerations

Name of subsidiaries acquired RMB’000
Huanan Sales Company 5% 26,070
Huanan Holding Company 5% 18,790
No.5 Company 6.21% 11,250
Heze Company 10% 4,590
Weifang Company 30% 3,620
Tengzhou Company 5% 2,290
Sugian Company 5% 2,040
Huadong Holding Company 5% 1,820
Pingyuan Company 10% 1,730
Shanghai Company 5% 1,570
Mishan Company 5% 1,520
Haerbin Company 5% 1,040
Import/Export Company 2.27% 460
Langfang Company 5% 90
Xianghong Shangwu 5% 60
Beifang Sales Company 5% —
Huangshi Company 5% —
Yingcheng Company 5% —
Xingkaihu Company 5% —
Chongging Company 5% —
Wuhu Company 10% —
Taizhou Company 5% —
Total 76,940

The differences between the consideration paid and the relevant shares acquired of the carrying value of net assets of

the subsidiaries are deducted from equity.
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9 Investment in and loans to subsidiaries — Company (continued)

(f)  Pursuant to the provisions of agreements entered into between the Group and TB Group Company in January 2003 and
December 2004 respectively, TB Group Company, being the majority equity owner of Yangzhou Company, entrusted the
Company to control the operations and management of Yangzhou Company. In addition, a majority of the members of the
board of directors of Yangzhou Company are also appointed by the Company. Accordingly, Yangzhou Company has been
consolidated as a subsidiary of the Group because the Group has control over its financial and operating decisions.

(g) Subsidiaries liquidated/put under liquidation

During the year, Hangzhou Sales Company, Northeast Sales Company, Xi’an Fengyuan Company and KaiFa Company were
put into voluntary liquidation, and as at 31 December 2008, the procedures had not yet been completed. The relevant losses
had been recognised in the consolidated income statement in 2008.

The directors of the Company performed impairment tests on the carrying amounts of its investments in and loans lent to
subsidiaries in accordance with the accounting policy as stated in Note 2.7 during the year. Approximately RMB69,458,000,
RMB60,000,000, RMB55,000,000, RMB47,300,000 and RMB36,296,000, with a total of RMB 268,054,000 of impairment
provisions for the investment in subsidiaries were recognised for Three Ring Company, Beifang Sales Company, Huaihai Sales
Company, Shanghai Sales Company and other subsidiaries respectively. The impairment losses arose because of the revised
business strategy of the Group implemented in the geographical region which has led to less optimistic estimated future expected
operating results.

As at 31 December 2008, all the subsidiaries owned by the Company are limited liability companies.

10 Interests in jointly controlled entity and associates — Group

(&) Interests in jointly controlled entity

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted investments, at cost 577 —
Share of results of jointly controlled entity (577) —
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10 Interests in jointly controlled entity and associates — Group (continued)

@

(b)

Interests in jointly controlled entity (Continued)

As at 31 December 2008, particulars of the jointly controlled entity of the Group are as follows:

Country of Registered  Equity Interests held
Name of jointly controlled entity incorporation Capital by the Group Principal Activities
directly indirectly

Tsingtao Brewery Equipment PRC USD350,000 — 50% Beer equipment manufacture
Manufacture Company Limited
(“Equipment Manufacture™)

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entity, and no contingent
liabilities of the venture itself.

Interests in associates

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted investments, at cost 53,227 52,650
Share of results of associates (21,530) (21,768)
Dividends received (3,000) (3,000)
28,697 27,882

In the opinion of the directors, as at 31 December 2008, the underlying values of the associates were not less than the
carrying amounts of these investments.

As at 31 December 2008, particulars of the principal associates of the Group are as follows:

Country of Registered Equity Interests held
Name of associates incorporation Capital by the Group Principal Activities
directly indirectly

Liaoning Shenging Tsingtao Brewery PRC RMB2,000,000 30% — Domestic trading of beer
Company Limited (“Liaoning
Shenging”)
Tsingtao Beer and Asahi Beverages PRC RMB110,000,000 — 40% Manufacture and domestic trading
Company Limited (“Asahi Beverage”) of tea beverages
Tsingtao Brewery Import Export S.AR.L  France Euro152,449 — 40% Import and export sales of beers
Qingdao Zhaoshang Logistics Company PRC RMB20,000,000 30% — Logistics services and management

Limited (“Zhaoshang Logistics”)
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10 Interests in jointly controlled entity and associates — Group (Continued)

(b) Interests in associates (Continued)

The gross assets and liabilities and the Group’s share of results of the principal associates, are as follows:

As at 31 Share of Proift/
Name of associates December Total assets Total liabilities Revenue (loss)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Liaoning Shenging 2008 18,097 10,280 320,329 870
2007 13,218 8,299 205,342 492
Asahi Beverage 2008 83,823 58,173 36,868 (4,124)
2007 89,215 53,254 36,906 (3,751)
Tsingtao Brewery Import 2008 26,861 23,770 67,405 66
Export S.A.R.L 2007 5,67 32,107 93,404 339
Zhaoshang Logistics 2008 73,574 26,600 87,210 4,386
2007 47,084 14,777 77,981 BE5IE
11 Financial instruments by category — Group and Company
Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Assets as per balance sheets
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 13) 10,085 20,223 7,055 12,195
Derivative financial instruments (Note 22) 1,763 — 1,763 —
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments
(Note 15 and 16) 219,833 308,459 102,850 177,872
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17) 2,381,044 1,314,643 1,408,380 689,459
Total 2,612,725 1,643,325 1,520,048 879,526
Liabilities as per balance sheets
Borrowings excluding finance lease liabilities
(Note 21) 1,569,990 1,072,166 1,409,698 545,230
Finance lease liabilities (Note 21) 7,026 8,291 — —
Derivative financial instruments (Note 22) — 22,801 22,801
Trade and other payables (Note 25 and 27) 3,611,167 3,253,100 1,068,298 761,620
Total 5,188,183 4,356,358 2,477,996 1,329,651
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Credit quality of financial assets

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to historical information
about counterparty default rates:

(@) Trade receivables
The Group has a policy in place that sales are on cash on delivery terms for most of the domestic customers, and letters of
credit have to be received for overseas customers. Only certain long-term overseas distributors with good credit history and
certain domestic distributors are granted credit terms ranging from three to six months.
(b) Cash and bank and short-term bank deposits
Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Cash on hand 741 1,023 185 236
State-owned banks in the PRC 1,281,327 890,079 884,882 598,228
Listed commercial banks in the PRC 852,933 301,286 392,324 68,226
Foreign invested banks 1,790 2,181 — —
Other domestic banks in the PRC 244,253 120,074 130,989 22,769
2,381,044 1,314,643 1,408,380 689,459
All banks deposits are with respectable banks. None of the bank deposits is considered as exposure to major credit risk.
13 Available-for-sale financial assets — Group and Company
Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Balances as at year beginning 20,223 — 12,195 16,504
Additions — 6,601 — —
Fair value (loss)/gain charged/credited to equity (10,138) 13,622 (5,140) (4,309)
Balances as at year end 10,085 20,223 7,055 12,195
Including:
Listed securities
— Equity securities — PRC 4,416 14,554 2,370 7,810
The available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in RMB.
e e QUANE S 1
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14 Inventories

Group Company

As at 31 December As at 31 December
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials, packaging materials

and auxiliary materials 2,210,611 1,796,609 499,166 299,956
Work-in-progress 279,098 233,496 54,548 44,004
Finished goods 266,628 157,149 89,984 67,102
Inventories, net 2,756,337 2,187,254 643,698 411,062

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost of goods sold amounted to approximately
RMB7,530,045,000 (2007: RMB6,244,784,000).

The write-back inventory provision was 0.01% of the inventory balance as of 31 December 2008.

15 Trade receivables and bills receivables

(@) Trade receivables — Group

As at 31 December

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts due from associates (Notes 40(b)) 45,320 45,518
Receivables due from distributors 285,539 283,534
330,859 329,052

Less: provision for impairment of receivables (249,406) (234,853)
81,453 94,199
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15 Trade receivables and bills receivables (continued)

(@ Trade receivables — Group (Continued)
At 31 December 2008 and 2007, the aging analysis of trade receivables were as follows:
31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Provision for Balance Provision for Balance
impairment of after impairment of after
Amount receivable provision Amount receivable provision
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Less than 1 year 80,843 (835) 80,008 91,382 (443) 90,939
1 to less than 2 years 681 (209) 472 3,835 (987) 2,848
2 to less than 3 years 3,828 (3,828) — 3,302 (3,156) 146
Over 3 years 245,507 (244,534) 973 230,533 (230,267) 266
Total 330,859 (249,406) 81,453 329,052 (234,853) 94,199
(b) Trade receivables — Company

As at 31 December
2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade receivables — third parties 64,596 64,442
Receivables from related parties (Note 40(b)) 45,320 41,659
109,916 106,101
Less: provision for impairment (77,322) (61,984)
32,594 44,117
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15 Trade receivables and bills receivables (continued)

(b) Trade receivables — Company (Continued)

At 31 December 2008 and 2007, the aging analysis of trade receivables were as follows:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Provision for Balance Provision for Balance
impairment of after impairment of after
Amount receivable provision Amount receivable provision
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Less than 1 year 32,594 (5) 32,589 43,631 (14) 43,617
1 to less than 2 years 352 (347) 5 — — —
2 to less than 3 years — — — — — —
Over 3 years 76,970 (76,970) — 62,470 (61,970) 500
Total 109,916 (77,322) 32,594 106,101 (61,984) 44,117

The majority of the Group’s domestic sales are transacted at cash on delivery terms. For export sales transacted out of the
PRC, they are mainly covered by letters of credit. Credit is only granted to customers with good credit history. There is no
concentration of credit risk with respect to the trade receivables balances since the Group has a large number of customers which

are nationally dispersed.

The net book value of accounts receivables approximated to its fair value as at 31 December 2008.

The Group makes specific impairment provision against its doubtful trade receivables balances based on the credit status of
the customers and the existence of any evidence which indicates that a portion or the full amount of the outstanding balance is

uncollectible.

Trade receivables less than six months past due are not considered as impaired. As of 31 December 2008, trade receivables of
RMB78,855,000 (2007: RMB87,810,000) were past due within a period of 6 months. These relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there is no recent history of default.
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15 Trade receivables and bills receivables (continued)

As of 31 December 2008, trade receivables of RMB251,477,000(2007: RMB241,242,000) were impaired. The amount of the
provision was RMB249,406,000 as of 31 December 2008(2007: RMB234,853,000). The individually impaired receivables mainly
relate to distributors who are in difficult economic situations. It was assessed that a portion of the receivables is expected to be

recovered. The aging of these impaired receivables is as follows:

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Up to 6 months 31 298

6 months to less than 1 year 1,430 3,274

1 year to less than 2 year 681 3,835

2 years to less than 3 year 3,828 3,302

Over 3 years 245,507 230,533

Total 251,477 241,242
Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 234,853 238,342

Provision for receivable impairment 15,060 4,869

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (507) (8,358)

At 31 December 249,406 234,853

The creations of provision for impaired receivables have been included in ‘selling expenses’ in the income statement. Amounts
charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The

Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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15 Trade receivables and bills receivables (continued)

(c) Bill receivable — Group and Company

As of 31 December 2008, the aging of the bill receivables is all within 6 months.

16 Deposits, prepayment and other receivables

(@ Group

As at 31 December

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Other receivables — third parties 211,825 278,026
Receivables from related parties 2,187 11,275
214,012 289,301
Deposits, prepayment — third parties 221,284 862,482
Deposits, prepayment from related parties 4,173 —
439,469 1,151,783
Less: provision for impairment (75,632) (75,041)
363,837 1,076,742

At 31 December 2008 and 2007, the aging analysis of deposits, prepayment and other receivables were as follows:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Provision For Balance Provision For Balance
impairment after impairment of after
Amount  of receivable provision Amount receivable provision
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Less than 1 year 325,825 (749) 325,076 1,054,388 (418) 1,053,970
1 to less than 2 years 25,470 (993) 24,477 13,772 (2,328) 11,444
2 to less than 3 years 4,686 (1,978) 2,708 13,099 (7,341) 5,758
Over 3 years 83,488 (71,912) 11,576 70,524 (64,954) 5,570
Total 439,469 (75,632) 363,837 1,151,783 (75,041) 1,076,742
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16 Deposits, prepayment and other receivables (continued)
(@ Group (Continued)

At 31 December 2008 and 2007, deposits, prepayment and other receivables represent the followings:

As at 31 December

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayment for purchase of raw materials 225,456 774,359
Prepayment for purchase of equity interests held by a minority owner in

a subsidiary — 88,123

Prepayment of land use rights 17,992 46,129

Guarantee deposits 24,635 41,420

Others 171,386 201,752

439,469 1,151,783

Less: provision for impairment (75,632) (75,041)

363,837 1,076,742

(b) Company

As at 31 December

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Other receivables — third parties 96,730 161,989
Deposits, prepayment — third parties 9,941 159,505
106,671 321,494
Less: provision for impairment (26,474) (28,234)
80,197 293,260

e e QUANE S 1

ANNUAL REPORT 2008 125



16 Deposits, prepayment and other receivables (continued)
(b) Company (Continued)

At 31 December 2008 and 2007, the aging analysis of deposits, prepayment and other receivables were as follows:

Provision For Balance Provision For Balance

impairment after impairment of after

Amount  of receivable provision Amount receivable provision

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Less than 1 year 36,861 — 36,861 209,894 (32) 209,862
1 to less than 2 years 2,650 — 2,650 80,709 (111) 80,598
2 to less than 3 years 40,585 (100) 40,485 1,110 (505) 605
Over 3 years 26,575 (26,374) 201 29,781 (27,586) 2,195
Total 106,671 (26,474) 80,197 321,494 (28,234) 293,260

17 Cash and cash equivalents — Group and Company

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Cash at bank and on hand 2,380,044 1,284,643 1,408,380 689,459
Short-term bank deposits 1,000 30,000 — —
2,381,044 1,314,643 1,408,380 689,459

18 Income tax recoverable — Group and Company

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Income tax recoverable 55,276 — 45,979 —

As at 31 December 2008, the balance of Income tax recoverable represents the current tax assets of the Group that could
not be offset against current tax liabilities for the entities do not have legally enforceable right to make a single net
payment.
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19 Share capital — Group and Company

As at 31 December 2008, the authorised registered share capital of the Company was RMB1,308,219,178 (as at 31 December 2007:
RMB1,308,219,178) of RMBL1 each.

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Number of Number of

RMB’000 shares (’000) RMB’000 shares (’000)

PRC public shares subject to restriction 417,395 417,395 417,395 417,395

PRC public shares (“A Shares”) 235,755 235,755 285N155 2E5N(55
Overseas public shares (“H Shares”)

(Note 41(a)) 655,069 655,069 655,069 655,069

1,308,219 1,308,219 1,308,219 1,308,219

As at 31 December 2008, all issued share capital had been fully paid up.
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20 Other reserves

(@ Group
Cumulative
Share Capital Surplus  translation
premium reserve reserve adjustments Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note a)

Balance at 1 January 2007, as previous

reported 3,058,231 65,753 669,637 3,005 3,796,626
Opening adjustments for the accounting

policy change — — (236,203) — (236,203)
Balance at 1 January 2007, as restated 3,058,231 65,753 433,434 3,005 3,560,423
Profit appropriation to surplus reserve

(note a) — — 61,785 — 61,785
Fair value gain on of available-for-sale

financial assets — 13,007 — — 13,007
Deferred income tax liabilities for available-

for-sale financial assets — (3,252) — — (3,252)
Translation difference — — — 898 898
Balance at 31 December 2007 3,058,231 75,508 495,219 3,903 3,632,861
Profit appropriation to surplus reserve

(note a) — — 40,889 — 40,889
Fair value loss on available-for-sale financial

assets — (9,794) — — (9,794)
Deferred income tax liabilities for available-

for-sale financial assets — 2,449 — — 2,449
Equity component of convertible bonds, net

of transaction costs (note c) — 380,490 — — 380,490
Deferred tax arising on initially stating the

convertible bonds at fair value

(note 23 (ii)) — (97,426) — — (97,426)
Acquisition of minority interests in

subsidiaries — (115,442) — — (115,442)
Translation difference — — — 156 156
Others — 874 — — 874
Balance at 31 December 2008 3,058,231 236,659 536,108 4,059 3,835,057
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20 Other reserves (continued)

(b)

Company
Share Capital Surplus
premium reserve reserve Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note a)

Balance at 1 January 2007 3,058,231 50,283 433,074 3,541,588
Profit appropriation to surplus reserve — — 18,498 18,498
First time adoption of new CAS — — 43,287 43,287
Gross gain on fair value of available-for-sale

financial assets — 7,310 — 7,310
Deferred income tax liabilities for available-

for-sale financial assets — (1,827) — (1,827)
Transfer — — 360 360
Balance at 31 December 2007 3,058,231 55,766 495,219 3,609,216
Profit appropriation to surplus reserve — — 40,889 40,889
Fair value loss on available-for-sale financial

assets — (5,440) — (5,440)
Deferred income tax liabilities for available-

for-sale financial assets — 1,360 — 1,360
Equity component of convertible bonds, net

of transaction costs (note c) — 380,490 — 380,490
Deferred tax arising on initially stating the

convertible bonds at fair value (note 23(ii)) — (97,426) — (97,426)
Balance at 31 December 2008 3,058,231 334,750 536,108 3,929,089
Note:

@) Statutory reserves

According to the Articles of Association of the Company and the Company Law of the PRC, the Company has to set aside 10%
of its net profit after taxation under the PRC accounting standards for the statutory surplus reserve (except where the reserve
balance has reached 50% of the paid-up share capital of the Company). These reserves are not distributable as cash dividends.

(b)  Basis of profit distribution and appropriation

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and Document Cai Kuai Zi [1995] No.31 issued by the State Ministry of
Finance, appropriations to surplus reserves and discretionary surplus reserves should be made based on the amount of profits as
determined in accordance with the PRC accounting standards and regulations. The Company declares dividends based on the lower
of distributable profits of the Company reported under the PRC accounting standards and HKFRS.
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20 Other reserves (continued)

(c) The equity component of convertible bonds, net of transaction costs is as follows:

RMB’000
Equity component of convertible bonds (Notes 21) 389,702
Less: transaction costs (9,212)
380,490
21 Borrowings — Group and Company
Company

2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current
Bank borrowings (a) 15,868 90,854 — —
Convertible bond (b) 1,137,179 — 1,137,179 —
Finance lease liabilities (c) 4,461 5,726 — —
1,157,508 96,580 1,137,179 —

Current

Bank borrowings (a) 416,943 981,312 272,519 545,230
Finance lease liabilities (c) 2,565 2,565 — —
419,508 983,877 272,519 545,230
Total borrowings 1,577,016 1,080,457 1,409,698 545,230
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@

Borrowings — Group and Company (continued)

Bank borrowings

At 31 December 2008, the Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows:

Group
31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term
bank loans bank loans Total bank loans bank loans Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Repayable:
— Within 1 year 414,907 2,036 416,943 971,096 10,216 981,312
— Between 1 and 5 years — 7,899 7,899 — 80,076 80,076
— Over 5 years — 7,969 7,969 — 10,778 10,778
414,907 17,904 432,811 971,096 101,070 1,072,166
Less: Portion due within 1 year (414,907) (2,036) (416,943) (971,096) (10,216) (981,312)
Long-term portion — 15,868 15,868 — 90,854 90,854
Company

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Bank loans, repayable within 1 year 272,519 545,230

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows:

2008 2007

RMB HK$ Us$ RMB HK$ Us$
Bank borrowings — Group 5.28% 3.89% 6.12% 3.35% 5.02% 6.10%
Bank borrowings — Company 6.11% 6.12% 5.99% — 5.98%

As at 31 December 2008, loans of the Group amounting to approximately RMB6,464,000 (2007: RMB?7,787,000) and
RMB11,440,000 (2007: RMB14,284,000) were guaranteed by the Beijing Development and Reform Committee and the
Beijing Branch of Bank of China, respectively.
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21 Borrowings — Group and Company (continued)

@

(b)

Bank borrowings (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following currencies.

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RMB 239,800 623,977 170,000 180,000
Hong Kong dollars 72,588 60,888 — —
US dollars 102,519 365,230 102,519 365,230
Euros 11,440 14,284 — —
Danish Krone 6,464 7,787 — —
432,811 1,072,166 272,519 545,230

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had aggregate unutilised short term loan facilities of approximately RMB700,000,000
(2007: RMBL1,400,000,000). All are expiring within a year with floating interest rates to be charged on the amount to be
drawn down.

Convertible bond

The Company issued 15,000,000 units of 0.8% coupon convertible bonds with attached warrants subscription rights at a
par value of RMB1,500,000,000 on 2 April 2008. The bonds will mature 6 years from the issue date at their nominal value
of RMB1,500,000,000 with the interest paid once a year. The holders of the bonds have warrants subscription rights to
subscribe newly issued A shares of the Company at the rate of 7 shares per bond. The values of the liability component and
the equity conversion option embedded in the bond offer were determined at the date of issuance of the bonds.

The fair value of the liability component, included in non-current borrowings, was calculated using a market interest rate
for a non-convertible bond in the market with equivalent terms. The residual amount, representing the carrying value of the
bonds after deduction of the fair value of the liability component, represents fair value of the equity conversion option, is
included in shareholders’ equity under other reserves (Note 20), net of income tax effects.

The convertible bond recognised in the balance sheet is calculated as follows:

RMB’000
Face value of the convertible bond issued on 2 April 2008 1,500,000
Equity component (note 20(c)) (389,702)
Transaction costs attributable to liability component (26,245)
Liability component on initial recognition at 2 April 2008 1,084,053
Interest expenses 53,126
Interest paid —
Liability component at 31 December 2008 1,137,179

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible bond at 31 December 2008 amounted to approximately
RMB1,137,179,000. The fair value is calculated using cash flow discounted at the rate of 6.1%.
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©

22

Borrowings — Group and Company (continued)

Finance lease liabilities

As at 31 December

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Less than 1 year 2,565 2,565
1 to less than 2 years 2,565 2,565
2 to less than 3 years 2,565 2,565
Over 3 years 640 3,205
), 285 10,900
Less: Portion due within 1 year (2,565) (2,565)
Finance lease liabilities 5,770 8,335
Less: Unearned finance income (1,309) (2,609)
4,461 5,726
Derivative financial instruments — Group and Company

As at 31 December 2008 As at 31 December 2007
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Forward foreign exchange contracts 1,763 — — 22,801

According to the accounting policy as described in Note 2.9, these derivative instruments were remeasured at their fair
value as at 31 December 2008. The revaluation loss of these contracts held at year end which remained at open position was
approximately RMB24,563,000 and it had been charged to the consolidated income statement.
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23 Deferred income tax — Group and Company

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxed levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
The offset amounts are as follows:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Deferred tax assets:
— Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more
than 12 months — 14,493 — 327
— Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12
months 94,930 160,290 11,796 120,098
94,930 174,783 11,796 120,425
Deferred tax liabilities:
— Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered after
more than 12 months 12,289 16,174 — 1,828
— Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12
months 828 861 — —
13,117 17,035 — 1,828
Deferred tax assets (net) 81,813 157,748 11,796 118,597

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using the applicable principal taxation
rates of entities within the Group from 20% to 25% (2007: 18% to 25%).
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23 Deferred income tax — Group and Company (continued)

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances
within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

(i)  Deferred tax assets

Group
Advertising
Fair value expenses Accruals Loss on
adjustment on not tax not tax derivative Deferred
depreciation  deductible in Impairment  deductible in financial government
of fixed assets  current year provision  current year instruments grants Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2007 3,789 3,687 9,395 53,380 562 — 70,813
(Credited)/charged to
the income statement (1,608) 3,171 3,057 58,712 5,138 3,500 103,970
At 31 December 2007 2,181 38,858 12,452 112,092 5,700 3,500 174,783
(Credited)/charged to
the income statement (140) (38,858) (248) 50,810 (5,700) 8,202 14,066
At 31 December 2008 2,041 — 12,204 162,902 - 11,702 188,849
Company
Advertising
expenses Accruals Loss on
not tax not tax derivative Deferred
deductible in Impairment  deductible in financial government
current year provision current year instruments grants Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2007 3,687 3,824 33,490 562 — 41,563
(Credited)/charged to
the income statement 35,171 (3,496) 42,049 5,138 — 78,862
At 31 December 2007 38,858 328 75,539 5,700 — 120,425
(Credited)/charged to
the income statement (38,858) 358 27,634 (5,700) 1,800 (14,766)
At 31 December 2008 — 686 103,173 — 1,800 105,659
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23 Deferred income tax — Group and Company (continued)

(ii) Deferred tax liabilities

Group
Gain on Gain on
Fair value AFS derivative
adjustment on financial financial Convertible
depreciation assets instruments bonds Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2007 16,448 — — — 16,448
Credited to the income statement (2,819) — — — (2,819)
Charged to equity — 3,406 — — 3,406
At 31 December 2007 13,629 3,406 — — 17,035
(Credited)/charged to
the income statement (860) — 441 (4,471) (4,890)
(Credited)/charged to equity — (2,535) — 97,426 94,891
At 31 December 2008 12,769 871 441 92,955 107,036
Company
Gain on Gain on
AFS derivative
financial financial Convertible
assets instruments bonds Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2007 — — — —
Charged to equity 1,828 — — 1,828
At 31 December 2007 1,828 — — 1,828
(Credited)/charged to the income statement — 441 (4,471) (4,030)
(Credited)/charged to equity (1,361) — 97,426 96,065
At 31 December 2008 467 441 92,955 93,863
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23 Deferred income tax — Group and Company (continued)

As at 31 December 2008, deferred tax assets were mainly recognised for temporary differences arising from fair value
adjustments made on depreciation of fixed assets acquired in business combinations, impairment loss provision against fixed
assets and financial assets, and certain promotion expenses and accrual of expenses not allowed for current year tax deduction
claims, to the extent that realisation of such tax benefits through future taxable profits is probable.

The Group had unrecognised deferred tax assets aggregated to approximately RMB220,685,000 (2007: RMB253,496,000) as at 31
December 2008, mainly attributable to accumulated tax losses of certain subsidiaries of approximately RMB1,015,898,000 (2007:
RMBL1,013,983,000), which expires in the period from 2009 to 2013, fair value adjustments made on depreciation of fixed assets
of approximately RMB25,219,000 (2007: RMB29,038,000), provision for realisation losses and impairment losses of receivable
balances, inventories and fixed assets of approximately RMB260,127,000 (2007: RMB224,935,000). Deferred tax assets had not
been recognised due to the fact that there is no certainty of their respective realisation of these tax benefits through available
future taxable profits of the subsidiaries concerned.

24 Deferred government grants

Deferred government grants mainly represented subsidy received from local governments for capital expenditures incurred by the
Company and certain subsidiaries of the Group for their new production facilities.

25 Trade payables

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade payables 1,208,379 1,080,803 356,985 188,918
The aging analysis of trade payables (including amounts due to related parties) is as follows:
Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Less than 1 year 1,184,724 1,057,195 354,932 186,723
1 to less than 2 years 5,357 7,379 254 417
2 to less than 3 years 4,609 8,891 44 632
Over 3 years 13,689 7,338 1,755 1,146
1,208,379 1,080,803 356,985 188,918
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26 Bills payable

All bills payable balances of the Group as at 31 December 2008 are with the maturity of less than six months. Approximately
RMB8,016,000 (2007: RMB16,116,000) of bank deposits of the Group denominated in Renminbi had been pledged for the
issuance of these bills, and approximately RMB26,530,000 of the bills issued by the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2008 (2007:
RMB19,396,000) were guaranteed by the Company. The directors are of view that the carrying amount of the bill payable as at
year end approximated to their fair value.

27 Accruals and other payables

The analysis of accruals and other payables (including amounts due to related parties) by nature is as follows:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Accruals for marketing and advertising expenses 723,061 532,727 325,886 272,174
Guarantee deposits for recycled bottles 587,242 525,144 44,309 44,687
Accrued payroll and other staff costs 294,865 165,743 74,860 28,266
Payable to vendors of construction
in progress and fixed assets 223,188 241,453 20,225 28,459
VAT and other duties and taxes 218,727 236,991 58,983 65,318
Others 343,727 470,239 187,050 133,798
2,390,810 2,172,297 711,313 572,702
28 Deposits and advance from customers
Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Deposits and advance from customers 340,759 482,882 152,944 374,158

The aging analysis of deposits and advance from customers (including amounts due to related parties) is as follows:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Less than 1 year 331,437 474,676 149,745 371,990
1 to less than 2 years 1,269 682 1,094 85
2 to less than 3 years 833 643 57 549
Over 3 years 7,220 6,881 2,048 1,534
340,759 482,882 152,944 374,158
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29 Other gains — net

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000

Derivative instruments:
— foreign exchange forward contracts not qualified for hedge accounting 24,563 (19,052)
— realised loss on foreign exchange forward contracts (25,781) (3,905)
Interest income 30,051 24,224
Government grants (i) 137,936 96,202
166,769 97,469

(i)  In connection with the acquisitions of certain subsidiaries of the Group in prior years, the Group entered into various
agreements with the relevant municipal governments that these subsidiaries could enjoy certain financial incentives granted
by the governments, mainly including financial subsidies determined with reference to the amounts of taxes paid by these
subsidiaries.

30 Other operating loss — net

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000

Impairment provision against property, plant and
equipment (“PP&E”) (Note 7(a)) 162,467 141,008
Gain on disposal of PP&E 18,721 (1,137)
Disposal of sundry materials and others (63,305) (76,776)
117,883 63,095

31 Expenses by nature

Expenses included in cost of goods sold, selling and marketing costs and administrative expenses are analysed as follows:

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress (155,081) (55,040)
Raw materials and consumables used 7,685,126 6,299,824
Employee benefit expenses (Note 32) 1,667,857 1,269,392
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges (Notes 6, 7 and 8) 735,622 669,215
Transportation expenses 583,004 464,261
Advertising costs 514,651 525,327
Auditors’ remuneration 6,930 6,930
Utilities 677,802 383,890
Other expenses 2,935,580 2,993,161
Total cost of sales, distribution costs and administrative expenses 14,651,491 12,556,960
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32 Employee benefit expenses

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Wages and salaries 1,143,451 964,857
Social security costs 164,329 94,242
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 145,334 110,646
Staff employment medical benefits 5,419 11,074
Termination benefits 101,252 —
Others 108,072 88,573
1,667,857 1,269,392
(@) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 December 2008 is set out below:
Social
Other security

Name of directors Fees emoluments Salary contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Mr. Li Guirong** — — 595 9 604
Mr. Jin Zhiguo — — 1,109 29 1,138
Mr. Sun Mingho — — 764 29 78
Mr. Sun Yuguo — — 546 29 515
Mr. Liu Yingdi — — 536 29 565
Mr. Wang Fan* = == 398 22 420
Mr. Mark F Schumm 30 — — = 30
Mr. Stephen J Burrows 30 — — = 30
Mr. Chu Zhengang** 40 — — — 40
Mr. Fu Yang 80 — — — 80
Ms. Li Yan 80 — — — 80
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok 80 — — — 80
Ms. Wang shuwen* 40 — — — 40
380 — 3,948 147 4,475

* Appointed on 10 June 2008
il Resigned on 10 June 2008
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32 Employee benefit expenses (continued)

@

(b)

Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 December 2007 is set out below:

Social

Other security
Name of directors Fees emoluments Salary contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Mr. Li Guirong — — 542 16 558
Mr. Jin Zhiguo — — 542 28 570
Mr. Liu Yingdi — — 415 28 443
Mr. Sun Mingbo — — 371 28 399
Mr. Sun Yuguo — — 361 28 389
Mr. Stephen J Burrows 30 — — — 30
Mr. Mark F Schumm 30 — — — 30
Mr. Chu Zhengang 80 — — — 80
Mr. Fu Yang 80 — — = 80
Ms. Li Yan 80 — — — 80
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok 80 — — — 80
380 — 2,231 128 2,739

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above.
two) individuals during the year are as follows:

Group for the year included two (2007: three) directors

The emoluments payables to the remaining three (2007:

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Basic salaries and allowances 2,188 878
Social security contributions 78 45
2,266 923

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2008 2007
Emolument bands (in HK dollar)
Below HK$1,000,000 2 2
Above HK$1,000,000 1 —
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32 Employee benefit expenses (continued)
(c)  Supervisory committee members’ emoluments

The emoluments of the seven (2007: six) existing and former committee members are as follows:

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Basic salaries and allowances 664 383
Social security contributions 89 56
753 439
33 Finance costs — net
2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Interest expense:
— Bank borrowings 44,558 39,426
— Convertible bond 53,126 —
Net foreign exchange translation gains (26,973) (24,417)
Finance costs 70,711 15,009
34 Taxation
(@) Income tax expense
2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Current income tax
— Hong Kong profits tax (i) 5,258 5,456
— PRC corporate income tax (ii) 388,015 515,145
Deferred income tax (Note 23) (18,956) (106,789)
374,317 413,812

(i)  Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2007: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the
year.
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34 Taxation (Continued)

@

Income tax expense (Continued)

(i)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

CIT is provided on the estimated assessable income of the year calculated in accordance with the relevant regulations
of the PRC after considering all the available tax benefits from refunds and allowances.

On 16 March 2007, the 10th National Peoples Congress of PRC approved the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (“CIT
Law™), being effective on 1 January 2008. Applicable income tax rate of entities within the Group is subject to 25%
from 1 January 2008 except that the lower preferential tax rates enjoyed by certain enterprises shall gradually be
increased to the statutory tax rate of 25% within 5 years from 1 January 2008.

Tax concessions and holidays entitled by the Group:

In accordance with an approval document dated 18th April 1994 issued by the State Administration for Taxation
(“SAT”) of the PRC, net profit earned by the Company was subject to CIT at 15%, which was effective from the
date of establishment of the Company and until there is further changes of the relevant laws and regulations. The
Company also received a confirmation from the Finance Bureau of Qingdao on 23 March 1997 that this preferential
tax treatment would not be terminated until further notice.

On 5 July 2007, the Company became aware of a notice which was issued by SAT in June 2007 (the “Notice”)
regarding the preferential tax treatment granted to nine state-owned enterprises listed on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited in 1993 (including the Company). According to the Notice, the relevant local tax authorities were
required to immediately rectify the expired preferential tax treatments adopted by the Company and take appropriate
action on the differences of income taxes collected in prior years arising therefore in accordance with the applicable
rules and provisions under the promulgated Law on Tax Collection and Administration of the PRC.

On 15 April 2008, the Company was informed by the governing local tax bureau that the applicable CIT rate for the
year ended 31 December 2007 was adjusted from 15% to 33%. The PRC CIT for the year ended 31 December 2007 of
the Company was hence provided at 33% in the financial statements of the Company and the Group. The Company
has not been notified by any tax authorities regarding the exposure of prior years. The directors are of the view that
the final outcome cannot be reliably estimated and, therefore, no provision for potential CIT exposure in prior years
had been made in the financial statements.

Huanan Sales Company, Huanan Holding Company, Shenzhen Asahi, Dongnan Sales Company and Xiamen Company
were established in Shenzhen and Xiamen Special Economic Zones for the PRC where they conduct their operations
and they were subject to CIT rate at a lower preferential tax rate of 15% in prior years. Under the CIT Law, the CIT
rate applicable to these subsidiaries will be gradually increased to 25% in a 5-year period from 2008 to 2012 and the
applicable CIT rate in this year for them is 18%.
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34 Taxation (Continued)
(@ Income tax expense (Continued)
(ii)  PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) (Continued)

Xiamen Company, Songjiang Company, Changsha Company, Yulin Company, Five Star Company, Three Ring
Company, Fuzhou Company and Nanning Company were approved as enterprises with foreign investment and
therefore, they are exempt from CIT for two years starting from the first year of profit-marking after offsetting
prior year tax losses, followed by a 50% reduction for the next three consecutive years thereafter. 2008 is the fifth
profitable year of Xiamen Company, the third profitable year of Songjiang Company, the second profitable year of
Changsha Company and Fuzhou Company and the first profitable year of Yulin Company. Accordingly, CIT expenses
for Xiamen Company was provided at a reduced rate of 9% based on the CIT rate of 18%, CIT expenses for Songjiang
Company was provided at a reduced rate of 12.5% based on the CIT rate of 25%. While Changsha Company, Fuzhou
Company and Yulin Company were exempt from the income tax for the current year. Other subsidiaries described
above had not yet reached their first year of profit-marking after offsetting prior year tax losses brought forward.
According to CIT Law and related regulations, those which have not enjoyed preferential taxation owing to non-profit
will have its preferential period effective from the year 2008.

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted
average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Profit before tax 1,108,089 992,580

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits
in the respective countries 248,968 187,934
Tax effects of:

Effect of change in applicable tax rate due to the New CIT Law — (7,382)
Income not subject to tax (13,223) (25,525)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 38,645 37,629
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (42,273) (19,323)
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax

assets was recognised in current year 142,200 240,479
Tax charge 374,317 413,812
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34 Taxation (Continued)

@

(b)

©

(d)

Income tax expense (Continued)
(ii)  PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) (Continued)

The income tax charged/(credited) to equity during the year is as follows:

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax:
Convertible bond equity component (Note 21(b)) (4,471) —

Value-added tax (“VAT”)

According to “the People’s Republic of China Value-added Tax Temporary Regulations” (“VAT Regulations™), the Group is
subject to output VAT calculated at 17% of the domestic sales value of tangible goods. In addition, it is subject to a refund
of 13% on its export sales of products based on an “exempt, credit, refund” policy enacted. The Group also pays input VAT
on its purchases of raw materials and auxiliary materials which is deductible against output VAT on its sales in order to
arrive at the net VAT amount payable to the PRC government.

Consumption tax

Beers production, manufacturing consignment and beer product importation activities undertaken by the Group are subject
to consumption tax in the PRC. For beer with an ex-factory price (including packaging materials and related deposits)
of RMB3,000 or above per ton, the consumption tax is RMB250 per ton. For all other beer sold below that price, the
consumption tax is levied at RMB220 per ton.

Withholding Tax

According to Circular Guoshuihan [2008] No. 897 “Notice on the issue about withholding Corporate Income Tax on the
dividends paid by Chinese resident enterprises to overseas non-resident enterprises H-share holders” issued by State
Administration of Taxation on 6 November 2008, where a Chinese resident enterprise pays dividends for the year of 2008
or any year thereafter to its H-share holders which are overseas non-resident enterprises, it shall withhold the corporate
income tax on the basis of 10% of the dividends. In accordance with this circular, the Company would withhold the
corporate income tax with tax rate of 10% when it pays dividends for the year of 2008 or any year thereafter.
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35 Earnings per share — basic and diluted

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Year ended 31 December

2008 2007
Profit attributable to share holders of the Company (RMB’000) 699,554 538,911
Number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 1,308,219 1,308,219
Basic earnings per share (RMB per share) 0.535 0.412

As mentioned in Note 21(b), the Company issued convertible bonds with attached warrants subscription rights. Though the
contingently issuable shares of the Company due to the exercise of the warrants subscription rights by the bonds holders may
potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future, the exercise price of those rights is higher than the average share price of
the Company for the period and therefore, they were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share for the period.

The diluted earnings per share information was the same as basic for 2008 and 2007 as there were no dilutive potential ordinary
shares as of 31 December 2008 and 2007.

36 Dividends

Year ended 31 December

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Proposed final dividend of RMB0.25 (2007: RMBO0.22) per share 327,055 287,808

The dividends paid during the year ended 31 December 2008 were final dividends of 2007 at RMB287,808,000 (RMBO0.22 per
share) (2007: final dividend for 2006 at RMB287,808,000) (RMBO0.22 per share). At the board of directors meeting held on 8
April 2009, the directors proposed a final dividend of RMB0.22 and a final special dividend of RMBO0.03 in respect of 2008 per
share, amounting to an aggregate amount of RMB327,055,000. This proposed dividend will be approved at the Annual General
Meeting and shown as appropriations in the year ending 31 December 2008. These financial statements do no reflect this
dividend payable.
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37 Cash generated from operations

Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash inflow from operation

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Profit before income tax for the year 1,108,089 992,580
Adjustment for:
— Share of gain from associates (23) (283)
— Income from wavier of payable balances (2,028) —
— Interest income (Note 29) (30,051) (24,224)
— Net exchange gains (Note 33) (26,973) (24,417)
— Depreciation (Note 7) 523,559 505,187
— Loss/(gain) on disposal of PP&E 11,121 (11,494)
— Impairment loss on PP&E (Note 7) 162,468 141,008
— Amortisation of intangible assets and leasehold land (Note 6, 8) 32,971 23,020
— Fair value losses/(gain) on derivative financial instruments (Note 29) (1,218) 22,957
— Interest expenses (Note 33) 97,684 39,426
1,875,599 1,663,760
Changes in working capital (excluding the effects of
acquisition and exchange differences on consolidation)
— Inventories (556,913) (569,206)
— Trade receivables 12,746 6,981
— Bills receivable 28,239 7,685
— Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 484,775 (660,939)
— Trade payables 127,576 286,128
— Accruals and other payables 300,153 356,171
— Bills payable (60,285) (42,849)
— Deposits and advance from customers (142,123) 291,220
— Taxes payable (18,264) 55,852
— Pledged bank deposits 7,800 (742)
Cash generated from operations 2,059,303 1,394,061
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37 Cash generated from operations (continued)

In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment comprise:

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net book value (Note 7) 17,866 32,927
(Loss)/profit on disposal of PP&E (11,121) 1,137
Proceeds from disposal of PP&E 6,745 34,064

38 Contingencies

(@ Group and Company

As described in Note 34(a)(ii), the directors are of the view that the potential income tax liabilities prior to 2007 arising
from the cancellation of the previous preferential tax concessions could not be reliably estimated and therefore, no

provision was made in these financial statements.

(b) Group

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had provided guarantee of RMB20,000,000 in favor of an associate of the Group for its

bank loans.

39 Commitments

(@) Capital and other commitments

The Group’s and the Company’s commitments is primarily related to construction of fixed assets, acquisition of
subsidiaries and other activities which were contracted but not provided for in the financial statements. Details are as

follows:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1,355,272 1,853,617 883,164 393,146

Note: These commitments mainly relate to construction of new breweries and increase in production capacity as well as for raw materials

purchase.
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39 Commitments (continued)
(b) Operating lease

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases
of land and buildings as follows:

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Not later than one year 712 23

40 Related party transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other company or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if

they are subject to common control or common significant influence.

The following is a list of the related parties as at 31 December 2008:

TB Group Company Shareholder of the Company

InBev S.A. Shareholder of the Company

Anheuser-Busch Company, Inc. (“A-B Company”) Former shareholder of the Company

Tsingtao Brewery Real Estate Company Same directors and shareholder with the Company

Construction Company (i) Same directors and shareholder with the Company

Tsingtao Brewery Guangzhou Sales Company Associate

Tsingtao Brewery Beijing Sales Company Associate

Liaoning Shenging Associate

Asahi Beverage Associate

Tsingtao Brewery Import Export S.A.R.L Associate

Zhaoshang Logistics Associate

Equipment Manufacture Jointly controlled entity

(i) In March 2008, Construction Company became a subsidiary of the Company’s subsidiary and ceased to be a related party of the Group
since then.
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40 Related party transactions (continued)

(@ The following major transactions were carried out with related parties:

2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000
Purchases from related companies
— Associates 649 1,296
Sales to related companies
— Associates 350,108 268,510
— Cultural Communication Company — 2,873
350,108 271,383
Construction services provided to the Group
— Associates 4,555 —
— Construction Company — 43,336
4,555 43,336
Logistics services provided to the Group (including paid on behalf)
— Associates 289,624 280,509
Guarantee provided in favour of the an associate of the Group
— Asahi Beverage 20,000 22,000
Guarantee provided for the Group’s bank loans
— TB Group Company 2,000 2,000
Interest paid to
— TB Group Company 3,209 3,520
Purchase of a subsidiary from its substantial shareholder
— TB Group Company 2,490 5,290
Purchase of minority interest from its substantial shareholder
— TB Group Company 95,050 —

All the above transactions with related parties were carried out based on terms agreed between the Group and the related
companies.
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40 Related party transactions (continued)

(b)

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had the following significant balances maintained with related parties:

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Included in
Amount due from subsidiaries — — 262,890 237,434
Trade receivable and other
long-term assets accounts
— Associates 15,215 30,413 15,215 30,413
Loans to subsidiaries (i) — — 1,218,383 2,704,878
Deposits, prepayment and other receivables
— Associates 6,360 11,275 — 969
Trade payables
— Associates 47 50 — —
— Subsidiaries — — 116,822 50,676
Other payables and long-term payables
— Subsidiaries — — 74,747 80,953
— TB Group Company 20,307 — 307 —
— A-B Company (ii) 107,890 109,569 — —
— Associates 5,403 18,088 5,403 515
— Other related parties — 31,657 — 14,180
Sales deposits
— Subsidiaries — — 3,395 —
— Associates 2,202 6,156 2,202 6,156
Short-term loans from
— TB Group Company 55,000 70,000 — —

Except for those mentioned in notes (i) and (ii) below and except for the short-term loans, the Group’s current balances

maintained with related parties are all unsecured, non-interest bearing and with no fixed repayment terms.

(i) As at 31 December 2008, the Company had extended certain advances and loans, amounting to approximately RMB1,218,383,000

(2007: RMB2,704,878,000) to subsidiaries through entrusted loan arrangement made with banks in the PRC (See Note 9).

(ii) In October 2003, a subsidiary of the Company, Hong Kong Company entered into a loan agreement with A-B Company that
Hong Kong Company borrowed a loan of USD$15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB107,890,000 (the “Loan”) from A-B
Company. The Loan is interest-bearing at 1% per annum, unsecured and repayable within 5 years. During the year, the loan expired
on 29 December and was extended for the period from 19 December 2008 to 18 December 2009 with a 4.5% interest bearing rate

per annum. The Company has undertaken to guarantee the repayment of the Loan.
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40 Related party transactions (continued)

©

Key management compensation

Year ended 31 December

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Basic salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind 8,355 5,302
Retirement fund contributions 501 485
8,856 5,787

Key management personnel are those persons, in total 16 (2007: 15) persons, having authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, including directors and other senior management personnel.

41 Subsequent events

Saved as disclosed in other notes to the financial statements, the Company and the Group had the following significant
subsequent events after 31 December 2008:

@

(b)

Equity transactions

On 23 January 2009, InBev S.A. entered an agreement with Asahi Breweries, Ltd.( “Asahi Breweries”) to sell its H share
interest of the Company amounted to 19.99% to Asahi Breweries through its fully-owned subsidiary. After the transfer,
InBev S.A. and Asahi Breweries will hold approximately 7.01% and 19.9% H share of the Company respectively. The
transactions is still in the approval process by the ministry of Commerce of the People’s Republic of China and other
related governmental administrants authorities.

Associates

According to the Board Resolutions passed on 28 October 2008, the Company entered an agreement with Yantai Brewery
Brewery Co., Ltd (“Yantai Brewery Group”) and Asahi-Itochu Brewery Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of Asahi Group, on 9
November 2008 to acquire 37% share of interest of Yantai Brewery (Asahi) Co., Ltd (Yantai Asahi) from Yantai Brewery
Brewery and 2% share of interest from Asahi Group with a total consideration of RMB214,500,000. The related procedures
have been completed in March 2009 and after the completion, Yantai Asahi has become a 39% owned associate of the
Company.

Acquisition of minority interest of a subsidiary

According to the Board Resolutions passed on 21 April 2008, Hong Kong Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered an agreement with Carlsberg Brewery (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd (“Carlsberg Hong Kong”) on 9 September
2008, to acquire 25% share of minority interest of Songjiang Company with a total consideration of RMB51,250,000. The
related procedures have been completed in March 2009 and after the completion, Songjiang Company became a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group.
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Reconciliation of differences between PRC GAAP and HKFRS

The Group has prepared a separate set of financial information for the year ended 31 December 2008 in accordance with
“Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (2006)” and relevant regulations (“PRC GAAP”) for shareholders of A shares of

the Company.

Differences between PRC GAAP and HKFRS give rise to minor differences in the reported balances of assets, liabilities and net
profit of the Group. The financial effects of the differences between PRC GAAP and HKFRS are summarised and explained in

the following table:

Impact on the consolidated net assets:

As at 31 December

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net assets as per accounts prepared under PRC GAAP 6,082,238 5,509,185

HKFRS adjustments — —
Net assets attributable to the Company’s shareholders

as per financial statements prepared under HKFRS 6,082,238 5,509,185

Impact on the consolidated net profit:

Year ended 31 December

2008 2007

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Company under PRC GAAP 699,554 558,142

HKFRS adjustments:

Additional depreciation charges arising from differences in the accounting

of assets valuation under PRC GAAP and HKFRS — (18,434)

Others — (797)

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company under HKFRS 699,554 538,911
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English Name: Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited
Legal Representative: JIN Zhi Guo

Secretary to the Board: ZHANG Xue Ju
Representative for Securities Affairs: Zhang Rui Xiang
Address: Secretaries’ Office to the Board

of Directors

Room 603

Tsingtao Beer Tower

May Fourth Square

Hong Kong Road Central, Qingdao

Postal Code: 266071

Tel: 86-532-85713831

Fax: 86-532-85713240

E-mail: secretary@tsingtao.com.cn

Registered Address: No. 56, Dengzhou Road,
Qingdao, Shandong Province
Business Address:  Tsingtao Beer Tower, May Fourth Square
Hong Kong Road Central, Qingdao
Shandong Province

Postal Code: 266071
Company Website: www.tsingtao.com.cn
E-mail: info@tsingtao.com.cn

Stock Exchanges on which the Company’s shares are listed:

A share: Shanghai Stock Exchange

Stock Name: ¥ & M i

Stock Code: 600600

H share: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Name: TSINGTAO BREW

Stock Code: 0168

Custodian of unlisted shares:
China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation
Limited, Shanghai Branch

Auditors
(1) PricewaterhouseCoopers at 22/F Prince’s Building,
Central, Hong Kong

(2) PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian Certified
Public Accountants Limited Company at 11/F
PricewaterhouseCoopers Center, 202 Hu Bin Road,
Shanghai

Legal advisers:
(1)  Woo Kwan Lee & Lo at 26th Floor, Jardine House, 1
Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong

(2) Haiwen & Partners at 21st Floor, Beijing Silver
Tower, No. 2, Dong San Huan North Road,
Chaoyang District, Beijing
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